






THE SMALL BUSINESS CORPORATION

Small Business Corporation (SBCorp) is the result of the 
merger between the Small Business Guarantee and Finance 
Corporation (SBGFC) and the Guarantee Fund for SMEs 
(GFSME), under Executive Order No. 98 issued in November 
2001. SB Corp’s focus is to provide micro, small and medium 
enterprises the much needed access to finance to help 
them grow their businesses. It has several programs for 
the MSME market: wholesale lending to smaller financial 
institutions, cooperatives and foundations and   retail or 
direct lending to micro, small and medium enterprises 
(MSMEs).

PROGRAMS AND PROGRAM BENEFICIARIES

  
CORPORATE FUNDED PROGRAMS  
Using its own corporate funds, SBCorp is engaged in: 
a) Regular Retail Lending for duly registered MSMEs and; 
b) Venture Capital for selected start-up MSMEs. 

Program: Regular Retail Lending  
Priority Beneficiaries: Targeted Micro and Small Enterprise 
Markets

Program: Venture Capital Program  
Priority Beneficiaries: Selected Start-up MSMES thru 
Partner State Universities and Colleges 

NATIONAL GOVERNMENT- SUPPORTED PROGRAMS 
Program: Enterprise Rehabilitation Financing                 
Priority Beneficiaries: MSMEs who suffered business 
reversal from calamity. The program was initially funded by 
corporate funds when it started in January 2014. SB Corp 
allotted around P 600 million in support of MSMEs badly 
affected by Typhoon Yolanda

In response the National Government (NG) granted P200 
million credit risk subsidy to SB Corp.

Program: Pondo sa Pagbabago at Pag-asenso (P3)  
Priority Beneficiaries: Microenterprises who are 
economically active

The National Government implemented its P3 Fund for 
microenterprises (MEs) starting 2017 via a GAA allocation 
for SB Corp.

The strategic objective is to provide all MEs that are 
economically active in all 81 provinces throughout the 
country, the opportunity to access credit at more reasonable 
interest rates capped at 2.5% per month.

A portion of the  P3 fund was allocated to higher risk sectors 
such as internally displaced persons (IDPs) arising from 
war in Marawi, killed and wounded in action (KIA/WIA) 
soldiers or their families, MSMEs affected by the temporary 
closure of Boracay Island and MEs affected by earthquake 
in Batanes.

OWNERSHIP AND LEGAL STATUS

SB Corp is a government corporation created on January 24, 
1991 by virtue of Section 11 of RA No. 6977, amended on May 
6, 1997 by RA 8289, otherwise known as the Magna Carta for 
Small and Medium Enterprises. SBGFC is under the policy 
program and administrative supervision of the Small and 
Medium Enterprise Development (SMED) Council of the 
Department of Trade and Industry.





The enactment of the Magna Carta for SMEs 
(R.A. 6977) thirty one years ago in 1992 put together under 
one policy statement an extensive set of strategies for the 
development of Philippine MSMEs.  The law created the 
Small Business Corporation and mandated it to provide 
financing alternatives  for to the unfinanceable segments of 
Philippine MSMES. 

SB Corporation in the last 31 years has positioned 
itself at the forefront of  credit delivery to the riskiest sector 
of the economy –the unfinanceable enterprises. It played 
an important role of filling in the financing gaps and 
compensating for the difficulties faced by MSMES in obtaining 
financing through programs with liberalized documentary 
requirements, minimal interests and no collateral. A feat only 
SB Corporation was able to instigate as the main implementor 
of  the government’s response to the sector’s clamor for a 
financial intervention to aid them in restarting and bouncing 
back after the pandemic.

FINANCING FOR THE UNFINANCEABLE
	 True to its mandate, SB Corporation continued 
providing financing support to micro enterprises through 
the Pondo sa Pagbabago at Pag-asenso (P3) Program 
to address informal lending and veer micro entrepreneurs 
away from usurious lenders. As of 31 December 2022, the SB 
Corporation downloaded a cumulative amount of Php13.4 
billion loans to 308,092 distinct MSMEs in partnership with 
441 partner conduits.

Pondo sa Pagbabago at Pag-asenso (P3) Program  as of 31 
December 2022

Total Cumulative Releases  in PhP 13,423,065,988

MSME Borrowers 308,092

Number of Conduits 441

RISEUP (Resilient, Innovative, and Sustainable Enterprises, 
Unleash your Powers) Program
	 In light of the COVID-19 pandemic’s aftermath, SB 
Corporation has also rolled out its new flagship program 

named RISE UP (Resilient, Innovative, and Sustainable 
Enterprises, Unleash your Powers) to transition government 
response from the provision of emergency liquidity support 
(under the Bayanihan CARES Program) to the offering of 
structural support measures and broader long-term recovery 
packages. From the program’s initial launch in May 2022, the 
SB Corporation was already able to release Php739.4 million 
worth of loans to 4,009 MSMEs.

RISEUP Loan Program Status as of 31 December 2022

Program Total Amount Released 
(in PhP)

Number of 
Enterprises

RISE UP Multi-Purpose 685,675,220 3,896

RISE UP Turismo 21,713,577 89

RISE UP Tindahan 32,044,339 29

TOTAL 739,433,137 4,009

Other Programs
	 Apart from these two programs, SB Corp has also 
offered other lending facilities to support the recovery 
and rehabilitation efforts of the government. The HEROES 
(Helping the Economy Recover Thru OFW Enterprise Start-
ups) Program, which aims to help repatriated and returning 
Overseas Filipino Workers (OFWs) who want to start their 
own business, released around Php58.2 million worth of loans 
to 1,060 MSMEs. On the other hand, the Odette Enterprise 
Rehabilitation Facility (ERF) Program, which intends to 
support businesses affected by the onslaught of Typhoon 
Odette, released around Php281.2 million worth of loans to 
4,051 MSMEs. 

CORPORATE SCORECARD MILESTONES
SBCorporation’s commitment to deliver on its 

mandate is also reflected in its GCG-approved Corporate 
Scorecard.  In 2022, the Corporation was able to receive a total 
rating of 95.56% (currently subject to GCG validation) which is 
its 5th year of breaching the 90% mark.
 
	 In terms of total portfolio, the total outstanding 
balance for all the lending programs of the Corporation stood 
at P 12.34 billion. This is a marked increase of  more thanP1.0 



billion  from the previous year loan portfolio of P11.26 billion.  

The Corporation provided access to much needed 
financing for  68,754 additional/new qualified MSMEs in 
2022 who accessed both Corporate-funded and National 
Government funded programs either via wholesale or retail 
facility.

In terms of the Corporation’s objective to provide 
meaningful access to financing to the country’s MSMEs, the 
SBCorp was able to have a loan release in all provinces of the 
country. Ninety-nine percent (99%) of borrowers surveyed 
provided at least Satisfactory rating with regards to SBCorp’s 
services. 

In terms of required financial measures, SB 
Corporation was able to accomplish a Net Operating Income 
(NOI) of ₱2.0 billion by year end 2022.  Past due rate for CARES 
Portfolio stood at 37.96% while Past due rate for the rest of the 
Corporation’s Portfolio stood at 24.09%.  

The Corporation was likewise able to maintain its ISO 
9001:2015 certification for the head office, South Luzon Group,  
North Luzon Group, and  Mindanao Group.  This now leaves 
just the Visayas group as the sole regional office needing to 
secure ISO certification for 2023; thereby elevating the entire 
Corporation to the roster of ISO-certified institutions.

GOOD GOVERNANCE
	 SB Corporation is once again recognized as one of 
the Top Performing Government-Owned and Controlled 
Corporation (GOCC) in the  Corporate Governance Scorecard 
(CGS) by the Governance Commission for Government-
Owned and Controlled Corporation (GCG).

The recognition affirms SB Corporation’s continued 
adherence to best practices in terms of internationally 
accepted standards on good corporate governance. The 
Corporation was given a score of 101.04% with a rating 
equivalent of Outstanding.

	 The CGS  aims to raise the corporate governance 
standards and practices of GOCCs working towards being at 

par with ASEAN state-owned enterprises. It was developed 
using a methodology benchmarked against the Principles 
of Corporate Governance of the Organization for Economic 
Co-operation and Development (OECD) and the ASEAN 
Corporate Governance Scorecard.

	 The CGS aligns with the Performance Evaluation 
System for GOCCs and improves the transparency of GOCCs, 
especially in the areas of level of adherence to best practice 
and international standards in terms of corporate governance.

PARTNERSHIPS AND LINKAGES
To further expand its market reach, SB Corporation 

partnered with various government and private institutions.

SB Corporation signed a memorandum of 
understanding  with the Province of Cebu to extend the RISE 
UP Loan Program to qualified MSMEs under Cebu’s Enhanced 
Countryside Development Program.

To increase loan collection efficiency, SB Corporation 
partnered with the Philippines’ leading e-wallet service, 
G-CASH and the  Universal Storefront Services Corporation 
(USSC). 

REACH
Given that MSMEs are the drivers of economic 

growth and with their sheer number where they account for 
99.6% of registered enterprise in the country, SB Corporation’s 
strategically  located its 4 full-service area offices, desk offices 
and provincial coordinators to ensure visibility even outside 
the National Capital Region (NCR). The 4 area offices in 
Baguio, Makati, Cebu and Davao provide the hub of operations 
supporting the satellite offices strategically located in 86 
major countryside business centers. These satellite offices 
work very closely with the Department of Trade and Industry, 
particularly with the Negosyo Centers, as the mode for access 
to finance of many MSMEs.

	







OVERALL CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE AND PRACTICES

SB Corporation is fully compliant with the provisions of the Code of Corporate Governance. 
It conforms to the standards of good corporate management and the provisions of the 
Republic Act No. 6977, as amended by Republic Act No. 8289, and further amended by 
Republic Act No. 9501 otherwise known as the amended “Magna Carta for Micro, Small and 
Medium Enterprises”, as well as the Philippine laws that are of relevance in this context.

SB Corporation’s corporate governance is reflected in its organizational structure 
that defines a governance hierarchy led from the top by the Board of Directors and its 
delegated duties and responsibilities through thee six Board-level Committees namely, (1) 
the Corporate Governance Committee, (2) the Board Audit and Compliance Committee, 
(3) the Finance and Risk Oversight Committee, (4) the IT and Platformification Committee, 
(5) the Board Committee on Venture Capital Review, and (6) Strategic Communications 
and Product Innovation Oversight Committee. These six committees are ably supported 
by independent units namely Internal Audit Group, Office of the Board Secretary and 
Chief Compliance Officer, Enterprise and Risk Management Group. In addition, the 
Controllership Group and the various groups and units under the Strategy, Policy and 
Systems Sector, Financing Sector and Corporate Support Sector perform specific functions 
and/or deliverables to the said committees, as applicable. The independent units report 
directly to the Board but are administratively supervised by the President and CEO. The 
Office of the Board Secretary provides logistical support to the Small Business Corporation 
Board and Board Committees.



INSTITUTIONAL VIABILITY

As Small Business Corporation adheres to globally accepted 
governance principles and best practices, it maintains the 
Board’s independence from management such that the 
Chairman of the Board and the President and CEO are 
two distinct individuals with clearly delineated duties and 
responsibilities.

While the Chairman assumes leadership and monitors 
the Corporation’s adherence to good governance policies, 
as well as the overall performance of the Corporation; the 
President and CEO, on the other hand, directly manages 
the day-to-day operations of the Corporation and executes 
the policies and strategies approved by the Board in pursuit 
of its institutional goals and objectives.

Specifically, the President and CEO supervises the 
Corporation’s three sectors, namely: (1) Financing Sector, 
(2) Corporate Support Sector, and (3) Strategy, Policy and 
Systems Sector. There are units which report directly to the 
President and CEO, namely, Office of the Executive Vice 
President, Office of the Chief Finance Officer (Controllership 
Group), and Office of the Strategy Management. Moreover, 
there are units which are administratively supervised by the 
President and CEO, namely, Enterprise Risk Management 
Group, Internal Audit Group, and Office of the Board 
Secretary and Chief Compliance Officer.

SELECTION PROCESS FOR THE BOARD

Under Republic Act No. 10149, otherwise known as “An 
Act to Promote Financial Viability and Fiscal Discipline in 
Government-Owned and Controlled Corporations (GOCCs) 
and to Strengthen the Role of the State in its Governance 
and Management to Make Them More Responsive to the 
Needs of Public Interest and for Other Purposes” states 
that all appointive directors of GOCCs are appointed by the 
President of the Philippines from a shortlist prepared by 
the Governance Commission for GOCCs

(GCG), which include only nominees who meet the Fit and 
Proper Rule and such other qualifications which the GCG 

may determine.

As prescribed in the “Magna Carta for Micro, Small and 
Medium Enterprises” (Republic Act No. 9501), the Board of 
Directors of SB Corporation shall be composed of eleven (11) 
members, as follows:

1.	 The Secretary of Trade and Industry,
2.	 The Secretary of Finance
3.	 Nine Appointive Directors to be appointed 
by the President of the Philippines provided that 
the common stockholders shall have the right 
to recommend to the Governance Commission 
for GOCCs (GCG) 7 of 9 Appointive Directors 
in proportion to the respective common 
stockholdings to be among those included in 
the shortlist to be submitted to the President.

The President of the Philippines shall appoint the Chairman 
of the Board from among the ranks of the members of the 
Board. The President and CEO shall be elected annually by 
the members of the Board from among their ranks.

The ex-officio members of the Board of Directors may 
designate their respective alternates who shall be officials 
preferably next in rank to them, and whose acts shall be 
considered as the acts of their principals.

All members of the Board and the President and CEO of 
the SB Corporation shall be qualified by the Fit and Proper 
Rule under GCG M.C. No. 2012-05, and appointed by the 
President of the Philippines into the Governing Board, and 
which include by reference the qualifications expressly 
provided for in the SB Corporation Charter, By-Laws and/or 
Manual of Corporate Governance.

To maintain the quality of management of SB Corporation, 
the GCG, in coordination with the DTI shall, subject to the 
approval of the President of the Philippines, prescribe, pass 
upon and review the qualifications and disqualifications of 
individuals appointed as Directors and President and CEO 
of SB Corporation and shall disqualify those found unfit.

In determining whether an individual is fit and proper to 
hold the position of an Appointive Director and President 
and CEO of SB Corporation, due regard shall be given 
to one’s integrity, experience, education training and 
competence.

BOARD OVERALL RESPONSIBILITY

It shall be the responsibility of the Board to foster the long-
term success of SB Corporation and secure its sustained 
competitiveness in a manner consistent with its powers 
set out in the SB Corporation’s Charter, which the Board 
shall exercise in the best interest of the Corporation and 
its stakeholders. The Board shall decide on all corporate 
acts as a collegial body. The Board shall conduct itself with 
utmost honesty and integrity in the discharge of its duties, 
functions and responsibilities.

To ensure high standard of best practice for SB Corporation 
and its stakeholders, the Board shall:

a)	 Determine the SB Corporation’s vision, 
mission and core values to guide the carrying 
out of its objectives and business strategies;
b)	 Establish corporate objectives and draw 
up strategies for achieving them including 
the formulation of a business plan to direct 
corporate activities;
c)	 Oversee and monitor Management action 
and performance;
d)	 Ensure the adoption of sound written 
policies on all major business activities including 
the maintenance of adequate risk management 
policy;
e)	 Prescribe a clear assignment of 
responsibilities and decision-making authorities, 
incorporating a hierarchy of required approvals 
from individual employees to the Board itself;
f)	 Keep Board authority within the powers of 
SB Corporation as prescribed in its Charter, and 
in existing laws, rules and regulations;
g)	 Assess annually its performance and 
effectiveness as a body, as well as its various 



committees, the Chief Executive Officer and the 
Corporation itself;
h)	 Adopt a system of internal checks and 
balances among the Board members. The 
system shall also provide a mechanism for 
effective check and control by the Board over 
the Chief Executive Officer and key managers 
and by the latter over the line officers of the 
Corporation;
i)	 Properly discharge Board functions by 
meeting regularly;
j)	 Ensure that SB Corporation complies with 
all relevant laws, rules and regulations, company 
policies, procedures and codes of ethics and 
corporate governance;
k)	 Identify SB Corporation’s stakeholders and 
formulate a clear policy on communication or

relating with them;
l)	 Assume overall responsibility for ensuring 
adherence to corporate governance principles 
and best practices.

THE CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD

The Chairman of the Board shall preside over all meetings 
of the Board and/or of the stockholders. He/She shall have 
the powers and duties as the Board may prescribe. His/Her 
express role in the Corporation is described as follows:

1.	 The Chairman shall preside over all regular 
meetings of the Board and stockholders. He/she 
may also call special meetings of the Board at 
his/her discretion, to tackle matters requiring 
urgent Board action.
2.	 The Chairman, in consultation with the 
President/CEO and Corporate Secretary, shall 
approve the agenda for all Board meetings, 
provided, that all matters requiring Board 
Approval endorsed by a majority vote of the 
members of the appropriate Board Committees 
and of the Management Committee shall be 
automatically included in the agenda;
3.	 The Chairman, in consultation with the 

Corporate Secretary, shall ensure that complete 
and relevant information are transmitted to the 
Board within a reasonable time;
4.	 The Chairman shall perform such other 
powers and functions as the Board may 
determine consonant with his/her specific 
duties and responsibilities.

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD



LIST OF STOCKHOLDERS AND STOCKHOLDINGS
As of 31 December 2022

Notes:

a)	 GSIS, SSS, LBP, and DBP are Government Financial 

Institutions.

b)	 Par value is P100.00 per share.

c)	 Stock certificates issued in the name of  the National 

Government are in custody/safekeeping of the Bureau of 

Treasury.

d)	 Includes additional capital infusion of National 

Government pursuant to Republic Act No. 11494 otherwise 

known as the “Bayanihan to Recover as One Act”.

e)	 Buy-back by SB Corporation of the 400,000 common 

shares of PNB at its par value of P100 per share. 

* Includes stock dividends in the form of common stocks

released on 31 October 2005, 09 May 2008 and 08 April 2013.

BOARD-LEVEL COMMITTEES

Corporate Governance Committee
Membership
Chairperson:        Usec. Blesila A. Lantayona
Members:	   Robert C. Bastillo
                                Joe Jay T. Doctora
                                Elvira L. Go
                                Voltaire B. Magpayo

Duties and Responsibilities
1.	 Formulate and institutionalize the 
Corporation’s Code of Corporate Governance 
and Code of Ethics and in ensuring adherence 
to the Codes;

2.	 Review from time to time the Code of 
Corporate Governance, the Code of Ethics and 
the CGC Charter and recommend any changes 
to the Board;

3.	 Ensure attendance of Directors to corporate 
governance seminars;

4.	Determine if there is any potential conflict 
of interest by a Director and key officers, and 
institute a process for handling these situations 
in accordance with existing laws, rules and 
regulations and in line with global as well as 
ethical and other regulatory standards;

5.	 Oversee the periodic performance evaluation 
of the Board and its Committees. It shall also 
conduct an annual self-evaluation of its 
performance;

6.	Decide the manner by which the Board’s 
performance may be evaluated and propose 

and objective performance criteria approved by 
the Board. Such performance indicators shall 
address how the Board has enhanced long 
term shareholder’s value;

7.	 Review regularly the organization plan and 
structure including proposed organizational 
changes/enhancements, compensation 
package and manpower plan to ensure 
adequacy in meeting the growth need of the 
Corporation;

8.	Review and evaluate the qualifications of 
all persons nominated to positions requiring 
appointment by the Board of Directors

9.	Oversee the Corporation’s compliance 
efforts with respect to the Code of Corporate 
Governance, Code of Ethics and related laws, 
rules and regulations as well as company 
policies and procedure;

10.	 Network with other offices with the end 
view of reviewing programs designed to raise 
the culture of ethics and compliance within 
the Corporation, and corollarily, to install 
an enforcement mechanism which should 
sanction non-compliance and unethical 
behavior while rewarding the deserving ones.

The compliance functions of the Corporate Governance 
Committee (CGC) shall cover non-financial matters. 
Whenever necessary, the CGC shall jointly work with the 
Board Audit and Compliance Committee to make sure 
that governance and compliance aspects of a particular 
issue are thoroughly and adequately addressed.



BOARD AUDIT AND COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

Membership
Chairperson:         Elvira L. Go
Members:              Annie F. Candelaria

Arnulfo V. Galdo
Joe Jay T. Doctora
Avelino L. Andal

Duties and Responsibilities
Financial Statements

1.	 Review of the quarterly, half-year and 
annual financial statements focusing 
particularly on the change/s in accounting 
policies and practices, major judgment areas, 
significant adjustment resulting to audit, 
going concern assumption, compliance with 
PFRS, and compliance with tax, legal and 
Commission on Audit/BSP requirements; 
 

2.	 Receive and review reports of internal 
auditor and regulatory agencies and ensure 
that Management is taking appropriate 
corrective actions in timely manner 
in addressing control and compliance 
functions with regulatory agencies; 
 

3.	 Review interim financial reports with 
Management before filing with regulators 
and consider whether they are complete and 
consistent with the information known to 
committee members;

4 . 	Understand how Management develops 
interim f inancial  information and the 
nature and extent of internal and external 
auditor involvement;

Internal Control

1.	 Consider the effectiveness of the company’s 
internal control system;

2.	Understand the scope of internal and 
external auditor’s review of internal control 
over financial reporting and obtain reports on 
significant findings and recommendations, 
together with Management’s responses;

Internal Audit

1.	 Review with Management and the Chief 
Audit Officer the charter, plans, activities, 
staffing and organizational structure of the 
internal audit function;

2.	Ensure the independence of the internal 
audit function;

3.	Review the effectiveness of the internal audit 
function, including compliance with sound

internal auditing standards such as the Institute 
of Internal Auditors’ International Standards for 
the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing 
and other supplemental standards issued by 
regulatory authorities/government agencies, as 
well as with relevant code of ethics;

4.	Review discoveries of fraud and violations of 
laws and regulations as raised by the internal 
audit function;

5.  Ensure there are no unjustified restrictions 
or limitations, and review and concur in the 
appointment, replacement, or dismissal of the 
chief audit officer;

Corporate Compliance

1.	 Oversee the corporate compliance program, 
including policies and practices designed to 
ensure the organization’s compliance with 
all applicable legal, regulatory and ethical 
requirements;

2.	Recommend approval of the annual corporate 
compliance plan and review processes and 
procedures for reporting concerns by officers, 
employees and others;

3.	Recommend organizational integrity 
guidelines and a Code of Conduct. Review and 
reassess the guidelines and Code of Conduct;

4.	Review resources for corporate compliance 
with the compliance officer and CEO to ensure 
that sufficient resources are provided;

5.	Review and evaluate findings and 
recommendations from completed compliance 
activities and audits, including management 
responses and action plans;

6.	Report to the Board of Directors at least 
annually on the corporate compliance program.

FINANCE AND RISK OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE

Membership
Chairperson:         Arnulfo V. Galdo
Members:              Robert C. Bastillo

Avelino L. Andal
Annie F. Candelaria
Voltaire B. Magpayo



Duties and Responsibilities

1. Identify and evaluate exposures;

2. Develop risk management strategies;

3. Implement the Risk Management Plan;

4. Review and revise the plan as needed;

5. The committee shall meet with, request/
gather (or compel submission, in proper 
cases), receive and evaluate information from 
Management and appropriate sources and act 
or approve proposals on items relating to the 
following risks: a) credit risk, b) operational risk, 
c) compliance risk, d) market risk, e) liquidity 
and solvency risks.

IT & PLATFORMIFICATION COMMITTEE

Membership
Chairperson:          Voltaire B. Magpayo
Members:               Robert C. Bastillo

Joe Jay T. Doctora
Jacob S. Vasquez
Elvira L. Go

Duties and Responsibilities

1. Evaluate the effectiveness of IT governance 
structure to ensure adequate board control 
over the decisions, directions and performance 
of technology and information management;

2. Set the strategic directions for technology 
and information management and ensure that
these are aligned with and will sustain the 
corporate vision and mission;

LOANS AND VENTURE CAPITAL REVIEW 
COMMITTEE
(FORMERLY VENTURE AND CAPITAL REVIEW COMMITTEE)

Membership
Chairperson:       Joe Jay T. Doctora
Members:            Robert C. Bastillo

Elvira L. Go
Voltaire B. Magpayo
Jacob S. Vasquez

3. Review and monitor the implementation of 
Information Security Program to ensure the
confidentiality, integrity, and availability of SB 
Corporation’s information resources;

4. Evaluate Information Management and IT 
organizational structure, investment, use and
allocation practices and commitment of 
resources in terms of time, personnel and 
equipment to ensure that they support the 
organization’s strategies and objectives;

5. Evaluate risk management practices to 
ensure that the organization’s IT-related risks 
are properly managed;

6. Evaluate management practices to ensure 
compliance with the organization’s IT strategy,
policies, standards and procedures;

7. Review the Technology and Information 
Management policies, standards, procedures 
and processes for their development, approval, 
implementation and maintenance to ensure 
that they support the IT strategy and comply 
with regulatory and legal requirements.

Duties and Responsibilities

1. Review and endorse to the Board for approval 
policies and procedures relating to the
implementation of the Venture Capital Program 
pursuant to RA 6977, as amended by RA 8289
and 9501;

2. Review and endorse to the Board for approval 
accounts/projects for enrolment under the VC
Program.

3. Review, deliberate and endorse to the Board 
all financing recommendations (loans and 
equity investments) and matters related to loan 
and/or asset recovery submitted by the
Management, specifically the following:

(a) Retail loans granting above P5.0 million;

(b) Wholesale loans granting above P30.0 
million for first time borrower Financial
Institutions;

(c) Wholesale loans granting above P60.0 
million for credit renewals of Financial 
Institutions;

(d) Real and Other Properties Acquired (ROPA) 
sales more than P3.0 million; and

(e) Policy deviations relating to credit granting 
and to loan/asset recovery.

Note: Items 1 and 2 are the responsibilities of the 
Committee as listed in its Charter per Board Resolution 
No. 2018-11-2656. Per Board Resolution No. 2022-07-3272, 
the Committee has been renamed to Loans and Venture 
Capital Review Committee, with expanded functions as 
listed in item 3.



STRATEGIC COMMUNICATIONS AND PRODUCT 
INNOVATION OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE
(FORMERLY STRATEGIC COMMUNICATIONS OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE)

Membership
Chairperson:          Elvira L. Go
Members:               Robert C. Bastillo

Jacob S. Vasquez

Duties and Responsibilities
This is formerly an Ad Hoc Committee per Board 
Resolution No. 2022-02-3219 but was expanded as a 
regular Board Committee per Board Resolution No. 
2022-07-3273.

1. Provide the overall strategic directions 
and goals of the communications work of 
SB Corporation, particularly as it relates to 
engagement with external stakeholders 
such as client-borrowers, policy makers and 
lawmakers, other financing institutions, the 
media, organized stakeholder sectors and 
others;

2. Review the Strategic Communications 
Framework of the Small Business Corporation 
and monitor the implementation of the 
activities included therein;

3. Assist the communications department in 
engaging key stakeholders such as policy and
lawmakers, media and organized stakeholders 
as needed;

4. Assess the overall achievement by the SB 
Corporation of its strategic communications 
goals and the impact these have on 
stakeholders.

5. In addition to Strategic Communication concerns, 
review, deliberate and endorse to the Board all 
broad-stroke Product Innovation recommendations 
of the Management Committee.

BOARD ATTENDANCE
For the CY 2022





CHANGES IN THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Mr. Avelino L. Andal was appointed as a Board Member on 
09 March 2022, vice Mr. Andres C. Sarmiento (former LBP 
representative).

Mr. Robert C. Bastillo was appointed as a Board Member on 
12 September 2022, vice Ms. Ma. Luna
E. Cacanando. He was elected as President and CEO of 
Small Business Corporation on 13 October 2022.

ANNUAL PERFORMANCE OF THE BOARD

An annual performance evaluation of all members of 
the Board shall be conducted using the Performance 
Evaluation for Directors (PED) prescribed by GCG (GCG 
M.C. 2014-13). The PED shall cover All Appointive Directors 
as the basis for the determination of whether they shall be 
recommended for reappointment. It shall also cover the Ex-
Officio Directors or their Alternates for purposes of being 
able to report to the President the performance of such Ex-
Officio Directors, as well as to allow the GCG to develop and 
evolve a good governance system for Ex-Officio Directors in 

the GOCC Sector.

Another performance tool and in compliance with 
the requirements of BSP and GCG, the Performance 
Scorecard of SB Corporation’s Governing Board as well as 
for Board-level Committees were made to measure three 
Key Performance Indicators: Meetings and Participation, 
Transparency, and Quality of Governance for Board; and 
Meetings and Participation, Transparency and Performance 
of Mandate for Board-level Committees.

The PED and Performance Scorecards are necessary 
tools in enhancing the Board’s professionalism and as a 
useful incentive for Board Members to devote sufficient 
time and effort to their duties. The evaluation shall also 
be instrumental in developing effective and appropriate 
induction and training programs for new and existing 
members of the Board.

ORIENTATION AND EDUCATION PROGRAM

The Corporate Board Secretary is responsible to orient all 
Members of the Board upon their appointment by providing 

the pertinent materials related to SB Corporation namely: 
SB Corporation’s Charter (RA 6977, as amended by RA 8289 
and further amended by RA 9501), SB Corporation’s Mission, 
Vision, Core Values and Strategic Map, Organization Chart, 
Manual of Corporate Governance, Directors and Officers 
Liability Insurance, and Annual Report containing the latest 
Financial Statements. The Corporate Board Secretary also 
briefs the Director on the Corporation’s programs, services 
and operations, as well as other matters that may be 
requested by the Director.

As part of the continuing education for all Directors of the 
Corporation, the Office of the Board Secretary regularly 
apprises the Governing Board of all new applicable laws, 
rules and regulations. They are also informed of relevant 
upcoming courses, trainings and seminars such as the 
training on AMLA and those being conducted by the 
Institute of Corporate Directors. The trainings and seminars 
attended by the Directors are arranged and funded by the 
Corporation.

RETIREMENT AGE AND SUCCESSION POLICY

Board of Directors:

Retirement Age is not applicable to appointive directors 
considering that their position is based on appointment.

The term of office of each Appointive Director shall be for 
one (1) year, unless sooner removed for cause: Provided, 
however, That the Appointive Director shall continue to 
hold office until the successor is appointed. An Appointive 
Director may be nominated by the GCG for reappointment 
by the President of the Philippines only if one obtains a 
performance score of above average or its equivalent or 
higher in the immediately preceding year of tenure as 
Appointive Director based on the performance criteria for 
Appointive Directors.

Appointment to any vacancy shall be only for the unexpired 
term of the predecessor. The appointment of a director to 
fill such vacancy shall be in accordance with the manner 
provided in Section 15 of R.A. 10149.



Senior Management:

Under Section 4.2, Republic Act No. 7641, the compulsory 
retirement age is 65 years old.

SB Corporation approved a sustainable strategy in 
leadership continuity to ensure a smooth transition in 
leadership and all critical positions in case of anticipated or 
even unexpected personnel movement/loss.

RENUMERATION POLICY

Board of Directors

The Board of Directors is entitled to the following 
compensation: (a) Per diems for Board meetings 
attended, (b) Per diems for Board Committee meetings 
attended (c) Performance Based Incentives, and (d) 
Reimbursable Expenses. These compensations are based 
on GCG Memorandum Circular No. 2016-01 (Compensation 
Framework for Members of the GOCC Governing Boards) in 
accordance with Executive Order No. 24.

Senior Management

The Remuneration Policy of Small Business Corporation 
(SB Corp) is aligned with the Compensation and Position 
Classification System (CPCS) under Executive Order No. 
150 effective 05 October 2021. Prior to the issuance of the 
Executive Order, SB Corp’s Remuneration Policy was aligned 
with the National Government’s Salary Standardization Law 
(SSL).

The compensation package of the Senior Management 
consists of:

•	 Basic salaries, standard allowances, 
benefits and incentives like Personnel 
Economic and Relief Allowance, Clothing 
Allowance, Mid-Year Bonus, Year End Bonus, 
and Cash Gift.

•	 Specific purpose allowances and 
benefits, such as, Representation Allowance 
and Transportation Allowance (RATA), 
Extraordinary and Miscellaneous Expenses 
(EME)*,

Communication Allowance** under specific 
conditions related to actual performance of work 
at prescribed rates.

•	 Specifically for the Head of the Legal 
Services Group, a Special Counsel Allowance is 
given for court hearings he/she attends for and 
on behalf of the corporation.

•	 Small Business Corporation also 
provides awards and incentives to its Senior 
Management through the grant of the annual 
Performance Based Bonus (PBB), Productivity 
Enhancement Incentive (PEI), CNA Incentive, 
and Program on Awards and Incentives for 
Service Excellence (PRAISE) which are linked to 
organizational and individual performance.

•	 SB Corp Remuneration Policy includes 
indirect compensation like the share to GSIS, 
Philhealth, Pag-IBIG, Provident Fund, and 
various leave benefits authorized by the CSC.

These are in accordance with the issuances from the 
National Government agencies (Office of the President 
of the Philippines Administrative/Executive Orders), 
Memorandum Circulars issued by the Department of 
Budget and Management (DBM), Civil Service Commission 
(CSC), and Governance Commission for GOCCs (GCG).

*Entertainment and Promotional Expense under the National 

Government’s Salary Standardization Law

**Mobile Allowance prior to issuance of EO 150

DOSRI (Directors, Officers, Stockholders and their 
Related Interests) POLICY GOVERNING LOANS/CREDIT 
ACCOMMODATIONS TO PARTNER MICRO FINANCIAL 
INSTITUTIONS (MFIs)

The following policies apply should an SB Corporation 
Director or Officer have any form of interest and/or hold 
shares in a Partner MFI:

i.	 If the subject Partner MFI wishes to avail 
of a loan credit accommodation from SB 
Corporation, the concerned director or officer 
should immediately inhibit him/herself from 
participating in the deliberations of the 
proposed loan or credit accommodation;

ii.	 Any transaction between SB Corporation 
and such Partner MFI, regardless of amount, 
and other policies of SB Corporation to the 
contrary notwithstanding, shall be elevated 
to the Board for approval;

iii.	 Any and all of the foregoing policies shall be 
effective and extend up to one (1) year after 
the SB Corporation’s director or officer has 
disposed of or has been released from his/her/
its shareholdings and/or interests in the Partner 
MFI.

SELF-ASSESSMENT FUNCTIONS

Internal Audit Group

To ensure its independence, the Internal Audit Group (IAG) 
reports functionally to the BACC and administratively to 
the President and CEO.

Role



Internal audit is an integral part of the internal control 
system of public service organizations. Its scope is broad 
and involves all matters relating to operations audit and 
management control. Among others, Internal Audit 
encompasses the evaluation of the degree of compliance 
of supervision or control with

laws, rules and regulations governing the operations of 
the agency, the appraisal of the adequacy of internal 
controls and the evaluation of the results of operations, 
focusing on the effectiveness of controls of operating and 
support services units/systems in the attainment of agency 
objectives.

The Internal Audit Group (IAG) is established by the Board 
of Directors, and its responsibilities are defined by the 
Board Audit & Compliance Committee (BACC) as part of 
their oversight function and in adherence with the Revised 
Philippine Government Internal Audit Manual (PGIAM) 
2020.

As the assigned unit in the appraisal of the internal control 
system within the organization, the IAG head is accountable 
to the BACC for the efficient and effective operation of the 
internal audit function.

Under the Revised PGIAM, the functions of the IAG are as 
follows:

a.	 Advise the BACC, on all matters relating to 
management control and operations audits;

b.	 Conduct management and operations audits 
of the agency functions, programs, projects, 
activities with outputs, and determine the 
degree of compliance with the mandate, 
policies, government regulations, established 
objectives, systems and procedures/processes 
and contractual obligations;

c.	 Review and appraise systems and procedures, 
organizational structures, asset management 
practices, financial and management records, 
reports and performance standards;

d.	 Analyze and evaluate management deficiencies, 

and assist the top management (e.g.,

ManCom) by recommending realistic courses of 
action; and

e.	 Perform such other related duties and 
responsibilities as may be assigned or delegated 
by the BACC or as may be required by law.

In the conduct of internal audit work, the internal audit 
staff shall:

a.	 Comply with the government’s Code of Conduct 
and Ethical Standards for Public Officials and 
Employees;

b.	 Possess the knowledge, skills, technical and 
functional expertise;

c.	 Acquire the skills in dealing with people 
and communicating audit findings and 
recommendations and related issues effectively;

d.	 Regularly improve their technical competence 
through a program of professional development;

e.	 Exercise due professional diligence in performing 
their duties;

f.	 Keep the confidentiality of information;
g.	 Maintain internal audit records; and
h.	 Foster teamwork in performing the internal audit 

function.

Authority

The establishment of the internal audit function is based 
on the Philippine Constitution, laws and related issuances. 
Hence, based on the audit objectives and subject to 
compliance with the internal security policies of public 
service organizations, internal auditors shall have full, free 
and unrestricted access to all functions, premises, assets, 
personnel, records, and other documents and information 
that the IAG head considers necessary in undertaking 
internal audit activities.

All records, documentation and information accessed in 

the course of undertaking internal audit activities shall be 
used solely for the conduct of these activities. The internal 
auditor shall respect the confidentiality of information 
acquired in the course of performing the audit activities 
and shall not use or disclose any such information without 
proper and specific authority, unless there is a legal or 
professional right or duty to disclose.

The IAG head and the individual internal audit staff 
are responsible and accountable for maintaining the 
confidentiality of the information they receive during the 
course of their work.

In case the IAG receives a request for a copy of internal 
audit plans, reports and other related or supporting 
documents, the requesting entity, whether an internal or 
external party, should only be given the same after proper 
authorization by the BACC. In addition, access to such 
documents shall be in accordance with agency-specific 
policies on security of information and disclosure.

Reporting Process

The IAG is an integral part of the agency which provides 
assistance to and performs functions as provided by law 
and delegated by the BACC. As such, the IAG shall report to 
the Board Audit & Compliance Committee of the Governing 
Board of the corporation.

The audit report sets out the findings in appropriate format; 
provides the pieces of evidence gathered to arrive at the 
audit findings; and the recommendations.

Internal Audit shall consider implementing an audit 
rating system. It is a risk-based numerical audit rating 
system used to evaluate the operations of business units. 
It is designed to provide IAG with a general framework 
to summarize the results and impact of audit issues and 
observations identified on an audit engagement. It intends 
to provide both qualitative and quantitative approaches to 
measure the business unit’s overall operating soundness 
and compliance with managerial policies, procedures, laws, 
and regulations.



The final audit report shall be presented to the BACC who 
decides on the distribution of the audit report based on the 
recommendation of the IAG Head.

In case the BACC decides not to act on the findings of the 
IAG (e.g., non-distribution of report or non- implementation 
of recommendations) based on his/her sound discretion, 
the latter should abide by the decision of its principal.

Subsequently, if the IAG opts to notify authorities outside 
the agency of its findings which may involve fraud, 
dishonesty, or misuse of agency resources, the doctrine of 
exhaustion of administrative remedies must be adopted.

IAG shall conduct follow-up - a monitoring and feedback 
activity undertaken to ensure the extent and adequacy of 
preventive/corrective actions taken by the management to 
address the inadequacies identified during the audit.

In the event of non-implementation of recommendation/ 
inadequate action by auditees/process owners, IAG shall 
recommend appropriate legal and/or management 
remedies for non- implementation of recommendations 
and inadequate preventive/corrective actions.

Results of the audit follow-up shall be recorded and reported 
in order to apprise the BACC of the status of actions on the 
approved recommendations.

Office of the Board Secretary and Chief Compliance 
Officer

The Office of the Board Secretary and Chief Compliance 
Officer is another independent unit from the business 
or operational aspects of the Corporation. It is directly 
reporting to the Board Audit and

Compliance Committee (BACC). This organizational set-
up ensures the independence of the Office of the Board 
Secretary and Chief Compliance Officer from the business 
or operational aspects of the Corporation.

The function of the office is to oversee and coordinate the 

implementation of SB Corporation’s compliance system 
on a corporate-wide basis. Its responsibility shall include 
the identification, assessment, monitoring, reporting and 
controlling of compliance risks. It is also responsible for 
the monitoring of SB Corporation’s compliance with the 
Anti-Money Laundering Regulations including the regular 
reporting to the Anti-Money Laundering Council (AMLC) of 
both covered and suspicious transactions.

The Office of the Board Secretary and Chief Compliance 
Officer, running parallel with the Internal Audit function, 
are expected to provide the necessary tools needed by the 
Board and Management in transforming SB Corporation 
into a fully-compliant financial institution.

Corporate Compliance Manual

The Compliance Manual documents the compliance 
structure and the policies and procedures that pertain to 
the Compliance Program of SB Corporation. It includes a 
description of the responsibilities, policies and procedures 
that pertain to the Corporation’s Code of Conduct and 
Compliance Program.

The Compliance Program sets out the planned activities 
of the compliance function, such as the review and 
implementation of specific policies and procedure, 
compliance risk assessment, compliance testing, educating 
staff on compliance matters, monitoring compliance risk 
exposures and reporting to the Board through the Board 
Audit and Compliance Committee. The program espouses 
a risk-based approach and have appropriate coverage 
across business and units.

Money Laundering and Terrorism Financing Prevention 
Program (MTPP)

The Revised Money Laundering and Terrorism Financing 
Prevention Program (MTPP) of SB Corporation was 
approved by the Board on October 28, 2022. The MTPP 
Manual contains the general requirements of the Anti-
Money Laundering Act (R.A. 9160) and Terrorism Financing 
Prevention and Suppression Act of 2019 (R.A. 10168), their 

respective IRRs, other AMLC and BSP issuances.

Consistent with the risk-based approach, the Corporation is 
required to identify, understand and assess their ML/TF risks, 
arising from customers, countries or geographic areas of 
operations and customers, products, services, transactions 
or delivery channels. The assessment methodology shall be 
appropriate to the nature of operations and complexity of 
the business.

The Board of Directors, through the Board Audit and 
Compliance Committee (BACC), exercise oversight in the 
implementation of the MTPP. Under the Revised MTPP 
of SB Corporation, the Chief Compliance Officer shall be 
responsible for ensuring compliance with the AML Rules 
and Regulations and reporting to the BACC any updates 
relative to or matters concerning AML Reporting.

Customer Acceptance, Customer Due Diligence, Covered 
and Suspicious Transaction Reporting and Ongoing 
Monitoring of Customers, Accounts and Transactions, 
among others, are vital keys in the prevention of ML/TF 
risks.

It is the policy of the Corporation to ensure that all its 
directors, officers, and employees are informed and 
adequately trained in matters covered by this MTPP to 
enable them to fully comply with their

obligations and responsibilities under the AMLA related 
laws, rules, and regulations. Ongoing education of 
personnel is an important element in the compliance 
function to maintain a sound compliance program. The 
purpose of the trainings is to make all personnel aware of 
the Philippine AML laws, rules, and regulations as well as 
the organization’s policies and procedures that affect their 
areas of responsibilities.

The Internal Audit Group shall be responsible for the periodic 
and independent evaluation of the risk management, degree 
of adherence to internal control mechanisms related to the 
customer identification process, such as determination of 
the existence of customers and the completeness of the 



minimum information and/or documents establishing the 
true and full identity of, and the extent and standard of due 
diligence applied to customers, CT and ST reporting and 
record keeping and retention, as well as the adequacy and 
effectiveness of other existing internal controls associated 
with money laundering and terrorist financing. The results 
of the internal audit shall be timely communicated to the 
BACC and the Governing Board.

Record Keeping and Digitalization of Customer Records

All customer identification records and transaction 
documents of covered persons shall be maintained and 
safely stored as long as the account exists. Client relationships 
and transactions shall be properly documented.

The Corporation shall ensure that all CDD information 
and transaction records should be available swiftly to 
domestic competent authorities in the exercise of their 
function or upon order by a competent authority. Customer 
Information shall be kept in accordance with data privacy, 
data protection and security.

Effectiveness and Adequacy of Internal Control System

Through the creation of the different Board committees 
serving as oversight over specific areas of concern, the 
effectiveness and adequacy of internal control systems in 
each of these areas are ensured.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Under Section 16 of Republic Act No. 6977, as amended by 
Republic Act No. 8289, and further amended by Republic 
Act No. 9501 otherwise known as the amended “Magna 
Carta for Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises” states 
that “To allow for capital build-up, SB Corporation shall be 
given a five (5) year grace period on dividend commitments 
beginning on the date of effectivity of this amendment. 
Thereafter, it may only declare as dividend not more than 
thirty percent (30%) of its net income and the rest withheld 
as retained earnings.”

In addition, Section 3 of Republic Act No. 7656 provides 
that such dividends accruing to the National Government 
shall be received by the National Treasury and recorded as 
income of the General Fund.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

In its efforts to carry out its governance in a transparent, 
responsible and accountable manner and with utmost 
degree of professionalism and effectiveness, Small 
Business Corporation has adopted a Whistleblowing Policy, 
the details of which may be viewed on its website (https://
sbcorp.gov.ph/corporate-governance/). The policy applies 
to its Directors, Officers and

employees including workers under contract of services 
and consultancy agreements. The Policy contains the 
reportable conditions, reporting channels, the process 
for handling whistleblowing reports, confidentiality and 
protection of the whistleblower against retaliation.

Whistleblowers are encouraged to utilize the online 
reporting channel (SB CORP WHISTLEBLOWING REPORT 
FORM) via Small Business Corporation’s website to submit 
reports electronically while at the same time ensuring 
their anonymity and the confidentiality of their reports. 
Alternatively, reports may also be submitted via mail to:

SB Corporation Integrity Monitoring Committee (SIMC)
Small Business Corporation
18/F 139 Corporate Center, 139 Valero St., Salcedo Village 
Makati City, Philippines 1227

CONSUMER PROTECTION PROGRAM

The issuance of Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP) Circular No. 
857 Series of 2014 – BSP Regulations on Financial Consumer 
Protection underscores that financial consumer protection 
is the fundamental responsibility of BSP - Supervised 
Financial Institutions’ (BSFIs) corporate governance and 
culture. As such, all banks and covered institutions should 

be governed by the basic service principles and ethical 
business practices and observe the Consumer Protection 
Standards in dealing with their customers.

SB Corporation, as a BSP-supervised Financial Institution 
and attached agency under the Department of Trade and 
Industry, fully subscribes to the protection and welfare of its 
clients/customers in all its business dealings.

Consumer Protection Oversight Function

A.	 Roles and Responsibilities of the Board and 
Senior Management 

Board of Directors

The SB Corporation Board of Directors shall 
be primarily responsible for approving and 
overseeing the implementation of policies 
governing major areas of SB Corporation’s 
consumer protection program, including the 
mechanism to ensure compliance with the said 
policies.

The roles of the Board of Directors shall include 
the following:

a)	 Approve the Consumer Protection 
policies;

b)	 Approve risk assessment strategies 
relating to effective recourse by the 
consumer;

c)	 Provide adequate resources devoted to 
Consumer Protection;

d)	 Review the applicable policies 
periodically.

Senior Management

The Senior Management, on the other 
hand, shall be responsible for the proper 
implementation of the Consumer Protection 
policies and procedures duly approved by the 



Board. Its role shall also focus on ensuring 
effective management of day-to-day consumer 
protection activities.

B.	 Consumer Protection Risk Management 
System

The Consumer Protection Risk Management 
System (CPRMS) is a means by which SB 
Corporation identifies, monitors, and controls 
consumer protection risks inherent in its 
operations, which include risks to both 
consumer and SB Corporation itself. The 
CPRMS shall provide the foundation for 
ensuring SB Corporation’s adherence to 
consumer protection standards of conduct and 
compliance with consumer protection laws, 
rules and regulations, thus ensuring that SB 
Corporation’s consumer protection practices 
address and prevent identified risks to the 
Corporation and the associated risks of financial 
harm or loss to customers.

Consumer Protection Standards

In all its dealings with its customers, SB Corporation is 
expected to observe Consumer Protection Standards 
relative to Disclosure and Transparency, Protection of 
Client Information, Fair Treatment, Effective Recourse and 
Financial Education and Awareness. The standards should 
be embedded into the corporate culture of SB Corporation, 
enhancing further its defined governance framework while 
addressing complaints that are inimical to the interests of 
the customer and which may cause reputation damage to 
the Corporation.

Consumer Assistance Management System

Customers should be provided with accessible, affordable, 
independent, fair, accountable, timely, and efficient means 
for resolving complaints with their financial transactions. 
In the establishment of an effective Consumer Assistance 
Management System, SB Corporation is expected to 1) 

develop internal policies and practices, including time for 
processing, complaint response, and customer access, 2) 
maintain an up-to-date log and records of all complaints 
from customers subject to the complaints procedure, 3) 
ensure that information on how to make a complaint is 
clearly visible in the SB Corporation’s website, 4) Undertake 
an analysis of the patterns of complaints from customers 
on a regular basis, and 5) Provide for adequate resources 
to handle financial consumer complaints efficiently and 
effectively.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CONFIRMATION 
STATEMENT

The Small Business Corporation strictly adheres to the 
principles of good corporate governance. As one of the 
government-owned or controlled corporations under the 
oversight of the Governance Commission for Government-
Owned or Controlled Corporations (GCG), SB Corporation, 
its Governing Board and all of its off icials and employees, 
confirm its full compliance for the Year 2022 with the Code 
of Corporate Governance issued by the GCG which was 
made operational through the SB Corporation’s Manual of 
Corporate Governance.

STATEMENT ON REVIEW OF FINANCIAL, 
OPERATIONAL AND RISK MANGEMENT SYSTEM

The Small Business Corporation’s Board Audit and 
Compliance Committee (BACC) and Finance and 
Risk Oversight Committee (FROC) reviewed the 
recommendations of the Internal Audit Group, Off ice 
of the Chief Compliance Off icer and the Enterprise Risk 
Management Group for calendar year 2022 involving 
Financial, Operational and Risk Management prior to 
endorsement and approval by the Board.

STATEMENT CONFIRMING ADEQUACY OF 
INTERNAL CONTROLS

The f indings, observations and recommendations of 
the Internal Audit Group and the Off ice of the Chief 
Compliance Off icer for Calendar Year 2022 were 
reviewed by the Small Business Corporation’s Board 
Audit and Compliance Committee (BACC) and found 
as adequate.



WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

In its efforts to carry out its governance in a transparent, 
responsible and accountable manner and with utmost 
degree of professionalism and effectiveness, Small 
Business Corporation has adopted a Whistleblowing Policy, 
the details of which may be viewed on its website (https://
sbcorp.gov.ph/corporate-governance/). The Policy applies 
to its Directors, Off icers and employees including workers 
under contract of services and consultancy agreements. 
The Policy contains the reportable conditions, reporting 
channels, the process for handling whistleblowing reports, 
confidentiality and protection of the whistleblower against 
retaliation.

Whistleblowers are encouraged to utilize the online 
reporting channel (SB CORP WHISTLEBLOWING REPORT 
FORM) via Small Business Corporation’s website to submit 
reports electronically while at the same time ensuring 
their anonymity and the confidentiality of their reports. 
Alternatively, reports may also be submitted via mail to:

SB Corporation Integrity Monitoring Committee (SIMC)
Small Business Corporation
18/F 139 Corporate Center, 139 Valero St., Salcedo Village 
Makati City, Philippines 1227

Level Committees

4.	 Recommendation for the Assumption of 
Atty. Livian May Sanchez-Llorito to the Duties 
and Functions of the Off ice of the Board 
Secretary

5.	 Board Approved Number of Committee Meetings

6.	 Expansion of the Mandate of Board Committees 
and Change in Chairmanships

7.	 Designation of the Regional Lending Head/Vice 
President for South Luzon Group

8.	 Renewal of Designation of Ms. Rebecca Ancanan 
as OIC of South Luzon Lending Group

9.	 Proposed Revised Scoring System for Placement 
of Off icers and Staff

10.	 Recommendation for the Appointment of 
Mr. Angelito B. Acupan as Sector Manager of 
the Strategy, Policy and Systems Sector

11.	 Recommendation for the Appointment of Atty. 
Livian May Sanchez-Llorito as Group Manager 
of the Off ice of the Board Secretary/Chief 
Compliance Off icer

B.	 Discussed and noted the following:
1.	 Loan Processing Time Per Sub-Process
2.	 Recommendation for the Promotion of Gia 

F. Estrella
3.	 Guidance on the Implementation of the 

Flexible Work Arrangement
4.	 Guidelines on Prohibition of Loan 

Endorsements
5.	 Public Service Continuity Committee (PSCC)
6.	 CASA Review Committee
7.	 Results of GCG’s Assessment of Small 

Business Corporation’s Corporate 
Governance Scorecard (CGS) for CY 2021

BOARD AUDIT AND COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

Major Initiatives and Accomplishments for 2022

The Board Audit and Compliance Committee convened 
six (6) meetings in 2022. Its major initiatives and 
accomplishments for the year are as follows:

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

Major Initiatives and Accomplishments for 2022

The Corporate Governance Committee convened 
f ive (5) meetings in 2022. Its major initiatives and 
accomplishments for the year are as follows:

A.	 Discussed and endorsed to the Governing Board for 
approval/consideration the following:

1.	 Recommendation for the Appointment of 
Ms. Heide M. Vega as Group Head of the 
Internal Audit Group

2.	 Recommendation for the Appointment of 
Mr. Lynnuel G. Victorio as Group Head of the 
Enterprise Risk Management Group

3.	 Recommended Changes in Functional 
Delineation and Membership of Management 

A.	 Discussed and endorsed the following for approval 
and/or consideration:

1.	 Annual Audit Plan for CY 2022
2.	 Results of Audit on Loan Collection (CAREs 

Program)
3.	 Results of Audit on Collateral Custodianship 

on 3 Regional Lending Groups (NLG, VG & 
MG)

4.	 Results of Compliance Audit on Prescribed 
Processing Time under Bayanihan CAREs 
Online System (BCOS)

5.	 Results of Audit Concerning the Discrepancy 
on Interest Rates ftao: LPR General 
Merchandise

6.	 Audit Plan for CY 2022 Status Report with a 
Request for Amendment

7.	 Results of Compliance Audit on Work 
Arrangement of SB Corp Personnel

8.	 Results of Audit on Access Management
9.	 Results of Audit on IT Governance
10.	 Results of Financial Statement Review as of 

June 30, 2022
11.	 Results of Audit on CAREs Account 

Management on 4 Regional Lending Groups
12.	 Summary of the Covered Transactions 

Reported to AMLC and Results of the KYC 
Compliance Testing on AMLA Covered 
Transactions for CY 2020

13.	 Confirmation of the Actions taken / Actions 
to be taken on the Audit Observations and 
Recommendations from the CY 2021 COA 
Annual Audit Report

14.	 Revised Money Laundering and Terrorism 
Financing Prevention Program of SB 
Corporation

B.	 Discussed and noted the following:
1.	 Annual Report on Internal Audit Activities for 

CY 2021
2.	 Internal Audit Tracking Reports

o	As of 31 March 2022
o	As of 30 June 2022
o	As of 31 August 2022
o	As of 20 October 2022



3.	 TG’s Deliverables on Undistributed Collection
4.	 ManCom and FS Deliverables on the Results 

of Audit on CAREs Loan Validation
5.	 Status of KYC Compliance Testing on AMLA 

Covered Transactions
6.	 Audit Universe/Coverage of the IAG Audit
7.	 ManCom’s Deliverables Re: Loan 

Documentation
8.	 TG’s Update on the Implementation of 

Customer Account Number (CAN)
9.	 FS Deliverables on the Results of Audit on 

Collateral Custodianship
10.	 Internal Validation of SB Corp’s Compliance 

with the Requirements for Eligibility to 
FY 2021 PBB and Reminder on the Agency 
Accountability Timelines for FY 2022 PBB

11.	 RMC Instructions on the Audit on Prescribed 
Processing Time Under BCOS

12.	 HRMDG Deliverables on the Conduct of Skills 
Inventory of SB Corp Employees

13.	 COA Entrance Conference for CY 2022 Annual 
Financial Audit

14.	 Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP) Entrance 
Conference – Corporate Wide Presentation

15.	 Activities Relative to the Regular Examination 
of the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas

and Post-Dated Check Requirement Under 
SBCorp’s Retail Loan Products

6.	 SB Corporation 2022-2025 Loan Portfolio Plan 
and 2022 Corporate Operating Budget (COB)

7.	 SB Corporation P3 Wholesale Lending Interest 
Rate from Conduit/MFIs to End Borrowers

8.	 Presentation of the Php191 Million P3 
Mobilization Fund Breakdown

9.	 Definition of Terms, Pricing and Repayment 
Term Policies for Loan Restructuring, for Loan 
Remediation and for Compromise Agreement 
under RETAIL LENDING and for ROPA 
Installment Sales

10.	 Financial Statements as of June 2022
11.	 Wholesale Lending Portfolio Catch up Plan with 

Policy Recommendations
12.	 Interest Rate and Penalties for Enterprise 

Rehabilitation Facility (ERF) Accounts under 
Compromise Agreement

13.	 Strategic Solutions on How to Address 
Fraudulent Accounts Discussion

14.	 Financial Statement as of September 2022
15.	 Amendment of loan drawdown policy under P3 

and Regular Microfinance Wholesale Program
16.	 Policy on release of collaterals of existing 

borrowers with outstanding balance under 
collateral-free loan program/facility

17.	 Approving authority on Foreclosure Bid Price
18.	 Adoption of Risk Control Self-Assessment 

(RCSA) in the Development/Enhancement of 
Risk Opportunities Register (ROR)

19.	 Waiver of Penalty relative to disposal of Davao 
Area Marketing Cooperative, Inc. (DAMCO, 
Inc.) in favor of Gravity Irrigators Sustainable 
Agricultural

20.	 Financial Statements as of October 2022
21.	 Write-off Policy
22.	 Interest rates and Penalties for Enterprise 

Rehabilitation Facility (ERF) Accounts 
under Compromise Agreement and Loan 
Restructuring 
 

FINANCE AND RISK OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE
(Formerly Risk Oversight Committee)

Major Initiatives and Accomplishments for 2022
The Finance and Risk Oversight Committee convened 
seven (7) meetings in 2022. Its major initiatives and 
accomplishments for the year are as follows:

A.	 Discussed and endorsed to the Governing Board for 
approval/consideration the following:

1.	 December 2021 Financial Statements (1st 
Closing)

2.	 Allowance for Credit Losses/Loan Loss 
Provisioning as of December 31, 2021

3.	 Recognition of Cross Default
4.	 Corporate Operating Budget for 2023
5.	 Policy Adjustments on the Loan Floor Amounts 

B.	 Discussed and noted the following:

1.	 Review and Analysis of the 2021 Loan Loss 
Provisioning Budget

2.	 Ad Hoc Team’s report on the status of the 
investigation on complaints against Ms. 
Reyell Viado

3.	 Instructions on Handling of Aged Past Due 
Accounts

4.	 SBCorp Regular Retail Lending Interest 
Rates’ alignment with RISE UP Program 
Interest Rates

5.	 SBCorp’s Loan Restructuring Interest Rates
6.	 SBCorp’s Financial Dashboard
7.	 Presentation of Progress of Account 

Management System
8.	 Repayment Term for Loan Restructuring Under 

Board-approved Interest Rates
9.	 Update on Legal Action Against KASAPI 

Microfinance and Rural Development Inc.
10.	 Presentation of the Retained Earnings 

before Unrealized Losses on the 2022 
Corporate Operation Budget

11.	 Presentation of the Itemized 
Breakdown of the P20.690M 
Variance/increase in the 
Information Technology 
Operational Cost

12.	 Updates on the PDC Warehousing Offered by 
the Land Bank of the Philippines

13.	 Updates on the Legal Action Against KASAPI 
Microfinance and Rural Development Inc.

14.	 Hiring of Ms. Jean Rose Lim under COS 
(JG 13-equivalent) under the Enterprise 
Risk Management Group

15.	 Liquidation Policies of Loan Releases under 
Wholesale Lending

16.	 Loan Collection Policy recommendations
17.	 Status of Accounts Written-off
18.	 Updates on Collection Agencies
19.	 Guidelines on Risk Events Reporting
20.	 Policy and Procedure for Handling Past Due 

Accounts More Than 30 Days by Legal Services 
Group



BOARD IT AND PLATFORMIFICATION COMMITTEE

Major Initiatives and Accomplishments for 2022

The Board IT and Platformif ication Committee convened 
four (4) meetings in 2022. Its major initiatives and 
accomplishments for the year are as follows:

A.	 Discussed and endorsed to the Governing Board for 
approval/consideration the following:

1.	 Recommended Information System Strategic 
Plan (ISSP) for CYs 2022 to 2024

2.	 Budget Realignments for Information 
Technology-related Procurements

a.	 PhP700.0 thousand for Oracle Consultancy
b.	 PhP615.0 thousand for Laptops

3.	 Creation of Technical Working Group for Project 
Proposals Not Within Approved Information 
Systems Strategic Plan

4.	 Shift in the Primary Internet Service Provider of 
SBCorp

5.	 Schedule of the Board IT Planning in February or 
March 2023

B.	 Discussed and noted the following:

1.	 Updated Timelines of IT-Related Projects, 
including Results of the Testing and 
Consultations on the Application of Payments 
System

2.	 Implications of Memorandum Circular 3, Series of 
2022 on IT-Related Projects of SBCorp

3.	 Updates on the Possible Convergence of 
SBCorp with Japanese Companies (e.g., 
JUNCA Holdings)

4.	 Reconstituted Business Process and Information 
Technology Management Committee

5.	 Status of Information Technology-related 
Projects

6.	 SBCorp’s Existing Information Technology 
Framework and Plans Moving Forward

7.	 Status of Information Technology-related 
Projects

LOANS AND VENTURE CAPITAL REVIEW 
COMMITTEE
(Formerly Board Committee on Venture Capital Review)

Major Initiatives and Accomplishments for 2022
The Loans and Venture Capital Review Committee 
convened six (6) meetings in 2022. Its major initiatives and 
accomplishments for the year are as follows:

A.	 Discussed and endorsed to the Governing Board for 
approval/consideration the following:

1.	 Designation of Two (2) SBCorp Representatives to 
the Board of Directors of Venture Capital Accounts

2.	 Cooperative Bank of Cotabato
	P3 Credit Line-P100.0 Million (Renewal 

and increase from P60.0Million)
	Regular- P20.0 Million (Initial Granting 

of CL)
3.	 Tam-An Banaue MPC

	P3 Credit Line – P100.0 Million 
(Reinstatement and increase from 
P30.0Million)

4.	 Kabuhayan sa Ganap na Kasarinlan Credit and 
Saving Cooperative (KASAGANA-KA OR K- KOOP)

	P3 – P20.0Million (Reinstatement of CL)
	Regular – P40.0Million (Reinstatement 

of CL)
5.	 1st Valley Bank Inc.

	 P3 – P200.0Million (Reinstatement of CL)
	 Regular – P45.0Million (Reinstatement of 

CL)
6.	 Negros Women for Tomorrow Foundation, Inc.

	P3 – P150.0Million (Renewal with 
Increase of CL from P30.0M)

	Regular – P75.0Million (Reinstatement 
of CL)

7.	 Asia Link Finance Corporation
	P3 – P150.0Million (Initial Granting of CL)
	Regular – P150.0Million (Reinstatement 

with Increase of CL from P40.0Million)
8.	 Tulay sa Pag-unlad, Inc.

	P3 – P 50.0Million (Reinstatement with 

Increase of CL from P30.0Million)
	Regular – P 50.0Million (Reinstatement 

with Increase of CL from P30.0Million)
9.	 Cyprea International, Inc.

	Amendments on the 
Implementation of the Board 
Approved Loan Restructuring 
Terms and Conditions

10.	 Abra Diocesan Teachers and Employees MPC –
	P150.0Million Reinstatement of P3 

Credit Line

11.	 First Isabela Coop Bank
	P200.0Million Reinstatement of P3 

Credit Line
12.	 Prime Global Finance Corporation

	P300.0Million Reinstatement of Credit 
Line with Increase from P20.0MM

13.	 Providers MPC – P600 Million Credit Line
	P400.0Million (Reactivation of P3 Credit 

Line with Increase from P200.0M)
	P200.0Million (Reactivation of Regular 

Credit Line)
14.	 Rangtay sa Pagrang-ay Microfinance, Inc. (RPMI)- 

P100Million Credit Line
	P50.0Million (Reactivation of P3 Credit 

Line)
	P50.0Million (Reactivation of Regular 

Credit Line)
15.	 Agdao MPC

	P100.0Million (Renewal of P3 Credit 
Line with Increase from P60.0MM)

B.	 Discussed and noted the following:

1.	 Updates on Two Venture Capital Accounts (Binhi, 
Inc. and Elbitech, Inc.)

2.	 2022 Annual Work Plan and Budget (AWPB) of 
RAPID Growth Project

3.	 Report on Leyte Trip for RAPID
4.	 Terms of Reference for Management Consultants
5.	 Update on RAPID Growth Projects
6.	 Update on Failed Venture Capital Accounts
7.	 List of Potential Venture Capital Investees



8.	 Handling of RAPID Innovation Program (Off ice 
Order No. 045 S. 2022)

9.	 Update on Failed Venture Capital 
Account - Starlight Homessences, Inc. – 
Acceptance Replacement of Check

6.	 Rationalization of Board Members’ 
Involvement on Management Advocacy 
and Marketing Initiatives

I.	 Risk Management Policy

The Small Business Corporation (SB Corporation) pursues 
adequate and effective risk management systems 
commensurate to its risk-taking activities. Towards this 
end, SB Corporation aims to implement best practices in 
Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) acrossits systems and 
processes.

II.	 Enterprise Risk Management Framework

The ERM Framework of SB Corporation was formally 
established with the approval by the Governing Board of 
the ERM Manual through Board Resolution No. 2282, s. 
2016 dated 10 March 2016.

Financial institutions are in the business of taking risks. 
SB Corporation – as the organization charged primarily 
with the responsibility of implementing comprehensive 
policies and programs to assist micro, small and medium 
enterprises (MSMEs) by way of providing access to f inance, 
among others – has risk taking as an integral part of its 
business. Its ability to manage risks thus allows the 
institution to live up to its mandate as provided for under 
Republic Act No. 9501, otherwise known as the Magna 
Carta for Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises.

As a government-owned and controlled corporation 
(GOCC) administratively attached to the Department of 
Trade and Industry (DTI), SB Corporation aligns itself to 
the national goals and objectives for MSME development 
as outlined in the MSME Development Plan. This provides 
the context by which the Corporation’s ERM Framework 
operates.

SB Corporation’s Governing Board and Senior Management 
effectively drives its ERM, withthe former being charged 
with approving and overseeing the implementation of 
the institution’s strategic objectives, risk strategies and 
corporate governance while the latter manages day-to-
day affairs. Together, they set the tone for managing risks 
across its systems and processes which is shared at all 
levels of the institution.

STRATEGIC COMMUNICATIONS AND PRODUCT 
INNOVATION OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE
(Formerly Strategic Communications Oversight 
Committee)

Major Initiatives and Accomplishments for 2022

The Strategic Communications and Product Innovation 
Oversight Committee convened three (3) meetings in 2022. 
Its major initiatives and accomplishments for the year are 
as follows:

A.	 Discussed and endorsed to the Governing Board for 
approval/consideration the following:

1.	 Strategy for Increased Generation of RISE 
UP Loan Applications via the Negosyo 
Centers and Intensive Budget

2.	 Partnership with Cebu Provincial 
Government

3.	 Revival of SBCorp’s Awards Program
4.	 2022 Communication Plan Updates and 

Catch-Up Plan for the RISE UP Program

B.	 Discussed and noted the following:

1.	 Quick Review of Strategic Communications 
Framework

2.	 Presentation of Communications and 
Campaign Plan for RISE UP with SBCORP

3.	 Presentation and Discussion of Monthly 
Activity Plan to Implement Campaign

4.	 Webinar Coaching Series on the SBCorp 
Online Loan Application System, 
Methodology and Schedules

5.	 Initial Results of Market Research on 
Poorest Municipalities



The engine driving SB Corporation’s ERM vehicle is the 
linkage between its Strategic Planning, Risk Management 
and Capital Management Processes. This is anchored on 
four (4) key components, namely: 1) Risk Organization and 
Governance; 2) Processes and Policies; 3) Data and System 
Infrastructure; and, 4) Risk Measurements.
These components undergo a continuous cycle of 
improvement where design translates to implementation 
and is regularly monitored for enhancement. Thus, ERM 
is subject of an iterative process and takes on a dynamic 
form that adjusts to the dynamic risk environment and 
responds to both internal and external factors and changes 
in its business model.

III.	    Enterpr ise  Risk  Management  Roles  and 
Responsibi l i t ies

The following key principles guide SB Corporation’s 
approach to ERM:

Finance and Risk Oversight Committee (Board-level)

The role of the Finance and Risk Oversight Committee 
(FROC) is to set the direction and overall risk strategies. It 
provides oversight to the Management of SB Corporation, 
led by the President and CEO (P/CEO), ensuring that 
risks are managed across the Corporation in a timely and 
appropriate manner.

President and CEO

The President and CEO maintains ultimate accountability 
for the management of the institution’s risks, including 
issuing directives for their management. The P/CEO 
likewise authorizes and owns the ERM Policy and issues 
f inal approval of the ERM risk appetite statements.

Risk Management Committee (Management-level)

The Risk Management Committee (RMC) refers to the 
existing Management Committee, with the participation 
of the Chief Risk Off icer (CRO). It is a management-level 
committee chaired by the P/CEO. It is tasked to oversee the 

development and implementation of processes used to 
analyze, prioritize, and address risks across the institution.

These risks include the typical risks faced by a f inancial 
institution (e.g., credit, market, and operational risks), along 
with emerging risks that could impede SB Corporation’s 
ability to achieve its strategic objectives. The RMC is 
broadly responsible for ensuring that risks are managed to 
create value and, in a manner, consistent with established 
risk appetite and risk tolerance levels.

Group Heads

Group Heads (GHs), collectively called as Middle 
Management, serves as the ultimate risk owners. Groups 
will adopt and follow the ERM Framework and the ERM 
Policy and participate in enterprise-wide risk management 
efforts and perform risk management activities within their 
respective off ices. GHs are responsible for implementing 
consistentrisk management practices in alignment with 
this policy.

It is the responsibility of the GHs to disaggregate the 
enterprise-level risk appetite statements into unit-specif ic 
risk limits, where applicable. They will also assist the ERM 
Unit in creating ad hoc risk analysis teams to serve as 
subject matter experts during the risk identif ication and 
analysis process.

Chief Risk Off icer

The Chief Risk Off icer serves as the principal advisor to the 
P/CEO on all risk matters that could impact the institution’s 
ability to perform its mission. The CRO is responsible for 
the design, development and implementation of the 
ERM program of SB Corporation. The CRO, in conjunction 
with the ERM Unit, will lead the institution in conducting 
regular enterprise risk assessments of business processes 
or programs at least annually and will oversee the 
identif ication, assessment, prioritization, response, and 
monitoring of enterprise risks. The CRO will take an 
active role in strategic planning and integration of risk 
management principles across the enterprise.

ERM Unit

This refers to the existing Enterprise Risk Management 
Group. The Unit leads ERM activities under the supervision 
of the CRO. Such activities include developing and 
maintaining ERM policies, processes, procedures, tools, and 
information systems; leading efforts to perform enterprise 
risk identif ication, assessment, prioritization, reporting, 
and monitoring; and, establishing ERM communication 
at all levels and for gathering data and developing risk 
reports.

IV.	 Management of Material Financial Risks

SB Corporation is exposed to a variety of f inancial risks 
such as market risk (including currency risk, interest 
rate risk and price risk), credit risk, and liquidity risk. The 
f inancial risks are identif ied, measured and monitored 
through various control mechanisms. This is to adequately 
assess market circumstances, thereby help avoid adverse 
f inancial consequences to the institution.

This is to likewise ensure that SB Corporation performs 
its developmental mandate as a Non- Bank Financial 
Institution (NBFI) and not merely duplicates what the 
mainstream players in MSME f inance (e.g., private 
banks and f inancial institutions, government f inancial 
institution, etc.) are already doing. SB Corporation 
develops and operates its f inancing programs along these 
lines, to optimize the utilization of National Government 
investments by not contributing to the cycle of poverty 
and debt for small business owners.

Over the years, SB Corporation’s understanding of the 
nature of our unique role in MSME f inance has deepened, 
which can be seen in its innovative and countercyclical 
product offerings as well as in how it evaluates risks and 
allocate limited resources.
The Corporation’s risk management policies for each 
f inancial risk factor are summarized below:



Credit Risk

In view of its mandate to safeguard the interest of the 
public and contribute to the promotion of stability in the 
economy, SB Corporation manages credit risk at all relevant 
levels of the organization. The Corporation defines credit 
risk as the risk that the loans granted to borrowers and/
or other f inancial institutions will not be paid when due, 
thereby causing the Corporation to incur f inancial losses.

SB Corporation therefore exercises prudence in the 
grant of loans over its exposures to credit risk, taking 
into consideration the developmental objectives of 
the Corporation as mandated by the Magna Carta for 
MSMEs. This is managed through the implementation of 
theborrower risk rating and monitoring of loan covenants 
in the loan agreements. The borrowerrisk rating is being 
used, among others, as basis for determining credit 
worthiness of loan applicants. Further, the Corporation 
mitigates such credit risks through the acceptance of 
eligible collaterals as secondary form of payment.

Operational Risk

Cognizant that operational risk is inherent in all activities, 
products and services, and is closely tied in with other 
types of risks, SB Corporation monitors risks arising 
from inadequate or failed internal processes, people, 
and systems or from external events such as natural and 
man-made disasters. Towards this end, the Corporation 
conducts a Risk Control Self-Assessment (RCSA) to assess 
inherent operational risks and the design and effectiveness 
of mitigating controls, and residual risk.

ERMG validates the RCSA exercise to determine, among 
others, the completeness and appropriateness of the 
identif ied risk events and its potential impact to operations 
as well as to identify and understand risk triggers.

An Internal loss database which can be fed back into the 
operational risk management process to accumulate history 
of operational risk losses is also being operationalized. This 
allows a quantif ied view of incurred risks turning them into 

valuable source of information for assessing exposure to 
operational risk and the effectiveness of internal controls. 
Requirements for risk event reporting is also being 
operationalized.

Business Continuity Risk

Given SB Corporation’s developmental mandate and crucial 
role in the Philippine f inancial system particularly during 
a crisis, it is important to ensure that its operations can 
withstand the effects of major disruptions. The Corporation 
therefore delivers its message of commitment, service and 
integrity towards its mandate as defined under the Magna 
Carta for MSME.
Guided by its vision, mission, service philosophy and core 
values, SB Corporation acknowledges the need to establish, 
implement and maintain appropriate procedures for 
managing the immediate consequences of disruptive 
incidents with due regard to the welfare of employees, 
clients, and guests, operational options for responding 
to incidents, prevention of further loss or unavailability 
of prioritized activities, and recovery and resumption of 
business critical and mission essential functions.

At the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, SB Corporation 
immediately puts in motion its business continuity plans 
which revolves around its countercyclical role during a 
crisis, when private f inancial institutions become risk-
averse and private f inancing contracts. Nevertheless, the 
Corporation commits to the attainment of the following 
business continuity objectives as it delivers its mandate:

a.	 To safeguard human life;
b.	 To enable effective decision-making and 

communication during incidents;
c.	 To implement a plan to adjust and adapt even if 

resources are constrained;
d.	 To ensure that workplace policies are responsive, 

equitable, compliant, and adaptable;
e.	 To reduce dependency on a specif ic business 

critical or mission essential function- holder;
f.	 To develop a clear, measurable, fair, and 

practicable Performance Management System 

specif ically designed for remote work to align 
with the crisis or pandemic situations and ensure 
that individual and team performance dovetails 
into organizational goals; and,

g.	 To ensure continuous improvement of the 
organization through public service continuity 
management.

SB Corporation’s business continuity plan now evolves 
into Public Service Continuity Plan (PSCP). The PSCP is an 
all-hazard plan that aims to ensure continuous delivery of 
services to micro, small and medium enterprises amidst 
any disruption. The PSCP highlights the internal capacities, 
recovery requirements strategies to minimize damage and 
loss to essential processes, ensure succession of leadership 
and improve continuity capabilities of SB Corporation 
(Board Resolution No. 2021-11-3186).

Market Risk – Interest Rate Risk

SB Corporation anticipates, measures, and manages its 
interest rate sensitivity position to ensure its long-run 
earning power, build-up of its investment portfolio and 
avoid economic losses. Special emphasis is placed on the 
change in net interest income/expense that will result from 
possible fluctuations in interest rates, changes in portfolio 
mix and tenor.

Liquidity Risk

SB Corporation seeks to manage its liquidity profile to be 
able to f inance operating and capital expenditures and 
service maturing debts. To cover its f inancing requirements, 
corporate and P3 funds shall be intended to utilize.

As part of its liquidity risk management, the Corporation 
regularly evaluates its projected and actual cash flows and 
institutes liquidity risk controls. It also continuously assesses 
conditions in the f inancial markets for opportunities to 
pursue fund raising activities, in case any requirements 
may arise. Fundraising activities may include stand-by 
credit lines from government banks.



The Small Business Corporation (“SB Corp” for brevity) 
advocates for the adoption of ecologically responsible 
business practices through green procurement for 
purchases of goods and services that cause minimal adverse 
environment impact. A clean technology, consumption of 
electricity and fuels that are green compliant will have an 
eventual impact in cutting costs, improve eff iciency, and 
create healthier workplaces.

Relatedly, SB Corp submitted the following documents 
to the Energy Utilization Management Bureau of 
the Department of Energy on April 13 and 21, 2022 in 
compliance with the Inter-Agency Energy Eff iciency 
and Conservation Committee (IAEECC) Advisory No. 2 
– Mandatory Implementation of Energy Eff iciency and 
Conservation (EEC) Programs and the Strict Observance 
of the Government Energy Management Program (GEMP):

1.	 Energy Efficiency and Conservation (EEC) 
Checklist – contains the following:

a)	 Institutionalization of EEC;
b)	 Fuel-Saving Measures;
c)	 Electricity-Saving Measures; and
d)	 Other EEC Measures.

2.	 Office Order No. 014, series of 2022 for the Support 
to and Implementation of Government Energy 
Management Program.

As SB Corp performs its mandate to provide f inancial 
services to micro, small and medium enterprises, we are 
likewise conscious on how operational expenditures can 
be minimized or at least maintained at its acceptable level. 
Presented below are the SB Corp’s electricity, fuel, toner 
and paper consumption and copier rental charges:

A.	 Electricity Consumption

For CY 2022, the Corporation’s workplace had reached 
80% as its maximum capacity after the lifting of Alert 
level restrictions. Despite the recommendation of the 
Civil Service Commission (CSC) to adapt a Flexible Work 
Arrangements (FWA) where some of personnel have work-

from-home arrangements, we have noted a 1.44% increase 
in electricity consumption for CY 2022 versus the CY 2021 
recorded electricity consumption. The increase could be 
attributed to the increased manpower complement during 
the year.

Consistently, electrical consumption is attributed to 
computers, copiers/printers, air conditioning, lights, and 
appliances installed at the off ice. The SB Corp uses LED 
lights, refrigerators, microwave oven, water dispensers, 
vacuum cleaners used are energy- saving appliances and 
compliant with the Go Green campaign. Presented below 
are the comparative f igures of the Corporation’s electricity 
consumption:

B.	 Fuel Consumption

For CY 2022, the Corporation’s total consumption 
reached 25,579.97 liters, indicating 35% reduction in fuel 
consumption compared to the CY 2021 f igures at 39,237.18 
liters. The decrease in consumption is highly attributed to 
the minimized long distance travel requirement during 
the year, organized deployment of vehicles and the lifting 
of provision for shuttle service.



C.	 Toner Consumption, Copier Rental Charges 
and Paper Consumption

For CY 2022, toner consumption decreased by 41% 
compared to the recorded f igure in CY 2021.

For copier rental charges, a slight increase of 4.26% from 
CY 2021 have been noted.

Paper consumption increased by almost 172% at 307,427 
sheets in CY 2022 compared to 112,783 sheets in CY 2021. The 
increase in paper consumption is attributed to photocopy 
requests of additional Management and Board Committee 
meetings, regular submission to regulatory agencies like 
COA, BSP, CSC, etc. and conduct of internal quality audits 
for ISO certif ication.

Particulars CY 2021 CY 2022

Toner PhP 223,898 PhP 131,878

Copier Rental Charges PhP 618,646 PhP 645,061

Paper 112,783 sheets 307,427 sheets

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Small Business Guarantee and Finance Corporation 17th 
and 18th Floors, 139 Corporate Center
139 Valero Street, Salcedo Village Makati City

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Adverse Opinion

We have audited the f inancial statements of the Small 
Business Guarantee and Finance Corporation (SB 
Corporation), which comprise the statements of f inancial 
position as at December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the 
statements of comprehensive income, statements of 
changes in equity and statements of cash flows for the 
years then ended, and notes to f inancial statements, 
including a summary of signif icant accounting policies 
and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, because of the signif icance of the matters 
discussed in the Bases for Adverse Opinion section of our 
report, the accompanying f inancial statements do not 
present fairly, the f inancial position of SB Corporation as at 
December 31, 2022 and 2021, and its f inancial performance 
and cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with 
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRSs).

Bases for Adverse Opinion

The following identif ied material misstatements of several 
accounts have pervasive effects to the accompanying 
f inancial statements of SB Corporation:

•	The reported carrying amounts of SB Corporation’s 
f inancial assets subject to impairment, namely, 



Cash in Banks, Cash Equivalents, Investment 
Securities at Amortized Cost, Notes Receivable, 
Accounts Receivable and Other Receivables totaling 
P15.437 billion and P14.529 billion as at December 
31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, are overstated by 
undetermined amounts. The impairment model 
being adopted by SB Corporation for f inancial assets 
is generally reflective of the incurred loss model, 
which results in credit losses being recognized only 
when there is an incurred loss event. Such policy is 
inconsistent with the expected credit loss model 
prescribed by PFRS 9 – Financial Instruments, which 
requires the recognition of impairment losses on a 
forward-looking basis and before the occurrence of 
any credit event.

•	The Intra-agency Receivables and Payables 
accounts were not eliminated in the f inancial 
statements. Intra-agency accounts are reciprocal 
accounts that only serve as clearing accounts to 
monitor recording of intra-fund transactions which 
shall have zero balances at the end of the reporting 
period. Consequently, the reported total assets of SB 
Corporation as at December 31, 2022 and 2021 are 
overstated by P97.488 million and P83.470 million, 
respectively, while the reported total liabilities as at 
even dates are also overstated by P143.619 million 
and P91.590 million, respectively.

•	Several relevant and material quantitative disclosures 
required under PFRS 7 – Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures, including a summary of quantitative 
data as at December 31, 2022 and 2021 about SB 
Corporation’s exposure to each type of risk arising 
from financial instruments, are not presented in the 
notes to f inancial statements for CYs 2022 and 2021. 
PAS 1 requires that the notes to f inancial statements 
must disclose information required by PFRSs that is 
not presented elsewhere in the f inancial statements. 

On the other hand, the recognition of Deferred Tax Assets 
(DTA) is not duly supported by convincing evidence that 
would show suff iciency of future taxable profits against 
which the related deductible temporary differences can 

be utilized as required by pertinent provisions of PAS 
12 – Income Taxes, resulting in the doubtful realizability 
of the reported DTA of P776.248 million and P353.027 
million as at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. 
Due to unavailability of relevant records, we were unable 
to determine whether any adjustments might have been 
found necessary in respect of the recorded DTA and 
Retained Earnings.

We conducted our audits in accordance with International 
Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions (ISSAIs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are 
independent of SB Corporation in accordance with the 
Code of Conduct and Ethical Standards for Commission 
on Audit Off icials and Employees (Code of Ethics) together 
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audits 
of the f inancial statements in the Philippines, and we have 
fulf illed our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is suff icient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our adverse opinion.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The 
other information comprises the information included in 
the Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2022, 
but does not include the f inancial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon. The Annual Report for the year 
ended December 31, 2022 is expected to be made available 
to us after the date of this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the f inancial statements does not cover 
the other information and we will not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the f inancial statements, 
our responsibility is to read the other information when 
it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
f inancial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 

audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with 
Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the f inancial statements in accordance 
with PFRSs, and for such internal control as Management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of f inancial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the f inancial statements, Management 
is responsible for assessing SB Corporation’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless Management either 
intends to liquidate SB Corporation, or to cease operations, 
or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for 
overseeing SB Corporation’s f inancial
reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the f inancial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISSAIs will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
f inancial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISSAIs, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:



•	Identify and assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the f inancial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is suff icient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.

•	Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of SB Corporation’s internal control.

•	Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by Management. 

•	Conclude on the appropriateness of Management’s 
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether 
a material uncertainly exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast signif icant doubt on 
SB Corporation’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
f inancial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events in conditions may cause SB Corporation 
to cease to continue as a going concern. 

•	Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the f inancial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the f inancial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and signif icant audit f indings, 
including any signif icant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with 
a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to 
communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence and where applicable, related safeguards.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an 
opinion on the basic f inancial statements taken as a whole. 
The supplementary information in Note 30 to the f inancial 
statements is presented for purposes of f iling with the 
Bureau of Internal Revenue and is not a required part 
of the basic f inancial statements. Such supplementary 
information is the responsibility of the Management of SB 
Corporation. Because of the signif icance of the matters 
described in the Bases of Adverse Opinion section of our 
report, it is inappropriate to, and we do not express an 
opinion on the supplementary information referred to 
above.

COMMISSION ON AUDIT





SMALL BUSINESS GUARANTEE AND FINANCE 
CORPORATION

(Small Business Corporation) 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2022 and 2021
(All amounts in Philippine Peso unless otherwise stated)

1.	 GENERAL INFORMATION

1.1.	Incorporation and Operations

The Small Business Guarantee and Finance Corporation, 
commonly known as Small Business Corporation (SB 
Corporation), is a government corporation created on 
January 24, 1991 by virtue of Republic Act (RA) No. 6977, 
as amended on May 6, 1997 and May 23, 2008 by RA Nos. 
8289 and 9501, respectively, otherwise known as the 
“Magna Carta for Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises 
(MSMEs).” Section 11 of RA No. 6977, as amended, provides:

“Creation of Small Business Guarantee and 
Finance Corporation. There is hereby created a 
body corporate to be known as the Small Business 
Guarantee and Finance Corporation, hereinafter 
referred to as the Small Business Corporation 
(SB Corporation), which shall be charged with 
the primary responsibility of implementing 
comprehensive policies and programs to assist 
MSMEs in all areas, including but not limited to 
f inance and information services, training and 
marketing.”

SB Corporation’s mandate is to provide access to f inance, 
f inancial management and capacity building to MSMEs. 
It has several programs for the MSME market, namely, 
wholesale lending to smaller f inancial institutions, 
cooperatives and foundations; retail or direct lending 
to MSMEs, as well as programs to entrepreneurs in 
vulnerable areas affected by natural and man-made 
calamities, and venture capital (VC) programs. Details 
follow:

a.	 Wholesale Lending – are available to 
qualif ied microfinance conduits which have 
the organizational capability or strength in 
downloading lending funds to eligible micro sub-
borrowers with regulated pass-on rate. The facility 
aims to provide microenterprises with an alternative 
source of f inancing that is easy to access and at a 
reasonable cost.

b.	 Retail Lending – various loan facilities which aim 
to provide direct lending to registered MSMEs that 
are currently “unserved” by the banking system. It 
aims to bridge the f inancing gap for pre-bankable 
but viable MSMEs by f inancing their business 
needs, providing training, and helping them build 
credit track records and business size for future 
bank f inancing.

c.	 VC Program – the facility aims to promote business 
opportunities for MSMEs mainly for venture capital 
f inancing especially in technology- oriented 
industries. It is in the form of risk capital to be 
invested as equity to eligible MSME corporations 
that may be used for product development; for 
the establishment, improvement or expansion of 
plant and facilities; for market development; for 
working capital; and for environmental projects. 

In addition, supplemental funds under the following 
initiatives of the National Government (NG) are managed 
by SB Corporation:

a.	 Pondo sa Pagbabago at Pag-asenso (P3) Program 
– a f inancing initiative to assist microentrepreneurs 
throughout the country by providing affordable 
and cost-eff icient micro loans. An alternative 
source of f inancing that is easy and quick to access, 
it is seen to give a boost to the microenterprise 
sector, which comprise the bulk of the MSME 
sector in the country. The program also aims to 
stabilize informal lending, locally known as “f ive-
six” lending, and prevent microentrepreneurs 
from falling victims from these usurious lenders. 



b.	 Rural Agro-enterprise Partnership for Inclusive 
Development and Growth (RAPID Growth) Project 
– conceptualized by the Department of Trade and 
Industry (DTI) and funded by the International 
Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD), aims 
to sustainably increase the income of small 
farmers and microentrepreneurs engaged in 
selected agriculture-based value chains. It has f ive 
components, of which SB Corporation handles 
the fourth component, the Innovation Fund. 

Innovation Fund is a cooperative undertaking 
between the DTI and SB Corporation in various 
aspects of agri-based f inance program in the 
priority value chains; cacao, coffee, coconut oil 
and coir, and processed fruits and nuts in selected 
provinces in Regions VIII, IX, X, XI and XII. It is a f ive-
year program, in force since July 2019 and expected 
to be in force until September 2025.

Previously, SB Corporation provided guarantee programs 
to larger banks to cover MSME loans without or with 
insuff icient collateral as allowed under Section 11-B of RA 
No. 6977, as amended. However, pursuant to Executive 
Order (EO) No. 58 dated July 23, 2018 which mandated 
the creation of a single entity handling the government 
guarantee system, all guarantee-related assets, 
liabilities, funds and functions of SB Corporation were 
transferred to the Philippine Guarantee Corporation 
(PHILGUARANTEE) on August 31, 2019.

The SB Corporation is under the policy program and 
administrative supervision of the MSME Development 
(MSMED) Council of the DTI, the primary agency 
responsible for the promotion and development of 
MSMEs in the country. Taking into consideration its 
development objectives, SB Corporation is also subject 
to the supervision and examination of the Bangko 
Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP).

The principal off ice of the SB Corporation is at 17th and 
18th Floors, 139 Corporate Center, 139 Valero St., Salcedo 

Village, Makati City. It has four regional lending off ices 
and 75 f ield off ices throughout the Philippines.

1.2.	Coping Up with the Operational Effects of the 
COVID-19 Pandemic

The pandemic required that the SB Corporation responds 
in ways which may even be considered inconceivable pre-
pandemic, given its developmental mandate and crucial 
countercyclical role in times of crisis. More importantly, 
the SB Corporation’s pandemic response is fully aligned 
and adapted to address the unique challenges presented 
by restricted mobility and following strict health and 
safety protocols. The foregoing demanded a dramatic 
acceleration towards operating norms that allow for 
enhanced alignment, pace and performance. Outcomes 
that would have normally taken years to achieve took 
place within months, sometimes even within weeks. 
Traditional constructs were dismantled in favor of 
agility to tackle the unprecedented and unforeseen 
marketplace disruptions. Towards this end, the SB 
Corporation implemented the following initiatives and 
early policy actions:

a.	 Developed and implemented a Pandemic Business 
Continuity Plan (BCP) to protect its employees 
and keep its core and mission-essential business 
operations functioning during the pandemic;

b.	 Ensured that its workplace policies during the 
pandemic are responsive, equitable, adaptable, 
and compliant to national and local public health 
recommendations;

c.	 Implemented alternative work arrangements 
(e.g., work from home, skeleton workforce, 
among others) and provided adequate support 
mechanisms to SB Corporation personnel;

d.	 Identif ied key business processes and resources 
required for it to adequately perform its mandate 
during the pandemic, particularly the immediate 
processing and disbursement of stimulus f inancing 

to pandemic-stricken MSMEs under the COVID-19 
Assistance to Restart Enterprises (CARES) Program;

e.	 Created functional Ad Hoc Teams (e.g., Document 
Verif ication Team, Business Verif ication Team, 
Loan Releasing Team, and Credit Review Team) 
specif ically designed to allow for remote work 
and adapted to respond to the recovery and 
rehabilitation needs of the MSME sector; and

f.	 Leveraged on the momentum of the new operating 
environment to accelerate the organization’s 
platformif ication plan, including the launch of a 
fully online loan application system and deliberate 
shift to digital loan disbursements.

To date, the SB Corporation is continually working on 
its platformif ication plan through the strengthening of 
its Information Technology Group to eff iciently manage 
the increasing number of demands of MSME clients, as 
well as the relative support services systems of the SB 
Corporation.

1.3.	Approval of Financial Statements

The f inancial statements of the SB Corporation as of 
and for the year ended December 31, 2022 (including 
the comparative f inancial statements as of and for 
the year ended December 31, 2021) were approved and 
authorized for issue by the BOD on May 5, 2023, under 
Board Resolution (BR) No. 2023-06-3435.

2.	SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The signif icant accounting policies that have been used 
in the preparation of these f inancial statements are 
summarized below and in the succeeding pages. These 
policies have been consistently applied to all the years 
presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1.	Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements

a.	Statement of Compliance with Philippine Financial 



Reporting Standards

The f inancial statements of SB Corporation have 
been prepared in accordance with the Philippine 
Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS). PFRSs 
are issued by the Financial and Sustainability 
Reporting Standards Council (FSRSC), previously 
the Financial Reporting Standards Council (FRSC) 
until September 2022, and approved by the 
Philippine Board of Accountancy (BOA) based on 
International Financial Reporting Standards issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB).

As a government-owned or-controlled corporation 
(GOCC) classif ied as a Commercial Public Sector 
Entity (CPSE), SB Corporation is required to adopt 
the PFRS as its applicable f inancial reporting 
framework pursuant to Commission on Audit 
(COA) Circular No. 2015-003 dated April 16, 2015, as 
modif ied under COA Circular No. 2022-003 dated 
January 24, 2022. Likewise, BSP Circular No. 494 
dated September 20, 2005, as reiterated in BSP 
Circular No. 1011 dated August 14, 2018, mandates 
BSP-supervised f inancial institutions to adopt in all 
respects the PFRS in the preparation of its audited 
f inancial statements for f inancial reporting.

The f inancial statements have been prepared using 
the measurement bases specif ied by PFRS for each 
type of asset, liability, income and expense. The 
measurement bases are more fully described in the 
accounting policies that follow.

b.	Presentation of Financial Statements

The f inancial statements are presented in 
accordance with Philippine Accounting Standard 
(PAS) 1, Presentation of Financial Statements. 
SB Corporation presents all items of income and 
expenses and other comprehensive income (OCI) 
in a single Statement of Comprehensive Income 
(SCI).

For this purpose, the Corporation adopts the 
guidelines laid down under COA Circular No. 
2017-004 dated December 13, 2017 on the 
preparation of f inancial statements and other 
f inancial reports and implementation of PFRS 
by government corporations classif ied as CPSEs, 
unless Management believes that a different 
classif ication and presentation of the accounts 
provide information that is reliable and more 
relevant to users of the f inancial statements. 

c.	Functional and Presentation Currency

The f inancial statements are presented in Philippine 
Peso, SB Corporation’s functional and presentation 
currency, and all values represent absolute 
amounts, except when otherwise indicated.

Items included in the f inancial statements of SB 
Corporation are measured using its functional 
currency. Functional currency is the currency of 
the primary economic environment in which SB 
Corporation operates.

d.	Going Concern Basis of Accounting

The f inancial statements were prepared on a going 
concern basis which assumes that SB Corporation 
will continue in operation for the foreseeable 
future and will realize its assets and discharge its 
liabilities and commitments in the normal course 
of business.

Management believes that SB Corporation 
has suff icient funds to continually carry out its 
mandate due to the additional equity infusion of 
P8.080 billion received in CY 2020 from the NG as 
mandated under RA No. 11494, otherwise known 
as the Bayanihan to Recover as One Act, or the 
Bayanihan Act 2. Further, representation with 
Congress is on-going for the amendment of RA 
No. 6977, as amended, to increase SB Corporation’s 
authorized capitalization to P50.000 billion.

2.2.	 Adoption of New and Amended PFRSs

Except with respect to the following new and amended 
PFRS, the accounting policies adopted in the preparation 
and presentation of the f inancial statements are 
consistent with those of prior years. Unless otherwise 
indicated, these new and amended standards were 
adopted as at January 1, 2022 and their adoption did not 
have a signif icant impact on the f inancial statements.

a.	Effective in 2022 that are Relevant to SB Corporation

(i)	Amendments to PFRS 3, Business Combinations 
– Reference to the Conceptual Framework. The 
amendments are intended to replace a reference 
to the Framework for the Preparation and 
Presentation of Financial Statements, issued 
in 1989, with a reference to the Conceptual 
Framework for Financial Reporting issued on 
March 29, 2018 without signif icantly changing 
its requirements. The amendments added an 
exception to the recognition principle of PFRS 
3, Business Combinations to avoid the issue 
of potential “Day 2” gains or losses arising for 
liabilities and contingent liabilities that would 
be within the scope of PAS 37, Provisions, 
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, 
or Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 21, Levies, 
if incurred separately. At the same time, the 
amendments added a new paragraph to 
PFRS 3 to clarify that contingent assets do not 
qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. 

(ii)	Amendments to PAS 16, Property, Plant and 
Equipment – Proceeds Before Intended Use. 
The amendments prohibit entities deducting 
from the cost of an item of property, plant and 
equipment, any proceeds from selling items 
produced while bringing that asset to the 
location and condition necessary for it to be 
capable of operating in the manner intended 
by management. Instead, an entity recognizes 
the proceeds from selling such items, and the 



costs of producing those items, in profit or loss. 

The amendments must be applied 
retrospectively to items of property, plant and 
equipment made available for use on or after 
the beginning of the earliest period presented 
when the entity f irst applies the amendment. 

(iii)	Amendments to PAS 37, Provisions, Contingent 
Liabilities and Contingent Assets – Onerous 
Contract, Costs of Fulf illing a Contract. The 
amendments specify which costs an entity needs 
to include when assessing whether a contract is 
onerous or loss-making. The amendments apply 
a “directly related cost approach.” The costs that 
relate directly to a contract to provide goods or 
services include both incremental costs and an 
allocation of costs directly related to contract 
activities. General and administrative costs do 
not relate directly to a contract and are excluded, 
unless they are explicitly chargeable to the 
counterparty under the contract.

(iv)	Annual Improvements to PFRS (2018 – 2020 
Cycle)

•	Amendments to PFRS 9, Financial Instruments 
– Fees in the “10 per cent” Test for Derecognition 
of Financial Liabilities. The amendment 
clarif ies the fees that an entity includes when 
assessing whether the terms of a new or 
modif ied f inancial liability are substantially 
different from the terms of the original 
f inancial liability. These fees include only those 
paid or received between the borrower and the 
lender, including fees paid or received by either 
the borrower or lender on the other’s behalf. 
An entity applies the amendment to f inancial 
liabilities that are modif ied or exchanged on 
or after the beginning of the annual reporting 
year in which the entity f irst applies the 
amendment.

b.	Effective in 2022 that are Not Relevant to SB 
Corporation

(i)	 Annual Improvements to PFRS (2018 – 2020 
Cycle)

•	Amendments to PFRS 1, First-time Adoption 
of Philippine Financial Reporting Standards 
– Subsidiary as a First-time Adopter. The 
amendment permits a subsidiary that elects to 
apply Paragraph D16(a) of PFRS 1 to measure 
cumulative translation differences using the 
amounts reported by the parent, based on 
the parent’s date of transition to PFRS. This 
amendment is also applied to an associate or 
joint venture that elects to apply Paragraph 
D16(a) of PFRS 1.

•	Amendments to PAS 41, Agriculture – Taxation 
in Fair Value Measurements. The amendment 
removes the requirement in Paragraph 22 
of PAS 41 that entities exclude cash flows for 
taxation when measuring the fair value of 
assets within the scope of PAS 41. This will 
ensure consistency with the requirements in 
PFRS 13.

2.3.	 PFRS Issued but not yet Effective

The following pronouncements were issued and 
adopted by the FSRSC before the year ending December 
31, 2022 and are mandatorily effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2023. SB Corporation 
intends to adopt these standards when they become 
effective. Except as otherwise indicated, SB Corporation 
does not expect that future adoption of these 
pronouncements will have a signif icant impact on its 
f inancial statements.

a.	Effective Beginning on or After January 1, 2023

(i)	 Amendments to PAS 1, Presentation of Financial 
Statements, and PFRS Practice Statement 

2, Disclosure of Accounting Policies. The 
amendments provide guidance and examples 
to help entities apply materiality judgements to 
accounting policy disclosures. The amendments 
aim to help entities provide accounting policy 
disclosures that are more useful by:
•	Replacing the requirement for entities to 

disclose their “signif icant” accounting policies 
with a requirement to disclose their “material” 
accounting policies; and

•	Adding guidance on how entities apply the 
concept of materiality in making decisions 
about accounting policy disclosures.

(ii)	Amendments to PAS 8, Accounting Policies, 
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, 
Definition of Accounting Estimates. The 
amendments introduce a new definition of 
accounting estimates and clarify the distinction 
between changes in accounting estimates 
and changes in accounting policies and the 
correction of errors. The amendments also clarify 
that the effects on an accounting estimate of a 
change in an input or a change in a measurement 
technique are changes in accounting estimates 
if they do not result from the correction of prior 
period errors.

(iii)	Amendments to PAS 12, Income Taxes – Deferred 
Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities Arising from a 
Single Transaction. The amendments narrow the 
scope of the initial recognition exception under 
PAS 12, so that it no longer applies to transactions 
that give rise to equal taxable and deductible 
temporary differences. The amendments also 
clarify that where payments that settle a liability 
are deductible for tax purposes, it is a matter of 
judgement (having considered the applicable tax 
law) whether such deductions are attributable 
for tax purposes to the liability recognized in 
the f inancial statements (and interest expense) 
or to the related asset component (and interest 
expense). The amendments are applicable to 



transactions that occur on or after the beginning 
of the earliest comparative period presented.

b.	Effective Beginning on or After January 1, 2024

(i)	 Amendments to PAS 1, Presentation of Financial 
Statements – Classif ication of Liabilities as 
Current or Non-current. The amendments clarify 
Paragraphs 69 to 76 of PAS 1, to specify the 
requirements for classifying liabilities as current 
or non-current. The amendments:
•	What is meant by a right to defer settlement;
•	That a right to defer must exist at the end of 

the statement of f inancial position (SFP) date;
•	That classif ication is unaffected by the 

likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral 
right; and

•	That only if an embedded derivative in 
a convertible liability is itself an equity 
instrument would the terms of a liability not 
impact its classif ication.

The amendments are originally effective for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2023 and must be applied retrospectively. However, 
in November 2021, the IASB tentatively decided to 
defer the effective date to no earlier than January 
1, 2024.

(ii)	Amendments to PFRS 16, Lease Liability in a Sale 
and Leaseback. The amendments specify how a 
seller-lessee measures the lease liability arising 
in a sale and leaseback transaction in a way that 
it does not recognize any amount of the gain or 
loss that relates to the right of use retained.

c.	Effective Beginning on or After January 1, 2025

(i)	 PFRS 17, Insurance Contracts. PFRS 17 is a 
comprehensive new accounting standard for 
insurance contracts covering recognition and 
measurement, presentation, and disclosure. 
Once effective, PFRS 17 will replace PFRS 4, 

Insurance Contracts, which currently permits 
a wide variety of practices in accounting for 
insurance contracts. This new standard applies 
to all types of insurance contracts, regardless 
of type of entities that issue them, as well as to 
certain guarantees and f inancial instruments 
with discretionary participation features. A few 
exceptions will apply.

The overall objective of PFRS 17 is to provide an 
accounting model for insurance contracts that 
is more useful and consistent for insurers. In 
contrast to the requirements of PFRS 4, which 
are largely based on grandfathering of previous 
local accounting policies, PFRS 17 provides a 
comprehensive model for insurance contracts 
covering all relevant accounting aspects.

The core of PFRS 17 is the general model, 
supplemented by a specif ic adaptation for 
contracts with direct participation features, or the 
so-called variable fee approach, or a simplif ied 
approach mainly for short- duration contracts, or 
the so-called premium allocation approach.

On December 15, 2021, then FRSC amended the 
mandatory effective date of PFRS 17 from January 
1, 2023 to January 1, 2025. This is consistent 
with Circular Letter No. 2020-62 issued by the 
Insurance Commission, which deferred the 
implementation of PFRS 17 by two years after its 
effective date as decided by the IASB.

d.	Deferred Effectivity:

(i)	 Amendments to PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial 
Statements, and to PAS 28, Investments 
in Associates and Joint Ventures – Sales or 
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and 
its Associates or Joint Venture. The amendments 
address the conflict between PFRS 10 and PAS 28 
in dealing with the loss of control of a subsidiary 
that is sold or contributed to an associate or 

joint venture. The amendments clarify that a full 
gain or loss is recognized when a transfer to an 
associate or joint venture involves a business as 
defined in PFRS 3. Any gain or loss resulting from 
the sale or contribution of assets that does not 
constitute a business, however, is recognized 
only to the extent of unrelated investors’ interests 
in the associate or joint venture.

On January 13, 2016, then FRSC deferred the 
original effective date of January 1, 2016 of the 
said amendments until the IASB completes its 
broader review of the research project on equity 
accounting that may result in the simplif ication 
of accounting for such transactions and of other 
aspects of accounting for associates and joint 
ventures.

2.4.	Current and Non-Current Classification

SB Corporation presents assets and liabilities in the SFP 
based on current and non-current classif ication.

An asset is current when it is: (i) expected to be realized 
or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating 
cycle; (ii) held primarily for the purpose of trading;
(iii) expected to be realized within twelve months after 
reporting date; or (iv) cash or cash equivalents, unless 
restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a 
liability for at least 12 months after reporting date. All 
other assets are classif ied as non-current.

A liability is current when: (i) it is expected to be settled 
in the normal operating cycle; (ii) it is held primarily 
for the purpose of trading; (iii) it is due to be settled 
within 12 months after reporting date; or (iv) there is 
no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the 
liability for at least 12 months after reporting date. All 
other liabilities are classif ied as non-current.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classif ied as non-
current assets and liabilities, respectively.



2.5.	 Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash comprises of cash on hand and in banks. Cash 
equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments 
that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash 
and are subject to an insignif icant risk of changes in 
value, having been within three months of maturity 
when placed or acquired.

2.6.	 Financial Instruments

Financial instruments are recognized in the SFP when, 
and only when, SB Corporation becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. For purposes 
of classifying f inancial instruments, an instrument is 
considered as an equity instrument if it is non-derivative 
and meets the definition of equity for the issuer in 
accordance with the criteria under PAS 32, Financial 
Instruments: Presentation. All other non-derivative 
f inancial instruments are treated as debt instruments.

a.	Financial Assets

(i)	 Classif ication and Initial Measurement

At initial recognition, f inancial assets are 
classif ied and measured at amortized cost, at 
fair value through OCI (FVOCI), or at fair value 
through profit or loss (FVPL). The classif ication 
of f inancial assets at initial recognition depends 
on the f inancial asset’s contractual cash flow 
characteristics and SB Corporation’s business 
model for managing them. SB Corporation 
initially measures a f inancial asset at its fair value, 
and in the case of a f inancial asset not at FVPL, 
plus transaction costs.

In order for a f inancial asset to be classif ied 
and measured at amortized cost or FVOCI, it 
needs to give rise to cash flows that are “solely 
payments of principal and interest” (SPPI) on the 
principal amount outstanding. This assessment 
is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at 

an instrument level.

SB Corporation’s business model for managing 
f inancial assets refers to how it manages its 
f inancial assets in order to generate cash flows. 
The business model determines whether cash 
flows will result from collecting contractual cash 
flows, selling the f inancial assets, or both.

Purchases or sales of f inancial assets that require 
delivery of assets within a time frame established 
by regulation or convention in the market place 
(regular way trades) are recognized on the trade 
date, i.e., the date that SB Corporation commits 
to purchase or sell the asset.

(ii)	Subsequent Measurement

Financial assets are measured at amortized cost 
if both of the following conditions are met: (i) the 
asset is held within SB Corporation’s business 
model, the objective of which is to hold assets 
in order to collect contractual cash flows; and (ii) 
the contractual terms of the instrument give rise 
on specif ied dates to cash flows that are SPPI on 
the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortized cost are 
subsequently measured using the effective 
interest rate (EIR) method and are subject to 
impairment. Gains and losses are recognized in 
profit or loss when the asset is derecognized, 
modif ied or impaired.

SB Corporation’s f inancial assets at amortized cost 
as at December 31, 2022 and 2021 are presented in 
the SFP as cash and cash equivalents, receivables 
and investment securities at amortized cost.

Financial assets at FVOCI are subsequently 
measured at fair value. Interest income 
calculated using the EIR method, foreign 
exchange revaluation and impairment losses or 

reversals are recognized in profit or loss in the 
same manner as for f inancial assets measured at 
amortized cost. The remaining fair value changes 
are recognized in OCI. On derecognition, gains 
and losses accumulated in OCI are reclassif ied to 
profit or loss.

(iii)	Impairment of Financial Assets

SB Corporation recognizes an allowance for 
expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt 
instruments not held at FVPL. SB Corporation 
considers past events, current conditions, and 
forecasts of future economic conditions in 
assessing impairment.

SB Corporation calculates ECLs based on 
probability-weighted estimates to measure 
cash shortfalls. A cash shortfall is the difference 
between the contractual cash flows due in 
accordance with the contract and all the cash 
flows that SB Corporation expects to receive, 
discounted at the original effective interest 
rate. The expected cash flows will include cash 
flows from the sale of collateral held or other 
credit enhancements that are integral to the 
contractual terms.

ECLs are recognized in three stages based on 
whether there has been a signif icant increase in 
credit risk (SICR) of a f inancial asset as follows:



Lifetime ECL are the ECL that result from all 
possible default events over the expected life of 
the credit exposure, irrespective of the timing 
of the default while the 12-month ECL pertains 
to the portion of lifetime ECL that result from 
default events on credit exposure that are 
possible within the 12 months after the reporting 
date.

In measuring the ECL, SB Corporation takes 
into consideration an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined by 
evaluating a range of possible outcomes, time 
value of money, and reasonable and supportable 
information that is available without undue 
cost or effort at the reporting date about past 
events, current conditions and forecasts of future 
economic conditions.

In assessing whether there is a SICR of a credit 
exposure, SB Corporation compares the risk of a 
default occurring on the credit exposure as at the 
reporting date with the risk of default occurring 
as at the date of initial recognition, and considers 
reasonable and supportable information that 
is available without undue cost or effort, that is 
indicative of SICR since initial recognition. The 
date of initial recognition is the date that SB 
Corporation becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the f inancial instruments.

At a minimum, there is a SICR when contractual 
payments of borrowers have been past due 
for at least 30 days. SB Corporation adopts the 
definition of “default” as defined by the BSP. 
Thus, SB Corporation considers a credit exposure 
in past due (Stage 2 – Underperforming) and in 
default (Stage 3 – Non-performing) when the 
borrower is past due on its contractual payments 
for more than 30 days and 90 days, respectively.

As a part of a qualitative assessment of whether 
a customer is in default, SB Corporation also 

considers a variety of instances that may indicate 
unlikeliness to pay. When such events occur, 
SB Corporation carefully considers whether the 
event should result in treating the customer as 
defaulted.

Calculation of ECL is a function of the probability 
of default (POD), exposure-at-default (EAD), 
and loss-given default (LGD) with the timing 
of the loss also considered, and is estimated 
by incorporating forward- looking economic 
information, where available without undue cost 
or effort, and through the use of experienced 
credit judgment.

•	POD is an estimate of the likelihood that a 
credit exposure will not be repaid. POD will be 
based on historical data and estimated based 
on current market conditions, and reasonable 
and supportable information about future 
economic conditions.

•	LGD is an estimate of the percentage of loss 
that SB Corporation will incur in the event that 
the borrower defaults on its obligations after 
considering all recoveries and costs.

•	EAD is the expected value of the credit exposure 
at the time of default with consideration on 
the expected changes in the credit exposure 
after the reporting date, including repayments 
of principal and interest.

PFRS 9 notes that entities, in the estimation of 
allowance for ECL, should use reasonable and 
supportable forward-looking information where 
available without undue cost or effort. However, 
when information that is more forward-looking 
than past due status is not available without 
undue cost or effort, an entity may use past 
due information to determine whether there 
have been SICR since initial recognition. PFRS 
9 likewise notes that information on individual 
asset level may not be available and a collective 

assessment for groups of f inancial assets may be 
necessary to ensure that SICR is recognized in a 
timely manner and not only after the instrument 
becomes past due.

Under these contexts, SB Corporation uses 
historical loss patterns in the estimation of 
allowances for ECLs. Historical averages are 
calculated and adjusted, if necessary, to take 
into account the reasonable and supportable 
information that is available, without undue cost 
or effort, at the reporting date about current 
conditions and forecasts of future economic 
conditions using experienced credit judgments.

(iv)	Reclassif ication

SB Corporation can only reclassify f inancial 
assets if the objective of its business model 
for managing those f inancial assets changes. 
A change in the objective of SB Corporation’s 
business model will be implemented only at the 
beginning of the next reporting period following 
the change in the business model.

(v)	 Derecognition

A f inancial asset or, where applicable, a part of 
a f inancial asset or part of a group of f inancial 
assets is derecognized when: (i) the right to 
receive cash flows from the asset has expired; 
or (ii) SB Corporation has transferred its right to 
receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed 
an obligation to pay the received cash flows in 
full without material delay to a third party under 
a pass-through arrangement; and either SB 
Corporation has transferred substantially all the 
risks and rewards of the asset, or SB Corporation 
has neither transferred nor retained substantially 
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has 
transferred control of the asset.

When SB Corporation has transferred its rights to 



receive cash flows from an asset or has entered 
into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates 
if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks 
and rewards of ownership. When it has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all of the 
risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred 
control of the asset, SB Corporation continues to 
recognize the transferred asset to the extent of 
its continuing involvement.

Financial assets are written off either partially or 
in their entirety only when there is no realistic 
prospect of future recovery and the related 
collateral, if any, has been realized or is without 
recoverable value. If a write-off is later recovered, 
any amounts formerly charged are credited to 
“Miscellaneous Income” in the SCI.

Approval of the BOD is suff icient to effect 
the write-off of credit-related receivables and 
advances. However, further authority from 
COA is required to write-off non-credit-related 
receivables and advances pursuant to COA 
Circular No. 2016-005 dated December 19, 2016.

(vi)	Modif ication of Financial Assets

SB Corporation likewise derecognizes a f inancial 
asset when the terms and conditions have been 
renegotiated to the extent that substantially, 
it becomes a new asset, with the difference 
between its’ carrying amount and the fair value 
of the new asset recognized as a derecognition 
gain or loss in profit or loss, to the extent that an 
impairment loss has not already been recorded.

SB Corporation considers both qualitative and 
quantitative factors in assessing whether a 
modif ication of f inancial asset is substantial or 
not. When assessing whether a modif ication 
is substantial, SB Corporation considers the 
following factors, among others: (i) change in 
currency; (ii) introduction of an equity feature; 

(iii) change in counterparty; and (iv) if the 
modif ication results in the asset no longer 
considered SPPI.

When the modif ication of a f inancial asset results 
in the derecognition of the existing f inancial 
asset and the subsequent recognition of a new 
f inancial asset, the modif ied asset is considered 
a “new” f inancial asset. Accordingly, the date of 
the modif ication shall be treated as the date of 
initial recognition of that f inancial asset when 
applying the impairment requirements to the 
modif ied f inancial asset.

If the modif ication does not result in cash flows 
that are substantially different, the modif ication 
does not result in derecognition. Based on the 
change in cash flows discounted at the original 
EIR, SB Corporation records a modif ication gain 
or loss, to the extent that an impairment loss has 
not already been recorded.

b.	Financial Liabilities

(i)	 Classif ication and Measurement

Financial liabilities are classif ied, at initial 
recognition as f inancial liabilities at FVPL, loans 
and borrowings, payables. All f inancial liabilities 
are recognized initially at fair value and, in the 
case of loans and borrowings and payables, net 
of directly attributable transaction costs. SB 
Corporation’s f inancial liabilities as at December 
31, 2022 and 2021 include accounts payable, notes 
payable, loans payable, lease liability, and interest 
payable.

(ii)	Subsequent Measurement

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans 
and borrowings are subsequently measured at 
amortized cost using the EIR method. Gains and 
losses are recognized in profit or loss when the 

liabilities are derecognized as well as through the 
EIR amortization process.

Amortized cost is calculated by taking into 
account any discount or premium on acquisition 
and fees or costs that are an integral part of the 
EIR. The EIR amortization is included as f inance 
costs in the SCI.

As at December 31, 2022 and 2021, this category 
generally applies to loans payable and lease 
liability.

(iii)	Derecognition

A f inancial liability is derecognized when the 
obligation under the liability is discharged 
or canceled or has expired. When an existing 
f inancial liability is replaced by another from the 
same lender on substantially different terms, or 
the terms of an existing liability are substantially 
modif ied, such an exchange or modif ication is 
treated as a derecognition of the original liability 
and the recognition of a new liability, and the 
difference in the respective carrying amounts is 
recognized in profit or loss.

SB Corporation considers a modif ication 
substantial based on qualitative factors and if 
it results in a difference between the adjusted 
discounted present value and the original 
carrying amount of the f inancial liability of or 
greater than 10 percent.

Similar with f inancial assets, when the 
modif ication of a f inancial liability is not 
considered substantial, SB Corporation records a 
modif ication gain or loss based on the change in 
cash flows discounted at the original EIR.

c.	Offsetting of Financial Instruments

Financial assets and f inancial liabilities are offset 



and the net amount reported in the SFP, if and 
only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right 
to offset the recognized amounts and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis, to realize the asset 
and settle the liability simultaneously.

As at December 31, 2022 and 2021, there are no 
f inancial assets and liabilities that were offset.

2.7.	 Fair Value Measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell 
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date.

The fair value measurement is based on the 
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset 
or transfer the liability takes place either (a) in the 
principal market for the asset or liability, or (b) in 
the absence of a principal market, in the most 
advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured 
using the assumptions that market participants 
would use when pricing the asset or liability, 
assuming that the market participants act in their 
best economic interest.

Assets and liabilities for which fair value is 
measured or disclosed in the f inancial statements 
are categorized within the fair value hierarchy, 
described as follows, based on the lowest level input 
that is signif icant to the fair value measurement as 
a whole:

a.	Level 1 – Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in 
active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

b.	Level 2 – valuation techniques for which the 
lowest level input that is signif icant to the fair 
value measurement is directly or indirectly 
observable; and

c.	Level 3 – valuation techniques for which the 
lowest level input that is signif icant to the fair 
value measurement is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in 
the f inancial statements on a recurring basis, SB 
Corporation determines whether transfers have 
occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-
assessing categorization (based on the lowest level 
input that is signif icant to the fair value measurement 
as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

2.8.	 Inventories

Inventories are tangible items with costs below the 
capitalization threshold for Property and Equipment 
and initially recorded at cost. Costs of inventories 
include all costs of purchase and other costs incurred 
to bring the inventories to their present location and 
condition and are accounted for using the moving 
average cost method.

Subsequently, inventories are valued at the lower of 
cost or net realizable value. Net realizable value is 
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of 
operations, less the estimated costs of completion 
and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale, 
exchange, or distribution.

Unissued inventories are regularly presented in the 
Monthly Inventory Report for monitoring purposes.

2.9.	 Prepayments and Other Assets

Prepayments and other assets pertain to other 
resources controlled by the Corporation as a result 
of past events. They are recognized in the f inancial 
statements when it is probable that the future 
economic benefits will flow to the Corporation and 
the asset has a cost or value that can be measured 
reliably.

Other recognized assets of similar nature, where 
future economic benefits are expected to flow to 
the Corporation beyond one year after the end of the 
reporting period or in the normal operating cycle of 
the business, if longer, are classif ied as non-current 
assets.

2.10.	Non-current Assets Held for Sale

Non-current assets are classif ied as held for 
sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered 
principally through a sale transaction rather than 
through continuing use. The criteria for held for 
sale classif ication is regarded as met only when the 
sale is highly probable and the asset is available for 
immediate sale in its present condition. Actions 
required to complete the sale should indicate that 
it is unlikely that signif icant changes to the sale 
will be made or that the decision to sell will be 
withdrawn. Management must be committed to the 
sale expected within one year from the date of the 
classif ication.

In the event that the sale of the asset is extended 
beyond one year, the extension of the period 
required to complete the sale does not preclude 
an asset from being classif ied as held for sale if the 
delay is caused by events or circumstances beyond 
SB Corporation’s control and there is suff icient 
evidence that SB Corporation remains committed to 
its plan to sell the asset.

Non-current assets held for sale (NCAHS) are 
measured at the lower of their carrying amounts 
and fair values less costs to sell. Costs to sell are the 
incremental costs directly attributable to the sale, 
excluding f inance costs and income tax expense. 
Assets classif ied as held for sale are not subject to 
depreciation or amortization. Gains or losses arising 
from the sale or remeasurement of assets held for 
sale are recognized in profit or loss.

An asset that ceases to be classif ied as held for sale 



is measured at the lower of:
(i) its carrying amount before the asset was classif ied 
as held for sale, adjusted for any depreciation, 
amortization or revaluations that would have been 
recognized had the asset not been classif ied as 
held-for-sale; and, (ii) its recoverable amount at the 
date of the subsequent decision not to sell. Any 
adjustment to the carrying amount of an asset that 
ceases to be classif ied as held for sale resulting in 
either a gain or loss, is recognized in profit or loss. An 
impairment loss is also recognized for any initial or 
subsequent write-down of the assets held for sale to 
fair value less cost to sell, to the extent that it has not 
been previously recognized in profit or loss.

On the other hand, any gain from any subsequent 
increase in fair value less costs to sell of an asset 
up to the extent of the cumulative impairment loss 
that has been previously recognized is recognized in 
profit or loss.

2.11.	Investment Properties

Investment properties are properties held either 
to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or 
for both, but not for sale in the ordinary course of 
business, use in the production or supply of goods or 
services or for administrative purposes.

Investment properties are initially recorded at cost, 
which includes directly attributable costs incurred. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment 
properties, except land, are stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses, if any. The depreciable amount 
is allocated using a straight-line method over 
the remaining useful life. Land is subsequently 
measured at cost less accumulated impairment, if 
any.

Investment properties include real and other 
properties acquired (ROPA) in settlement of loans 
and receivables through foreclosure or dacion in 

payment. Foreclosed properties are classif ied under 
investment properties upon: (i) entry of judgment 
in case of judicial foreclosure; (ii) execution of the 
Sheriff ’s Certif icate of Sale in case of extra-judicial 
foreclosure; or (iii) notarization of the Deed of Dacion 
in case of dacion in payment.

ROPA are initially booked at the carrying amount 
of the loan, i.e., outstanding loan balance less 
allowance for credit losses computed based on PFRS 
9 provisioning requirement which takes into account 
the fair market value of the collateral, plus booked 
accrued interest less allowance for credit losses, 
plus transaction costs incurred upon acquisition. 
Maintenance and other carrying costs subsequent 
to the foreclosure or acquisition of such property are 
taken up as expenses. Realized gain on sale thereof 
is credited to income.

Consistent with BSP Circular No. 520 dated March 20, 
2006, SB Corporation adopts the following policies 
in accounting for ROPA:

a.	Land and buildings are accounted for using 
the cost model under PAS 40,

Investment Property;

b.	Other non-f inancial assets shall be accounted 
for using the cost model under PAS 16, 
Property, Plant and Equipment;

c.	Buildings and other non-f inancial assets are 
depreciated over the remaining useful life of 
the assets, which shall not exceed ten years 
and three years from the date of acquisition, 
respectively; and

d.	Land, buildings and other non-f inancial assets 
shall be subject to the impairment provisions 
of PAS 36, Impairment of Assets.

The appraisal of all investment property is made 
at least every other year to determine whether 

impairment exists. Immediate re-appraisal is 
conducted on investment property that materially 
declined in value. If the recoverable amount or 
appraised value of investment property is less than 
its carrying amount, the difference is recognized in 
the SCI as impairment loss.

An investment property, including the related 
accumulated depreciation and any impairment 
losses, is derecognized upon disposal or when it is 
permanently withdrawn from use and no future 
economic benefits are expected from its disposal. 
Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of 
an investment are recognized in profit or loss in the 
period of the retirement or disposal.

Transfers are made to or from investment property 
only when there is a change in use. For a transfer 
from investment property to the owner’s occupied 
property, the deemed cost for subsequent 
accounting is the fair value at the date of change in 
use. If the owner’s occupied property becomes an 
investment property, SB Corporation accounts for 
such property in accordance with the policy stated 
under property and equipment up to the date of 
change in use.

2.12.	Property and Equipment

SB Corporation’s property and equipment are 
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses, if any. The initial 
cost of property and equipment consists of its 
purchase price, including taxes, and any directly 
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working 
condition and intended use.

Pursuant to COA Circular Nos. 2016-006, 2017-004 
and 2022-004, dated December 29, 2016, December 
13, 2017 and May 31, 2022 respectively, a capitalization 
threshold of P50,000 is applied as the minimum 
cost of an individual asset to be recognized as 
property and equipment. Tangible items below 



the capitalization threshold are accounted for as 
inventories.

Subsequent expenditures for additions, major 
improvements and renewals are capitalized when it 
is probable that future economic benefits associated 
with the item will flow to the Corporation and the 
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other 
repairs and maintenance are charged to expense in 
the year they are incurred.

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line 
method to allocate the cost of the assets, net of 
residual value, over their estimated useful lives as 
listed below. Meanwhile, leasehold improvements 
are amortized over the shorter of the terms of the 
covering leases and the estimated useful lives of the 
improvements.

SB Corporation assesses at each reporting date 
whether there is an indication that a non-f inancial 
asset. If any such indication exists or when annual 
impairment testing for a non-f inancial asset is 
required, SB Corporation makes an estimate of 
the non-f inancial asset’s recoverable amount. 
Recoverable amount is the higher of a non-f inancial 
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use 
and is determined for an individual asset, unless the 
non-f inancial asset does not generate cash inflows 
that are largely independent of those from other or 
groups of non-f inancial assets.

When the carrying amount of a non-f inancial asset 
exceeds its recoverable amount, the non-f inancial 
asset is considered impaired and is written down 
to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 
charged against operations in the year in which it 
arises.

An impairment assessment is also made at each 
reporting date as to whether there is any indication 
that previously recognized impairment losses may no 
longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication 
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A 
previously recognized impairment loss is reversed 
only if there has been a change in estimates used to 
determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the 
last impairment loss was recognized. If that is the 
case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased 
to its recoverable amount. That increased amount 
cannot exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined, net of depreciation, had no 
impairment loss been recognized for the asset in 
prior years. Such reversal is recognized in the SCI.

For property and equipment, after such reversal, the 
depreciation expense is adjusted in future years to 
allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less 
any residual value, on a systematic basis over its 
remaining life.

2.14.	Provisions and Contingencies

Provisions are recognized when: (a) SB Corporation 
has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as 
a result of a past event; (b) it is probable that an 
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits 
will be required to settle the obligation; and (c) a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.

Provisions are measured at the estimated 
expenditure required to settle the present obligation, 
based on the most reliable evidence available at the 
end of the reporting period, including the risks and 
uncertainties associated with the present obligation. 
Where there are a number of similar obligations, 
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in 
settlement is determined by considering the class of 
obligations as a whole.

When time value of money is material, long-term 
provisions are discounted to their present values 
using a pre-tax rate that reflects market assessments 
and the risks specif ic to the obligation. The increase 
in provision due to passage of time is recognized as 
interest expense.

Where SB Corporation expects some or all of a 
provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is 
recognized as a separate asset but only when the 
reimbursement is virtually certain and at an amount 
not exceeding the related provision. The expense 
relating to any provision is presented in profit or loss, 
net of any reimbursement.

Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period and adjusted to reflect the current best 
estimate.

Contingent liabilities are not recognized but are 
disclosed in the f inancial statements unless the 
possibility of an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits is remote. Contingent assets are 
not recognized but are disclosed in the f inancial 
statements when an inflow of economic benefits is 

The carrying values of the property and equipment 
are reviewed for impairment when events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
value may not be recoverable. If any such indication 
exists and where the carrying values exceed the 
estimated recoverable amount, an impairment loss 
is recognized in the SCI.

When property and equipment are retired or 
otherwise disposed of, the cost and the  related  
accumulated  depreciation  and  impairment  losses,  
if  any,  are derecognized, and any resulting gain or 
loss (calculated as the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
asset) is included as income or loss in the SCI.

2.13.	Impairment of Non-financial Assets



probable.

2.15.	Equity

Share capital represents the nominal value of shares 
of stock that have been issued. When the shares 
are issued at a premium, the difference between 
the proceeds and par value is credited to “Share 
Premium,” net of direct costs incurred related to the 
equity issuance.

Treasury shares are stated at the cost of reacquiring 
such shares and are deducted from equity until the 
shares are cancelled, reissued or disposed of.

The total paid-in capital of SB Corporation represents 
the aggregate amount of the equity contributions 
of the NG and its instrumentalities, whether in 
cash or in kind, as mandated under RA No. 6977, as 
amended.

Retained earnings (Deficit) represent all current 
and prior period results of operations as disclosed in 
profit and loss, reduced by the amount of dividends 
required to be declared and remitted to the NG 
pursuant to the RA No. 7656, or the “Dividends Law.”

2.16.	Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is 
probable that the economic benefits will flow to 
SB Corporation and the revenue can be reliably 
measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of 
the consideration received.

PFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
establishes a f ive-step model to account for revenue 
arising from contracts with customers. The f ive-
step model follows: (i) identify the contract(s) with 
a customer; (ii) identify the performance obligations 
in the contract; (iii) determine the transaction price; 
(iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance 
obligations in the contract; (v) recognize revenue 

when (or as) the entity satisf ies a performance 
obligation.

Under PFRS 15, revenue is recognized at an amount 
that reflects the consideration to which an entity 
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring 
goods or services to a customer. The standard 
requires SB Corporation to exercise judgment, 
taking into consideration all of the relevant facts 
and circumstances when applying each step of the 
model to contracts with customers. The standard 
also specif ies the accounting for incremental costs 
of obtaining a contract and the costs directly related 
to fulf illing a contract.

The following specif ic recognition criteria, which did 
not materially change from PAS 18, Revenue, must 
also be met before revenue is recognized:

a.	Revenue Within the Scope of PFRS 15

(i)	 Fees and Commissions

Fees earned for the provision of services over 
a period of time, such as service fees, related 
processing fees and evaluation fees, are accrued 
over that period as the customer simultaneously 
receives and consumes the benefits provided by 
SB Corporation.

Fees arising from negotiating or participating 
in the negotiation of a transaction, such 
as restructuring fees, are recognized on 
completion of the underlying transaction. Fees 
or components of fees that are linked to a certain 
performance are recognized after fulf illing the 
corresponding criteria.

(ii)	Fines and Penalties

Fines and penalties are recognized only upon 
collection or accrued when there is reasonable 
degree of certainty as to its collectability.

(iii)	Other Income

Income from sale of properties is recognized 
upon completion of the earnings process and 
the collectability of the sales price is reasonably 
assured under “Gains” in the SCI.

b.	Revenue Outside the Scope of PFRS 15

(i)	 Interest Income

Interest income on f inancial instruments 
measured at amortized cost and FVOCI are 
recognized based on the EIR method of 
accounting. The EIR method is a method of 
calculating the amortized cost of a f inancial 
asset or a f inancial liability and allocating the 
interest income or interest expense over the 
relevant period.

The EIR is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash payments or receipts throughout the 
expected life of the f inancial instrument or, when 
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying 
amount of the f inancial asset or f inancial liability.

Once a f inancial asset has been written down as 
a result of an impairment loss, interest income is 
recognized thereafter using the rate of interest 
used to discount the future cash flows for the 
purpose of measuring the impairment loss.

(ii)	Recovery on Written-off Assets

Income arising from collections on accounts or 
recoveries from impairment of items previously 
written-off are recognized in the year of recovery.

(iii)	Dividend Income

Dividend income is recognized when SB 
Corporation’s right to receive the



payment is established.

Collections from accounts which did not qualify 
for revenue recognition are treated as customer’s 
deposit included as part of “Deferred Credits/
Unearned Income” (Note 17) in the SFP.

2.17.	Cost and Expense Recognition

Expenses are decreases in economic benefits during 
the year in the form of outflows or decrease of assets 
or incurrence of liabilities that result in decrease in 
equity, other than those relating to distributions to 
equity participants. Expenses encompass losses as 
well as those expenses that arise in the course of the 
ordinary activities of the entity.

Costs and expenses are recognized in profit or 
loss upon utilization of the assets or services, or 
at the date those are incurred, unless identif iable 
with a particular fund under SB Corporation’s 
administration. In such case, the expense is allocated 
to and charged against said fund.

Interest expenses are recognized in profit or loss 
using the EIR method of accounting.

2.18.	Leases

SB Corporation assesses at inception of a contract 
whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract 
is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the 
right to control the use of an identif ied asset for a 
period in exchange for consideration.

As a practical expedient and as prescribed under 
COA Circular No. 2021-009 dated October 1, 2021, 
SB Corporation does not separate non-lease 
components from lease components. Instead, the 
Corporation accounts for each lease component 
and any associated non-lease component as a single 
lease component.

As lessee, SB Corporation applies a single recognition 
and measurement approach for all leases, except 
for leases of low value assets and short-term leases, 
i.e., those leases that have a lease term of 12 months 
or less from the commencement date and do not 
contain a purchase option. At commencement date 
of the lease, SB Corporation recognizes a right-of-
use (ROU) asset and a corresponding lease liability 
on the SFP.

Lease liabilities are measured at the present value of 
lease payments to be made over the lease term. In 
calculating the present value of lease payments, SB 
Corporation uses the incremental borrowing rate at 
the lease commencement date because the interest 
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

After the commencement date, the amount of lease 
liabilities is increased to reflect the interest accretion 
and reduced for the lease payments made. The 
carrying amount of lease liabilities is accordingly 
remeasured if there is a modif ication, a change in the 
lease term or a change in the lease payments. When 
the lease liability is remeasured, the corresponding 
adjustment is reflected in the ROU asset, or profit 
and loss if the ROU asset is already reduced to zero.

ROU assets are measured at cost, less any 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, 
if any, and adjusted for any remeasurement of 
lease liabilities. The cost of ROU assets includes 
the amount of lease liabilities initially recognized, 
initial direct costs incurred, an estimate of any costs 
to dismantle and remove the asset at the end of 
the lease, and lease payments made at or before 
the commencement date less any lease incentives 
received.

SB Corporation depreciates the ROU assets based on 
the straight-line method over the shorter of the lease 
term and the estimated useful lives of the asset. The 
ROU assets are also assessed for impairment when 
any such indicators exist.

For leases of low-value assets and short-term leases, 
SB Corporation recognizes the lease payments as 
an operating expense on a straight-line basis over 
the term of the lease unless another systematic 
basis is more representative of the time pattern in 
which economic benefits from the leased asset are 
consumed.

2.19.	Income Taxes

Tax expense recognized in profit or loss comprises 
the sum of deferred tax and current tax not 
recognized in other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity, if any.

Current tax assets or liabilities comprise those claims 
from, or obligations to, f iscal authorities relating 
to the current or prior reporting period, that are 
uncollected or unpaid at the reporting date. They 
are calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws 
applicable to the f iscal periods to which they relate, 
based on the taxable profit for the year. All changes 
to current tax assets or liabilities are recognized as a 
component of tax expense in the SCI.

Deferred tax is provided, using the balance sheet 
method on temporary differences at the balance 
sheet date between the tax base of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts for f inancial 
reporting purposes. Under the balance sheet 
method, with certain exceptions, deferred tax 
liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary 
differences and deferred tax assets which are 
recognized for all deductible temporary differences 
and the carry-forward of unused tax losses and 
unused tax credits to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profit will be available against which 
the deferred income tax asset can be utilized.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is 
reviewed at the end of each reporting period 
and reduced to the extent that it is probable that 
suff icient taxable profit will be available to allow all 



or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at 
the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period 
when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, 
based on tax rates and tax laws that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 
reporting period.

Most changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are 
recognized as a component of tax expense in the 
SCI. Only changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities 
that relate to a change in value of assets or liabilities 
are charged or credited directly to equity.

2.20.	Employee Benefits

Considerations given by SB Corporation in exchange 
for services rendered by employees or for the 
termination of employment are recognized and 
measured as follows:

a.	Post-employment Defined Contribution Plan

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment 
benefit plan under which SB Corporation pays 
f ixed contributions to an independent entity. SB 
Corporation will have no legal or constructive 
obligation to pay further contributions after 
payment of the f ixed contribution. The contributions 
recognized in respect of defined contribution plans 
are expensed as they fall due. Liabilities or assets 
may be recognized if underpayment or prepayment 
has occurred.

SB Corporation maintains a defined contributory 
Provident Fund covering all regular employees. 
Contributions to the fund consist of the employees’ 
share at 5 per cent of basic salary rate and withheld 
from the monthly payroll, and the employer’s share 
at 10 per cent which is charged under “Personnel 
Benefit Contributions” (Note 24.1).

b.	Short-term Benefits

Short-term employee benefits include wages, 
salaries, bonuses, and nonmonetary benefits 
provided to current employees, which are expected 
to be settled before 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period during which employee services 
are rendered. The undiscounted amount of the 
benefits expected to be paid in respect of services 
rendered by employees in an accounting period is 
recognized in profit or loss during that period and 
any unsettled amount at the end of the reporting 
period is included as part of “Accounts Payable” 
(Note 13) in the SFP.

c.	Termination Benefits

Termination benefits are payable when 
employment is terminated by SB Corporation 
before the normal retirement date, or whenever 
an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in 
exchange for these benefits, and the payment of 
the benefit by SB Corporation is authorized by law. 
SB Corporation recognizes termination benefits at 
the earlier of: (i) when it can no longer withdraw the 
offer of such benefits; and (ii) when it recognizes 
costs for a restructuring that is within the scope of 
PAS 37 and involves the payment of termination 
benefits.

d.	Compensated Absences

Compensated absences are recognized for the 
number of paid leave days remaining at the end of 
the reporting period. They are included as “Leave 
Benefits Payable” (Note 18) in the SFP at the 
undiscounted amount that SB Corporation expects 
to pay as a result of the unused entitlement.

2.21.	 Related Party Transactions and Relationships

Related party transactions are transfers of resources, 
services or obligations between SB Corporation and 

its related parties, regardless of whether a price is 
charged.

Parties are considered to be related if one party 
has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the 
other party or exercise signif icant influence over the 
other party in making the f inancial and operating 
decisions. In considering each possible related party 
relationship, attention is directed to the substance 
of the relationship and not merely on the legal form.

Related parties include key management personnel 
who are persons having authority and responsibility 
for planning, directing and controlling the activities 
of SB Corporation, directly or indirectly, including 
any director, whether executive or otherwise, of that 
entity.

2.22.	 Foreign Currency Transactions and Translations

SB Corporation’s accounting records are maintained 
in Philippine Peso. Foreign currency transactions 
during the year, if any, are translated into the 
functional currency at exchange rates which 
approximate those prevailing on transaction dates. 
Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated to Philippine pesos at the 
prevailing closing rates at the SFP date.

Foreign currency gains and losses resulting from 
the settlement of such transactions and from the 
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognized in the SCI.

2.23.	 Events After the Reporting Period

Subsequent events that provide additional 
information about SB Corporation’s f inancial 
position at the end of the reporting date (adjusting 
events) are reflected in the f inancial statements. 
Subsequent events that are non-adjusting events, 
if any, are disclosed when material to the f inancial 



statements.

3.	SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND 
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the f inancial statements in accordance 
with PFRS requires Management to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
resources, liabilities, income and expenses and disclosure 
of contingent resources and contingent liabilities. Future 
events may occur which will cause the assumptions used 
in arriving at the estimates to change.

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and 
are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed 
to be reasonable under the circumstances. While the 
estimates are based on the most reliable data available, 
actual results, in the near term, could differ signif icantly 
from those estimates depending upon certain events 
and uncertainties including: (a) the extent to which SB 
Corporation can maximize the sale and recoveries from 
the assets it acquires as foreclosed from borrowers; and (b) 
the probability of recovery through successful lawsuits as 
appropriate against relevant parties.

3.1.	 Critical Management Judgments in Applying 
Accounting Policies

In the process of applying the Corporation’s 
accounting policies, Management has made the 
following judgments, apart from those involving 
estimation, which have the most signif icant effect on 
the amounts recognized in the f inancial statements:

a.	Classif ication of Financial Assets

SB Corporation classif ies non-derivative f inancial 
assets with f ixed or determinable payments and 
f ixed maturity as f inancial assets at amortized 
cost. Contractual cash flows are solely payment 
of principals and interest and held under a hold 
to collect model. Classif ication of f inancial assets 

requires signif icant judgment. In making this 
judgment, SB Corporation evaluates its intention 
and ability to hold such investments to maturity. 
If SB Corporation fails to keep these investments 
to maturity other than in certain specif ic 
circumstances, it will be required to reclassify the 
entire portfolio to available-for-sale investments. 
The investments would, therefore, be measured at 
fair value and not at amortized cost.

b.	Recognition of Provisions and Contingencies

Judgment is exercised by Management to distinguish 
between provisions and contingencies. Policies on 
recognition of provisions and contingencies are 
discussed in Note 2.14 and relevant disclosures 
are presented in Notes 18 and 22. In dealing with 
the Corporation’s various legal proceedings, the 
Corporation’s estimate of the probable costs that 
may arise from claims and contingencies has been 
developed in consultation and coordination with 
the Corporation’s internal and outside counsels 
acting in defense of the Corporation’s legal cases 
and are based upon the analysis of probable results. 

c.	Determination of Lease Term of Contracts with 
Renewal and Termination Options

Lease term is the noncancelable period in which 
the lessee has the right to use an underlying 
asset together with optional periods for which it 
is reasonably certain that the lessee will exercise 
the renewal option or not exercise the termination 
option or in which the exercise of those options 
is controlled by SB Corporation. To determine the 
lease term, SB Corporation f irst determines the 
length of the non-cancellable period of a lease and 
the period for which the contract is enforceable.

3.2.	 Use of Estimates

a.	Estimation of ECL on Financial Assets

The principles of recognizing ECL in identifying 
impairment was adopted in order to promote 
prudence and transparency consistent with the 
provisions under the Enhanced Standards on Credit 
Risk Management in implementing sound and 
robust credit risk measurement methodologies. 
In this respect, SB Corporation recognized credit 
impairment even before objective evidence of 
impairment becomes apparent. Past events, 
current conditions, and forecasts of future 
economic conditions in assessing impairment shall 
all be considered.

In estimating ECL, SB Corporation adopts the 
general approach for all loans
and other credit accommodations. The general 
approach involves the use of a three-stage 
approach, where the ECL estimation is based on 
quality of credit. SB Corporation estimates ECL at 
an amount equal to either a 12- month ECL (Stage 
1) or lifetime ECL (Stages 2 and 3).



The gross carrying amounts of f inancial assets as 
at December 31, 2022 and 2021 and the related 
allowances for credit losses are disclosed in Notes 
5, 6 and 7.

b.	Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets

SB Corporation reviews its deferred tax assets at 
the end of each reporting period and reduces 
the carrying amount to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that suff icient taxable profit will 
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax 
asset to be utilized. Signif icant judgment is applied 
by Management to determine the amount of 
deferred tax assets that can be recognized based 
on the likely timing and level of SB Corporation’s 
future taxable income.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets as at 
December 31, 2022 and 2021 is disclosed in Note 25.

c.	Estimation of Useful Lives of Non-Financial Assets

SB Corporation estimates the useful lives of 
property and equipment, ROU assets, investment 
properties and intangible assets based on the 
period over which the assets are expected to be 

available for use. The estimated useful lives of these 
assets are reviewed periodically and are updated if 
expectations differ from previous estimates due 
to physical wear and tear, technical or commercial 
obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use 
of the assets. The carrying amounts of investment 
properties, property and equipment, and ROU 
assets as at December 31, 2022 and 2021 are 
disclosed in Notes 10, 11 and 28.1, respectively.

d.	Estimation of Impairment Losses of Non-f inancial 
Assets

SB Corporation assesses impairment on its non-
f inancial assets whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 
of an asset may not be recoverable. The factors that 
SB Corporation considers important which could 
trigger an impairment review include (i) signif icant 
underperformance relative to expected historical 
or projected future operating results; (ii) signif icant 
changes in the manner of use of the acquired 
assets or the strategy for overall business; and (iii) 
signif icant negative industry or economic trends.

Impairment losses are recognized whenever the 
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable 
amount. Recoverable amounts are estimated for 
individual assets or, if it is not possible, for cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

The carrying amounts of non-f inancial assets 
subject to impairment as at December 31, 2022 and 
2021 are disclosed in Notes 10, 11, 12 and 28.1.

4.	RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

Risks are inherent in the business activities of SB 
Corporation as well as in the business environment in 
which it operates. Among its identif ied risks are credit risk, 
liquidity risk, market risk, operational risk and regulatory 
risk. These risks are managed through a risk management 
framework and governance structure that provides 

comprehensive controls and management of major risks 
on an on-going basis.

Risk management is the process by which SB 
Corporation identif ies its key risks, obtains consistent and 
understandable risk measures, decides which risks to take 
on or reduce and how this will be done, and establishes 
procedures for monitoring the resultant risk positions. The 
objective of risk management is to protect SB Corporation 
from events that hinder the sustainable achievement of SB 
Corporation’s performance objectives including failing to 
exploit opportunities.

SB Corporation recognizes the importance of risk 
management in ensuring its continuing overall viability. 
Management, with the oversight of the BOD, shall see to 
it that the risk management functions are implemented 
in all business units of the organization. Moreover, each 
individual within SB Corporation is expected to proactively 
manage and is accountable for the risk exposures inherent 
to their respective area.

4.1.	 Risk Management Structure

a.	Board Level
(i)	 Board of Directors. The BOD provides 

governance, guidance, and oversight to Senior 
Management, and sets and approves risk 
management policies, strategies, and framework. 

(ii)	Finance Risk Oversight Committee (formerly 
Risk Oversight Committee). This Committee is 
responsible for the identif ication and evaluation 
of exposures, development of risk management 
strategies, and implementation of the Risk 
Management Plan, including review and revision 
thereof as needed. The Committee shall meet 
with request/gather (or compel submission, in 
proper cases), receive and evaluate information 
from Management and appropriate sources, and 
act or approve proposals on items relating to 
credit, operational, compliance, market, liquidity 
and solvency risks.



(iii)	Corporate Governance Committee. This 
Committee is responsible for the following:

•	Formulate and institutionalize SB Corporation’s 
Code of Corporate Governance and Code of 
Ethics, and ensure adherence to the Codes;

•	Review from time to time the Codes and 
recommend any changes to the Board;

•	Oversee the periodic performance evaluation 
of the Board and its Committees;

•	Review regularly the organization plan 
and structure, compensation package and 
manpower plan to ensure adequacy in meeting 
the growth need of the Corporation; and

•	Review and evaluate the qualif ications of all 
persons nominated to positions requiring 
appointment by the Board.

(iv)	Audit and Compliance Committee. This 
Committee is responsible for the following:

•	Review of the quarterly, half-year and annual 
f inancial statements focusing particularly 
on the change/s in accounting policies and 
practices, major judgment areas, signif icant 
adjustment resulting to audit, going concern 
assumption, compliance with PFRS, and 
compliance with tax, legal and regulatory 
requirements;

•	Receive and review reports of internal auditor 
and regulatory agencies and ensure that 
Management is taking appropriate corrective 
actions in timely manner in addressing control 
and compliance functions with regulatory 
agencies;

•	Review interim f inancial reports with 

Management before f iling with regulators 
and consider whether they are complete and 
consistent with the information known to 
committee members;

•	Understand how Management develops 
interim f inancial information and the nature 
and extent of internal and external auditor 
involvement;

•	Consider the effectiveness of the company’s 
internal control system;

•	Understand the scope of internal and external 
auditor’s review of internal control over 
f inancial reporting and obtain reports on 
signif icant f indings and recommendations, 
together with Management’s responses;

•	Review with Management and the Chief Audit 
Off icer the charter, plans, activities, staff ing 
and organizational structure of the internal 
audit function;

•	Regularly report to the Board about committee 
activities, issues and related recommendations; 
and

•	Review and evaluate f indings and 
recommendations from completed 
compliance activities and audit, including 
Management responses and action plans.

(v)	 IT and Platformif ication Committee. This 
Committee is responsible for the following:

•	Evaluate the effectiveness of IT governance 
structure to ensure adequate Board control 
over the decisions, directions and performance 
of technology and information management:

•	Set the strategic directions for technology and 
information management and ensure that 
these are aligned with and will sustain the 

corporate vision and mission;

•	Review and monitor the implementation of 
Information Security Program to ensure the 
confidentiality, integrity, and availability of SB 
Corporation’s information resources;

•	Evaluate information Management and IT 
organizational structure, investment, use 
and allocation practices and commitment 
of resources in terms of time, personnel and 
equipment to ensure that they support the 
organization’s strategies and objectives;

•	Evaluate risk management practices to ensure 
that the organization’s IT- related risks are 
properly managed;

•	Evaluate management practices to ensure 
compliance with the organization’s IT 
strategy, policies, standards and procedures; 

•	Review the Technology and Information 
Management policies, standards, procedures 
and processes for their development, approval, 
implementation, and maintenance to ensure 
that they support the IT strategy and comply 
with regulatory and legal requirements.

(vi)	Board Committee on VC Review. This Committee 
is responsible for the following:

•	Review and endorse to the BOD for approval 
policies and procedures relating to the 
implementation of the VC Program; and

•	Review and endorse to the BOD for approval 
accounts and projects for enrollment under 
the VC Program.

b.	Management Level

(i)	 Senior Management. The Senior Management 



Team oversees the implementation and 
consistent adherence by all personnel to the 
Operational Risk Management (ORM) Framework 
approved by the BOD. In this respect, senior 
management shall:

•	Translate the BOD-approved framework into 
specif ic policies and processes covering all 
business functions of SB Corporation, including 
outsourced services and services provided 
to external parties. Policies shall include the 
following, among others:

−  Definition of operational risk and operational 
risk loss;
− Appropriate governance and oversight 
structures, reporting lines and accountabilities 
for managing operational risks;
− Clear description of risk limits and thresholds 
that correspond to the approved operation risk 
appetite and tolerance;
− Risk mitigation strategies and tools for 
maintaining risks within the thresholds and 
limits set; and
− Responsibilities for identifying, managing 
operational risk, and reporting operational 
risk events and losses within their respective 
operational/functional business or operating 
units.

•	Establish system to report, track, escalate 
and resolve issues and set the frequency 
of operational risk management reporting 
considering the level and type of risk involved; 
and

•	Establish policies, standards, and processes for 
an effective business continuity management. 

(ii)	Enterprise Risk Management Group. The ERMG, 
headed by the Chief Risk Off icer and which 
directly reports to the Board-level Finance and 
Risk Oversight Committee, shall primarily assist 

Management in meeting its responsibility 
to understand and manage operational risk 
exposures, and to ensure the development and 
consistent implementation of operational risk 
policies, processes, and procedures throughout 
SB Corporation. In this regard, the ERMG shall:

•	Recommend to the Board and Senior 
Management appropriate policies and 
procedures relating to operational risk 
management and controls;

•	Design and implement the operational risk 
assessment methodology tools and risk 
reporting system of the agency;

•	Coordinate risk management activities across 
the institution;

•	Consolidate all relevant operational risk 
information/reports to be elevated/presented 
to the board and senior management;

•	Provide operational risk management training 
and advice to business units on operational 
risk management issues; and

•	Coordinate with compliance function, internal 
audit, and external audit on operational risk 
matters.

(iii)	 Business Units and Group Heads. The Regional 
Lending Groups, Credit Investigation and 
Appraisal Unit, Legal Services Group, HRMDG, 
Administrative Services Department, Information 
Technology Group, Controllership Group, among 
others, have a dual responsibility to manage both 
the operational risks within their own functions 
as well as provide support to other departments 
for operational risk management. In this regard, 
business line management shall ensure that:

•	Internal controls and practices are consistent 

with the enterprise-wide policies and 
procedures;

•	Specif ic policies, processes, and procedures 
are adequate and effectively implemented, 
and personnel are adequate and competent;

•	Risk mitigation strategies and processes 
are established, executed, and periodically 
reviewed; and

•	Operational risk-related information such 
as loss events and incidents are adequately 
and timely communicated or coordinated 
to the ERMG for risk monitoring and 
reporting, in addition to the usual reporting 
to Senior Management and/or BOD. 

(iv)	 Compliance Group. The compliance function, 
headed by the Chief Compliance Off icer, is 
responsible for the following:

•	Conduct an independent assessment of SB 
Corporation’s compliance with relevant laws, 
rules and regulations, as well as internal 
policies of the institution, and determine areas 
that may potentially result in risk of loss due 
to inadequate or failed internal processes, 
systems, and people. The latter includes 
inappropriate conduct/behavior of personnel, 
off icers, and the board, that may lead to fraud 
or any form of business disruption; and

•	Assess whether the identif ied operational 
risk exposure by the business units or by 
the function itself shall affect the franchise 
value of the institution. In this regard, it shall 
advise and assist management in establishing 
guidance on the appropriate implementation 
of relevant laws, rules and regulations, and 
internal policies.

(v)	 Internal Audit Group (IAG). The IAG shall conduct 



an independent assessment of the operational 
risk management framework, including the 
implementation of operational risk management 
policies and procedures. The IAG is an essential 
part of the risk management system that 
takes the lead in the on-going monitoring of 
the internal control process and providing an 
independent assessment of system integrity. 
Specif ically, the IAG has the responsibility to:

•	Review outputs from risk assessments and 
assess if business units are appropriately 
following up and addressing those risk 
identif ied during the risk assessment process;

•	Conduct independent examinations and 
evaluations of risk management processes 
(policies, procedures, systems) to assess 
whether operational risks are within acceptable 
tolerance limits, including assessing the 
appropriateness of the operational risk 
identif ication, measurement, response, and 
monitoring methodology;

•	Review and assess adherence of risk 
management, risk control, and compliance 
function in relation to SB Corporation’s Risk 
Management Framework;

•	Any operational risk issue identif ied and 
reported in the audit process should be 
addressed by senior management in a timely 
and effective manner, or raised to the attention 
of the BOD, as appropriate;

•	Monitor and immediately report to the Audit 
Committee for identif ied deficiencies that 
remain uncorrected; and

•	Review and assess that existing policies and 
procedures remain relevant and adequate for 
SB Corporation’s activities.

4.2.	Risk Identification and Assessment

Risk identif ication and assessment is the 
fundamental element of an effective operational 
risk management system. It allows SB Corporation 
to better understand its risk profile and allocate 
risk management resources and strategies more 
effectively. Since the business units are expected 
to have the best knowledge of their risk exposures 
and processes, these units play a major role in the 
identif ication and assessment of operational risk.

SB Corporation uses various loss event-type 
categories as part of its risk identif ication and 
assessment processes as follows:

a.	Internal fraud – losses due to acts of a type 
intended to defraud, misappropriate property 
or circumvent regulations, the law or company 
policy, which involves at least one internal party.

b.	External fraud – losses due to acts of a type 
intended to defraud, misappropriate property or 
circumvent the law, by a third party.

c.	Employee practices and workplace safety – losses 
arising from acts inconsistent with employment, 
health or safety laws agreements from payment 
or personal injury claims, or from diversity/
discrimination events.

d.	Clients, products, and business practices – losses 
arising from an unintentional or negligent failure 
to meet a professional obligation to specif ic 
clients (including f iduciary and suitability 
requirements), or from the nature or design of a 
product.

e.	Damage to physical assets – losses arising from 
loss or damage to physical assets due to natural 
disaster or other events.

f.	 Business disruption and system failures – losses 
arising from disruption of business or system 
failures.

g.	Execution, delivery and process management 
– losses from failed transaction processing or 
process management, from relations with trade 
counterparties and vendors.

SB Corporation also identif ied the following tools 
and mechanisms to properly identify and assess its 
operational risks:

a.	Internal and external audits, and supervisory 
issues raised in the BSP Report of Examination.

b.	Internal loss data collection and analysis – 
operational loss data provides meaningful 
information for assessing exposure to operational 
risk and the effectiveness of internal controls. 
Analysis of loss events can provide insights into 
the causes of large losses and information on 
whether control failures are isolated or pervasive. 

c.	Risk self-assessments (RSA) and risk control 
self-assessments (RCSA) – RSA is a tool to 
assess processes underlying SB Corporation’s 
operations against a library of potential threats 
and vulnerabilities including their potential 
impacts. A similar approach, RCSA, typically 
evaluates inherent risk (the risk before controls 
is considered), the effectiveness of the control 
environment, and residual risk (the risk exposure 
after controls is considered).

d.	Business process mappings – helps identify 
the key steps in business processes, activities, 
and organizational functions as well as the key 
risk points in SB Corporation’s overall business 
process. It can reveal individual risks, risk inter-
dependencies, and areas of control or risk 
management weaknesses, thus, help prioritize 
subsequent management actions.

e.	Risk and performance indicators – provide an 
insight into emerging risk exposure and are 



often used with escalation triggers to warn when 
risk levels approach or exceed acceptable ranges 
and prompt mitigation plans. Key risk indicators 
are used to monitor the main drivers of exposure 
associated with key risks that contribute to early 
detection of heightened risk, ongoing monitoring 
of their movements, and preemptive reactions as 
necessary. Key performance indicators, on the 
other hand, provide insight into the status of 
operational processes, which may in turn provide 
insights into operational weaknesses, failures, 
and potential loss.

Additionally, database of at least a f ive-year 
history of accumulated operational risk losses is 
developed which is fed back into the operational risk 
management process. Apart from capturing events 
that resulted to actual loss, SB Corporation also 
gather potential loss or near-misses. Said database 
of loss events provides basis for analysis which can 
help direct corrective action to improve the control 
environment, as well as determine risk mitigating 
actions. The depth of data collection must be 
assessed which is vital in understanding the risk 
environment.

The loss event database shall at a minimum disclose 
the following: (a) risk profile and complexity; (b) short 
description of the event; (c) loss event type category; 
(d) department/unit/branch sustaining the loss; (e) 
business line classif ication; (f) date of occurrence; 
(g) date of discovery; (h) date of booking of actual 
losses; (i) actual loss amount or potential loss 
amount, if a near-miss event; ( j) amount recovered 
and date of recovery; (k) causes of the event (e.g. 
control weaknesses identif ied);
(l) consequence of the loss event (e.g., market loss, 
fees paid to counterparty, a lawsuit or damage to 
reputation); and (m) action(s) taken.

4.3.	Risk Control and Mitigation

a.	Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of f inancial loss to SB 
Corporation if a counterparty to a f inancial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations.

In view of its mandate to safeguard the interest 
of the public and contribute to the promotion of 
stability in the economy, SB Corporation
manages credit risk at all relevant levels of the 
organization. SB Corporation defines credit risk 
as the risk that the loans granted to borrowers 
and/or other f inancial institutions will not be paid 
when due, thereby causing SB Corporation to incur 
f inancial losses.

SB Corporation therefore exercises prudence in 
the grant of loans over its exposures to credit 
risk, taking into consideration the developmental 
objectives of the Corporation as mandated by 
the Magna Carta for MSMEs. This is managed 
through the implementation of the borrower risk 
rating and monitoring of loan covenants in the 
loan agreements. The borrower risk rating is being 
used, among others, as basis for determining 
credit worthiness of loan applicants. Further, SB 
Corporation mitigates such credit risks through the 
acceptance of eligible collaterals as secondary form 
of payment.

b.	Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that SB Corporation will be 
unable to meet its payment obligations when they 
fall due under normal and stress circumstances.

SB Corporation seeks to manage its liquidity 
profile to be able to f inance capital expenditures 
and service maturing debts. To cover its f inancing 
requirements, it intends to use internally generated 
funds and available short- and long-term credit 
facilities.

As part of its liquidity risk management, SB 

Corporation regularly evaluates its projected 
and actual cash flows and institutes liquidity risk 
controls. It also continuously assesses conditions in 
the f inancial markets for opportunities to pursue 
fund-raising activities, in case any requirements 
arise. Fund raising activities may include bank 
loans and capital market issues.

c.	Market Risk

Market risk is the risk to earnings or capital arising 
from adverse movements in factors that affect the 
market value of f inancial instruments, products, and 
transactions in the institution’s overall investment 
portfolio. The market risk of SB Corporation as at 
December 31, 2022 is primarily interest rate risk.

SB Corporation anticipates, measures, and 
manages its interest rate sensitivity position to 
ensure its long-run earning power, buildup of its 
investment portfolio and avoid economic losses. 
Special emphasis is placed on the change in net 
interest income/expense that will result from 
possible fluctuations in interest rates, changes in 
portfolio mix and tenor.

d.	Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from 
inadequate or failed internal processes, people 
and systems or from external events – whether 
deliberate, accidental or natural.

Cognizant that operational risk is inherent in all 
activities, products and services, and is closely tied 
to other types of risks, SB Corporation monitors 
operational risks. Toward this end, SB Corporation 
conducts an RCSA to assess inherent operational 
risks, the design and effectiveness of mitigating 
controls, and the residual risk.

ERMG validates the RCSA exercise to determine, 
among others, the completeness and 



appropriateness of the identif ied risk events and its 
potential impact to operations as well as to identify 
and understand risk triggers.

An internal loss database which can be fed back 
into the operation risk management process to 
accumulate history of operational risk losses is also 
being operationalized. This allows a quantif ied view 
of incurred risks turning them into valuable source 
of information for assessing exposure to operational 
risk and the effectiveness of internal controls.

5.	CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The account consists of the following:

6.	INVESTMENTS
This account consists of the following:

corporations invested in preferred shares and common 
shares holding 11.25 to 43.75 per cent ownership with no 
controlling interests and returns to investments through 
dividends. As at December 31, 2022 and 2021, SB Corporation 
has investments with carrying amounts in the following:

Cash on hand represents collections by the collecting 
off icers on the last working day of the year that are for 
deposit on the f irst working day of the succeeding year. 
It also includes petty cash fund which are working funds 
wherein small amounts of expenses are being disbursed.

Cash in bank pertains to deposits with government banks 
for payroll and corporate operating fund which earn interest 
at rates based on average monthly deposit balances. Cash 
in bank are unrestricted and immediately available for use 
in current operation. Interest income from bank deposits 
amounted to P519,085 and P517,967 in CYs 2022 and 2021, 
respectively.

Cash equivalents include short-term time deposits, 
treasury bills and special savings deposits maturing within 
90 days from the time of purchase with interest of 4.05 to 
6.00 per cent per annum in CY 2022, and 1.45 to 1.50 per 
cent per annum in CY 2021.

Investment securities at amortized cost consist of held to 
collect temporary investments in government securities, 
i.e., short-term treasury bills and high-yield savings account, 
f ixed rate treasury notes and retail treasury bonds, and 
Tier 2 capital notes with the Land Bank of the Philippines 
(LBP), Bureau of the Treasury (BTr) and Development Bank 
of the Philippines (DBP), respectively, which were sourced 
from funds not yet earmarked for loan releases as well 
as operating and other administrative expenses. These 
investments have maturity dates over three months from 
placement date, and earn interest ranging from 1.56 to 3.50 
per cent per annum in CY 2022 and 1.315 to 6.25 per cent 
per annum in CY 2021. Details follow:

Financial assets at FVOCI refer to unquoted and non-
marketable equity investments under SB Corporation’s 
VC Program, an equity f inancing program for SMEs which 
calls for the participation of a private sector venture or an 
equity capital company which will match the investment of 
SB Corporation in selected SME corporations. The amount 
is presented net of allowance for impairment amounting 
to P500,000 both as at December 31, 2022 and 2021. 

SB Corporation, in cooperation with various SME 

Other investments pertain to PLDT, Inc. stocks previously 
received upon application of telephone lines amounting 
to P146,500 both as at December 31, 2022 and 2021. The 
investments are subject of redemption as at even dates.

7.	RECEIVABLES

This account consists of the following:



Accounts receivable, net of allowance for impairment, 
consists of the following:

Corporation (QUEDANCOR) on June 18, 2001. Pursuant to 
Section 5 of Department of Agriculture (DA) Administrative 
Order No. 10, series of 2001, the transfer of the CALF carries 
an obligation for QUEDANCOR to answer for the liability of 
such fund, including the payment of administrative fees, in 
accordance with Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) dated 
March 1, 1999 between the DA-ACPC and the Guarantee 
Fund for Small and Medium Enterprises (GFSME and 
now SB Corporation). However, when QUEDANCOR was 
closed, its assets were put under the receivership of the 
Philippine Deposit Insurance Corporation (PDIC). To date, 
SB Corporation is still awaiting PDIC’s resolution on the 
payment of QUEDANCOR’s creditors.

For the foreign exchange claims, two Off icial Development 
Assistance (ODA) loans from the Asian Development Bank 
(ADB) and Kreditanstalt fur Wiederaufbau (KfW), were 
paid in September 2021 by SB Corporation ahead of their 
maturities. Payment of the related foreign exchange risk 
cover (FXRC) and guarantee fees to the NG were paid 
six months upfront, thus, the claim for refund for the 
unutilized portion amounting to P5.581 million.

Notes receivable refers to loans extended by SB Corporation 
to banks, other f inancing institutions and MSME direct 
borrowers at an interest rate ranging from zero to 30 per 
cent per annum for relending under its special lending 
programs for MSMEs. It consists of the following loans, net 
of allowance for impairment:

Details of the various loan programs extended by the 
SB Corporation from which the above notes receivable 
originated follow:

a.	Regular and P3 Wholesale – are available to 
qualif ied microfinance conduits which have the 
organizational capability or strength in downloading 
lending funds to eligible micro sub-borrowers with 
regulated pass-on rate. The programs aim to provide 
microenterprises an alternative source of f inancing 
that is easy to access and at a reasonable cost. 

b.	Regular Retail – aims to provide direct lending to 
registered MSMEs that are currently “unserved” 
by the banking system. It aims to bridge the 
f inancing gap for pre-bankable but viable MSMEs 
by f inancing their business needs, providing 
training, and helping them build credit track 
records and business size for future bank f inancing. 

c.	P3 Retail – loan facility for any self-employed or micro 
entrepreneurs engaged in a legitimate livelihood or 
business activity for at least a year. The loan amount 
ranges from P5,000 to P200,000 depending on the 
size of the business and the ability to pay, with an 
interest rate not exceeding 2.50 per month.

d.	Enterprise Rehabilitation Facility (ERF) – supports 

SB Corporation has a Car Plan Program for its off icers 
under a lease purchase arrangement. The amortizations 
are periodically deducted from the payroll based on the 
preferred amortization period not to exceed 10 years. Once 
an off icer resigns before the maturity of the lease purchase 
arrangement, the balance is to be deducted from all 
payables to the off icer. In the event that such payables are 
not suff icient to fully pay the amount due, the balance may 
be amortized for a maximum period of f ive years under the 
prevailing market interest rate. Outstanding receivables 
from lease purchases under the Car Plan Program at year-
end follows:

ACPC re: CALF represents the unclaimed administrative 
fees as at June 1, 2001 from ACPC for the CALF which 
was transferred to Quedan and Rural Credit Guarantee 



microbusinesses in vulnerable areas affected by 
natural or man-made calamities. It offers quick loan 
funds for immediate recovery and rehabilitation of 
microenterprises in response to such disasters.

e.	Bayanihan and P3 CARES – the facility is in response 
to the Bayanihan Act 2 and is available to MSMEs, 
cooperatives, hospitals, tourism, and OFWs impacted 
by the COVID-19 pandemic and other socio-economic 
challenges. The loanable amount ranges from 10,000 
to 5,000,000 with a grace period of up to 12 months 
and a loan term of up to 48 months.

f.	 RISE UP Program – a loan program that aims to 
sustain the gains of MSMEs that have survived the 
past two years of crisis, by providing multi-purpose 
loans (MPLs) that have soft terms and can be easily 
accessed. The RISE UP MPLs caters multi-sectoral 
MSMEs including existing SB Corporation borrowers.

g.	13th Month Pay Loan Program - aims to provide 
f inancing to enterprises that are included in the 
MSME data f ile provided by the Social Security System 
(SSS) to SB Corporation. This program is also available 
for existing CARES and non- CARES borrowers in 
good standing status. The loanable amount will be 
determined based on the number of employees with 
paid contributions, as validated by the SSS, calculated 
at P15,000 per employee, with a maximum of 40 
employees or a loanable amount limit of P600,000.

h.	Allies of Sustainability for Covid-affected Enterprises 
(ASCENT) Program – loan facility for wholesale 
lending conduits in support of their lending 
operations during the National Health Emergency. 
All accredited participating f inancial institutions with 
existing credit line with SB Corporation are eligible to 
apply provided that their past due rate prior to March 
2020 was within SB Corporation standard.

i.	 Sustainable Trade Access to Primary Food and Link 
to Enterprises (STAPLES) Program – covers all MSMEs 
involved in the supply, production, distribution, and 

retail chain of SB Corporation-accredited fast-moving 
consumer goods (FMCG) companies. The program 
aims to aid in the recovery and growth of businesses 
by providing assistance to distributors, dealers, 
and sari-sari stores, while also preserving jobs by 
keeping the gears of supply chains moving. Eligible 
loan applicants must have been participating in 
the supply chain with an SB Corporation-accredited 
FMCG company for a minimum of one year.

The periodic impairment complies with the general 
provisioning requirement of the BSP and PFRS 9. Upon 
review of the annual provisioning requirement, the booked 
provisioning is adjusted to the required provisioning for the 
year whereby either additional allowances are recognized 
or reversed in the event a decrease in provisioning 
requirement is encountered.

Interest receivable represents accrued interest receivable 
from the outstanding notes receivable and investments in 
government securities that are still to be collected at the 
end of the year.

parties amounting to P11.289 million and P17.505 million, as 
at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Other receivables include receivables totaling P3.464 
million and P595,204 as at December 31, 2022 and 
2021, respectively, relating to f inal and executory COA 
disallowances, net of settlements made by persons found 
liable thereon.

8.	INVENTORIES

This account pertains to off ice supplies inventory held for 
consumption awaiting issuance to end-users as at year-
end amounting to P271,056 and P391,964 as at December 
31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. No item of inventory was 
measured at net realizable value both as at December 31, 
2022 and 2021 nor written-off for the years then ended.

9.	NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

The composition of and movements in NCAHS and related 
accumulated impairment account are as follows:

Intra-agency receivable pertains to intra-fund receivables 
between P3 and corporate funds representing advances 
regularly monitored on a periodic basis. Details follow:

Dividends receivable refer to the cash dividends due from 
the equity investments on Epifanie Ventures, Inc. under 
the VC Program (Note 6) amounting to P850,000 both as 
at December 31, 2022 and 2021.

Sales contract receivable represents the outstanding 
receivable on ROPA sold on installment basis to third 



NCAHS consists of ROPA through foreclosure of mortgaged 
properties, dacion en pago arrangements, or rescissions 
of sales contract receivable, where the foremost objective 
is immediate disposal generally under cash or term sale 
transactions.
For internally appraised properties classif ied as NCAHS, 
the value of land was established using the Market Data 
Approach. The initial value of the land is based on the sales 
and listings of comparable properties. Adjustments were 
then applied to the gathered value of land by comparing 
the physical and occasional characteristics of the subject 
properly and the comparable properties.
On the other hand, the value of the improvements 
was arrived at using the Cost Approach. The current 
reproduction cost of the improvement or structure is f irst 
established in accordance with the prevailing market 
prices of construction materials, labor, contractors’ 
overhead, profits and fees. Adjustments are then made to 
reflect depreciation resulting from physical deterioration 
and obsolescence.

10.	INVESTMENT PROPERTY

The composition of and movements in investment 
properties and related accumulated depreciation 
and impairment account are as follows: 

improbable.
The fair value of investment properties is determined based 
on the Cost and Market Approach methods performed by 
independent appraisers and in-house appraisers. Market 
values were based on the evidence of reliable transactions 
like recent land sales and sales offering of comparable 
properties within the vicinity and the application of land 
capitalization rate. Data gathered from the property 
market were also used as bases. Adjustment factors were 
likewise considered such as the date of appraisal, size, 
location, corner/road influence, and conditions of sale.

11.	PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
The composition of and movements in property and 
equipment and related accumulated depreciation and 
impairment accounts are as follows:

SB Corporation’s  investment  properties arise from 
acquired assets from defaulted loan accounts. These are 
assets that are not available for immediate sale as the 
same include assets under litigation making its sale highly 



Others primarily consist of unserviceable properties 
covered by on-going implementation of disposal plan 
costing of P14.021 million and provided with allowance 
for impairment of P11.183 million and P10.644 million as at 
December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

13. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

This account consists of the following:

compliance to the mandatory allocation provision under 
Section 15 of RA No. 6977, as amended. Said provision 
expired in CY 2018 while the remaining promissory note 
matured in August 2022.

Interest payable represents the accrued interest expense 
on domestic and foreign borrowings as follows:

Reclassif ications in CY 2021 include the effects of the 
adoption of COA Circular No. 2022- 004 relative to the 
increase in the capitalization threshold for Property and 
Equipment from P15,000 to P50,000.

12. OTHER ASSETS

This account consists of the following:

Prepayments pertain to advance payments for rent, 
condominium dues, insurance, subscriptions, and repairs 
and maintenance of IT equipment and software. It also 
includes prepaid income tax of P6.565 million and P9.182 
million as at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Deposits pertain to non-interest bearing security and 
guarantee deposits for rental and other contractual 
obligations which are refundable upon the expiration or 
termination of the related contracts.

Accounts payable refers to acquired goods and/or services 
in the normal course of trade and business operation that 
remains unpaid as at year-end. Analyzed based on fund 
source, the account is broken down as follows:

Loans payable consists solely of the loan from the IFAD 
which is a subsidiary loan from the Republic of the 
Philippines in peso amount equivalent to 10 million Special 
Drawing Rights (SDR) to f inance the implementation of the 
Rural Micro-Enterprise Promotion Programme (RuMEPP). 
The loan has a 25-year term inclusive of an eight-year grace 
period on principal repayment, and carries an interest rate 
of 4.75 per cent per annum payable on a semi-annual basis. 
The RuMEPP was completed in December 31, 2014.

Notes payable pertains to the obligations of SB Corporation 
as at December 31, 2021 to one remaining f inancial 
institution arising from its issuance of MSME Notes in 
the nature of promissory notes deemed as alternative 

14.	INTER-AGENCY PAYABLES
This account, which comprises of obligations or liabilities 
due to other government agencies and instrumentalities, 
including NG agencies (NGAs), relating to current or prior 
period that are unpaid as at year-end, consists of the 
following:

Due to NGAs represents the balance of the Innovation Fund, 
a component of the IFAD- funded Rural Agro-industrial 
Partnership for Inclusive Development and Growth (RAPID 
Growth) Project transferred by the DTI, the Executing 
Agency. RAPID Growth is a f ive- year project which aims 
to provide strategic enabling conditions for the sustained 
growth of agriculture-based MSMEs in agricultural 
commodity value chains with backward linkages to small 
farmers and job creation effects. The transferred fund to 
SB Corporation represents the f irst-year allocation for the 
project to be implemented for equity f inancing in qualif ied 
investee SMEs operating in Mindanao.

Due to Bureau of Internal Revenue (BIR) refers to the 



Undistributed collections represent the accumulated 
inter-branch deposits made to the SB Corporation bank 
accounts which remain unidentif ied as at year-end. Proper 
applications of deposits are subsequently taken up in the 
books when identif ication and verif ication processes are 
duly satisf ied.

Dividends payable is the indicative amount of dividends 
required to be declared and paid to existing shareholders 
of SB Corporation, including the NG, pursuant to RA No. 
7656.

Other payables include the amounts payable to originating 
f inancial institutions for their share in the proceeds from 
the sale or disposal of foreclosed or acquired properties 
of SB Corporation where the former has equity. It also 
includes amount payable for terminated cases wherein the 
judgments rendered were against SB Corporation.

20.	EQUITY

various taxes withheld from the employees’ compensation 
and on certain income payments as mandated by law due 
for remittance to the BIR as at year-end.

Due to Government Service Insurance System (GSIS), Home 
Development Mutual Fund (Pag-IBIG) and PhilHealth 
(Philippine Health Insurance Corporation) pertain to SB 
Corporation’s share in contributions, as well as the amounts 
withheld from employees’ compensation as mandated 
by law representing contributions and loan amortization 
payments, due for remittance to said agencies as at year-
end.

15.	 INTRA-AGENCY PAYABLES

This account refers to intra-fund payables between P3 
and corporate funds representing advances regularly 
monitored on a periodic basis. Details follow:

18.	PROVISIONS

This account consists solely of accrued leave benefits 
aggregating P65.998 million and P67.706 million as at 
December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The amounts 
represent the accrued money value of earned vacation and 
sick leave credits of SB Corporation’s off icers and employees 
that remained unused at the end of the reporting period.

19. OTHER PAYABLES

This account consists of the following:

20.1.	Share Capital

The authorized capital stock of SB Corporation as 
provided under Section 16 of RA No. 9501 is P10.000 
billion divided into 80.000 million common shares 
and 20.000 million preferred shares with a par value 
of P100.00 per share, Prior to the amendment, the 
authorized capital stock of SB Corporation under 
RA No. 6977 was P5.000 billion. Section 16 of RA No. 
9501 provides further that the initial capital of P1.000 
billion shall be established from a pool of funds to 
be contributed in the form of equity investment 
in common stock by the LBP and the DBP in the 
amount of P200.000 million each. The SSS and 
the GSIS shall also set aside P200.000 million each 
for the SB Corporation. Moreover, the holders of 
preferred shares issued under RA No. 6977, as 
amended, have the option to convert the same into 
common shares. Additional equity funding shall 
come from trust placements of excess and unused 
funds of existing government agencies, bilateral and 
multilateral ODA funds, subscriptions from GOCCs, 
and investments of private f inancial institutions 
and corporations. Any investment from the private 
sector shall only be in the form of preferred shares.

As at December 31, 2022 and 2021, SB Corporation’s 
share capital consists of the
following:

16.	TRUST LIABILITIES

This account pertains to security deposits in the form of 
performance bonds or cash for guaranty totaling P1.608 
million and P1.371 million as at December 31, 2022 and 
2021, respectively, issued by or received from the winning 
bidders and contractors to guarantee that they will enter 
into contract with SB Corporation and/or faithfully perform 
the terms of their contracts.

17.	 DEFERRED CREDITS/UNEARNED INCOME

This account refers to unearned income from capitalized 
interest and charges of restructured loans. When an 
account becomes past due and is granted with an approved 
restructuring agreement, accrued interest is recorded with 
a corresponding set up of the liability account. Details 
follow:



On December 13, 1993, the BOD passed BR No. 
102, series of 1993, which provided the terms and 
conditions of the preferred stock, to wit: (a) with 
a f ixed annual dividend of eight per cent; (b) with 
participating rights as to dividends; (c) with voting 
rights; (d) convertible into common stocks within 
ten years from date of issue at the option of the 
holder; and (e) with redemption rights after the 
lapse of the 10 year period from date of issue at the 
option of the holder. The redemption price shall be 
based on the adjusted book value of the stock at the 
time of redemption.

On September 26, 2003, the BOD passed and 
approved BR No. 1074, series of 2003, which 
superseded BR No. 102, and ratif ied during the 10th 
Annual Stockholders Meeting on January 29, 2005. 
The approved new features of the preferred stocks 
are as follows:

a.	Preference in the payment of dividends in 
accordance with the principle of equity with 
common stockholders in the declaration and 
distribution of corporate dividends;

b.	Preference in the claim against corporate asset 
in the event of dissolution or bankruptcy;

c.	Each share of its outstanding preferred stocks 
is entitled to a vote during stockholders 
meeting;

d.	Entitled to exercise its pre-emptive right to 
increase shareholdings through the equivalent 
unissued common shares;

e.	Entitled to a Board seat in accordance with 
Section 11(d)(3) of RA No. 6977, as amended by 
RA No. 8289.

On August 5, 2019, the BOD approved under BR No. 
2019-08-2803 the transfer of all guarantee-related 
functions, programs, funds, assets and liabilities of 

SB Corporation to PHILGUARANTEE pursuant to EO 
No. 58. Total assets transferred to PHILGUARANTEE 
amounted to P37.490 million which was deducted 
from the equity contribution of the NG.

On November 10, 2020, the NG, in compliance 
with the provisions of the Bayanihan Act 2, infused 
additional capital to SB Corporation amounting 
to P8.080 billion aimed as additional funding for 
its CARES Program and other lending facilities, as 
well as interest subsidy to be extended to MSMEs, 
cooperatives, hospitals, tourism industry and OFWs 
affected by the COVID-19 pandemic and by other 
socioeconomic reversals.

20.2.	Treasury Shares

Treasury shares were acquired from the redemption 
of the 400,000 common shares of the Philippine 
National Bank paid at its par value of P100 per share, 
excluding penalty for unpaid subscriptions. Payment 
was made on December 29, 2020.

20.3.	Share Premium

The share premium relates to the additional paid 
in capital of P79.510 million both as at December 
31, 2022 and 2021 representing 10 per cent excess of 
par for shares issued by SB Corporation to the NG 
for the GFSME assets turned over to SB Corporation 
pursuant to EO No. 28 dated July 30, 2001 which 
mandated the consolidation of the GFSME and 
Small Business Guarantee Finance Corporation with 
the latter as the surviving entity.

20.4.	Retained Earnings

The ending balance of retained earnings 
is categorized as either appropriated or 
unappropriated. Appropriated retained earnings 
balance as at December 31, 2022 is P5.133 billion. 
This amount relates to the continuing lending fund 
balance of the P3 Fund and an appropriation for 
stock dividends declared in CY 2005 still for issuance 
to SSS. On the other hand, unappropriated retained 
earnings consist of the accumulated net operating 
income (losses) in prior years. Details follow:

As a GOCC, the Corporation is mandated under 
Section 3 of RA No. 7656 to declare and remit at least 
50 per cent of its annual net earnings as cash, stock 
or property dividends to the NG. For this purpose, 
net earnings is defined as income derived from 
whatever source, whether exempt or subject to tax, 
net of deductions allowed under Section 29 of the 
National Internal Revenue Code, as amended, and 
income tax and other taxes paid thereon. However, 
under Section 12 of RA No. 6977, as amended, SB 
Corporation may only declare as dividend not more 
than 30 per cent of its net income and the rest 
withheld as retained earnings.

21.	 RESTATEMENTS AND PRIOR PERIOD ERRORS

Below are the relevant analyses of the effects of the 
restatements on assets, liabilities and equity components 
of the Corporation’s f inancial statements. Signif icant 
restatements include changes in accounting policies on or 
correction of errors in accounting for leases, capitalization 
threshold for property and equipment, short-term 
compensated absences and charges qualifying as direct 
origination costs.



Notably, there is a pending criminal complaint for violation 
of Batas Pambansa Bilang 22 against one borrower which 
if resolved positively in favor of SB Corporation will result to 
a possible recovery of P19.600 million.

23.	REVENUE

23.1.	Service and Business Income

As a GOCC primarily mandated to provide, among 
others, f inancing to the MSME sector, income 
generation is mostly derived from its lending 
operation, which includes both service and business 
income. Details follow:

income from acquired assets amounting to P867,377 
and P1.450 million in CYs 2022 and 2021, respectively.

24.	EXPENSES

24.1.	Personnel Services

22.	COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

In the normal course of operations of SB Corporation, there 
are various outstanding commitments and contingent 
liabilities such as tax assessments, claims from customers 
and third parties, among others, with amounts not 
reflected in the f inancial statements. Management does 
not anticipate losses from these transactions that will 
adversely affect SB Corporation’s operations.

In the opinion of Management, the suits and claims arising 
from the normal course of operations of SB Corporation 
that remain unsettled, if decided adversely, will not involve 
sums that would have material effect on SB Corporation’s 
f inancial position or operating results.

Signif icant increase in interest income is attributable 
to substantially higher level of investments as well 
as loan releases in CY 2022 as compared to the 
immediately preceding year.

23.2.	 Gains

23.3.	 Other Non-Operating Income

This account includes miscellaneous income and 

Signif icant decrease in personnel services is 
attributable to the adoption of Memorandum Circular 
No. 3 dated July 28, 2022 of the President of the 
Philippines which prohibited SB Corporation from 
entering into new contracts or projects or disburse 
extraordinary funds until such time that new sets 
of appointive directors have been appointed and 
chief executive off icer elected in accordance with its 
Charter.

24.2. Maintenanceand Other Operating 
Expenses(MOOE)



Signif icant decrease in MOOE is likewise attributable 
to the adoption of Memorandum Circular No. 3 dated 
July 28, 2022 of the President of the Philippines which 
limited actual utilization of relevant budgets.

24.3. Financial Expenses 

Signif icant decreases in interest expense and guarantee 
fees is the result of the full payment in September 2021 
of the ODA loans from ADB and KfW ahead of their 
maturities. On the other hand, other f inancial charges 
include payments for the services of collection agencies 
commissioned to recover from fully provisioned loan 
accounts.

24.4. Non-cash Expenses

SB Corporation strives to promptly recognize, identify 
deteriorating credit exposures and determine 
appropriate ECL at all times. The loan classif ication 
and provisioning aim to adopt both quantitative 
and qualitative factors in the determination of SB 
Corp’s credit exposure, risk quality and consequently, 
the level of ECL to be allocated to individual 
accounts. Considering however the ongoing system 
enhancements, the ECL derived is based generally 
on quantitative factors, specif ically the aging of the 
accounts.

Signif icant increase in impairment losses on loans 
and receivables is primarily driven by past due 
amounts. Past due amounts increased by 73 per 
cent to P3.800 billion in CY 2022 from P2.190 billion 
in CY 2021. Past due amounts are primarily driven 
by corporate-funded portfolio under the CARES 
Program. Undistributed collections and unapplied 
payments due to on-going enhancement of the 
application payment system likewise contributed 
signif icantly to the increased ECL requirement since 
the affected accounts are still tagged as past due in 
status. Further, restructured, manually reconciled 
and other adjustments made at the Regional Lending 
Group level have yet to be captured by the on-going 
system enhancement.

No unrealized losses due to foreign exchange 
translation and valuation of derivatives were incurred 
in CY 2022 due to the prepayment of SB Corporation’s 
two ODA loans during the year.

25.	INCOME TAXES

25.1.	Income Tax Expense (Benefit)

The components of income tax expense (benefit) as 
reported in profit or loss in the SCI are as follows:

25.2.	 Regular Corporate Income Tax (RCIT) 
Computation



25.3.	 Minimum Corporate Income Tax (MCIT) 
Computation

25.4.	Deferred Income Tax Benefit

The deferred income tax benefit recognized in the 
SCI for the year ended December 31, 2022 relate to 
the following:

25.7.	 Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities

The deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities 
recognized in the SFP as at December 31, 2022 and 
2021 relate to the following:

25.5.	 Net Operating Loss Carry-over

Details of the NOLCO, which can be claimed as a 
deduction from future taxable income within f ive 
years from the year the taxable loss was incurred are 
as follows:

25.6.	 Minimum Corporate Income Tax (MCIT)

Breakdown of the excess MCIT over RCIT with the 
corresponding validity periods follows:

26.	SUBSIDY FROM NATIONAL GOVERNMENT

Subsidy from the NG solely pertains to the funds received 
for the P3 Program, the Duterte Administration’s 
flagship program aimed at providing economic and 
employment opportunities through the encouragement 
of entrepreneurship. The program aims to provide 
microenterprises with an alternative source of f inancing 
that is easy to access and at a reasonable cost to boost the 
development of entrepreneurship in the MSME sector.

CY 2022 is P3 Program’s sixth year of operation. P3 funding 
for CY 2022 is included as a Tier 1 funding of P2.000 billion. 
The mobilization fund for the year was at P100.0 million. 
From CYs 2017 to 2022, total subsidy received for the P3 
Program totaled P8.000 billion.

Presented below is the two-year comparative fund balance 
with breakdown of expenses incurred for the program 
implementation:



The fund balance at year-end forms part of the appropriated 
retained earnings to ensure continuous delivery of activities 
under the P3 Program.

27.	EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

27.1.	Provident Fund

a.	Legal Basis

The creation of the Provident Fund was authorized 
by the BOD under BR No. 396, series of 1997, as 
amended by the DBM in its Letter dated March 13, 
2003. This is consistent with Section 11-A(f) of RA No. 
6977, as amended.

b.	Eligibility

All full-time employees of the SB Corporation 
occupying plantilla positions who have rendered 
at least six months of continuous services with SB 
Corporation as plantilla personnel shall automatically 
be eligible for membership in the fund.

c.	Fund Implementation

The Provident Fund is a defined contribution plan 

made by both the SB Corporation and its off icers 
and employees. The affairs and business of the fund 
are directed, managed, and administered by its own 
Board of Trustees. Each member shall authorize SB 
Corporation to deduct and withhold at the end of 
each month 5 per cent of his basic monthly salary 
as his contribution to the Fund. SB Corporation, on 
the other hand, shall pay to the Fund a counterpart 
monthly contribution equivalent to 10 per cent of 
each member’s basic monthly salary.

Upon retirement, death or resignation, the employee 
or his heirs will receive from the fund payments 
equivalent to his contributions, his proportionate 
share of the corporate contributions and investment 
earnings thereon.

27.2.	 Retirement Benefits

Retirement benefits are available to qualif ied 
employees under any one of the following laws:

28.	LEASES

SB Corporation leases the premises, which serve as its 
extension off ices, including parking spaces, in the cities of 
Cebu, Davao, Baguio and other desk off ices in the different 
regions of the country and has the option to renew such 
leases under certain terms and conditions. With the 
exception of short-term leases and leases of low-value 
underlying assets, each lease is reflected on the SFP as 
ROU asset and a lease liability.

Leases are either non-cancellable or may only be cancelled 
by incurring a substantive termination fee. Lease term 
ranges from 2 to 3 years, which generally contains an 
option to extend the lease for a further term subject to 
mutual agreement with an escalation rate of 5 to 10 per 
cent per annum.

28.1.	ROU Asset

The movements in the ROU asset, including the 
related accumulated depreciation and impairment 
accounts, are as follows:

27.3.	 Terminal Leave Benefits

This represents the cash value of the accumulated 
vacation and sick leave credits of employees, 50 per 
cent of which can be monetized.

The ROU asset was recognized at an average 
discount rate of 1.9712 to 2.5327 per cent, and is 
depreciated over the lease term.

28.2. Lease Liability

The movements in lease liability are as follows:



The weighted average incremental borrowing rate 
applied by SB Corporation to the lease liability is 
2.2595 per cent. Lease payments are made on a 
monthly basis.

28.3. Lease Payments Not Recognized as Liabilities

Payments made under short-term leases and leases 
on low-value underlying assets are expensed on a 
straight-line basis. The expenses relating to short-
term leases amounted to P3.471 million and P4.963 
million for CYs 2022 and 2021, respectively.

29.	RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

29.1.	 Key Management Personnel and Compensation

The key management personnel of SB Corporation 
are the President and CEO, the Executive Vice 
President, the Sector Managers, various Group 
Managers, and the Managers/Corporate Executive 
Off icers of the operating and support groups. 
Compensation of the key management personnel 
totaled P41.729 million in CY 2022.

29.2.	 BOD Composition and Compensation

As at December 31, 2022, the composition of the 
BOD of SB Corporation is as follows:

The total remuneration received by the appointive 
members of the BOD amounted to P3.200 million 
and P2.103 million for CYs 2022 and CY 2021, 
respectively.

30.	SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION REQUIRED BY THE 
BUREAU OF INTERNAL REVENUE

Presented in the succeeding pages is the supplementary 
information required by the BIR under Revenue 
Regulation (RR) No. 15-2010 dated November 25, 2010 
to be disclosed as part of the notes to the f inancial 
statements. This supplementary information on taxes, 
duties and license fees paid or accrued during the 
taxable year is not a required disclosure under PFRSs. 

30.1.	 Withholding Taxes 

These taxes, except for taxes on compensation and 
benefits, were remitted in the SB Corporation’s capacity 
as withholding agent pursuant to RR No. 17-2003 as 
amended by RR No. 14-2008.

30.2.	Other Taxes

Documentary stamp taxes is composed of the 
following:

30.3.	Tax Cases and Assessments

BIR issued a Termination Letter dated June 30, 
2022 for CY 2016 Letter of Authority No. 050-2018-
00000202 dated September 13, 2018. The Final 
Assessment Notice of the BIR related to the said 
assessment amounted to P124.000 million.

After BIR granted the request for reinvestigation, 
the reconciliation resulted to the payment of the 
following tax deficiencies for CY 2016 to close said 
case:



SB Corporation has also made payment of tax deficiencies 
for CY 2019 Letter of Authority No. 050-2021-00000047 
dated February 3, 2021, to wit: 











North Luzon Group

Province P3/SB Office Address Contact Person E-mail Address

ABRA DTI Provincial Office Goldland Hotel 
Rizal Street Zone 7 Bangued, Abra

Ola, Darsie O. - P3 Provincial 
Coordinator

dola@sbcorp.gov.ph

APAYAO DTI-Apayao, San Isidro Sur, Luna, Apayao Pangdan, Jessa Lyka D. - P3 
Provincial Coordinator

jpangdan@sbcorp.gov.ph

BAGUIO CITY
2nd Floor ES Clemente Building, Shanum 
Street, corner Otek Street, Lake Drive 
Burnham Park, Baguio City

BENGUET
2nd Floor ES Clemente Building, Shanum 
Street, corner Otek Street, Lake Drive 
Burnham Park, Baguio City

IFUGAO 3rd Floor, Buhong Bldg., Yakal St., Pob. East, 
Lagawe

Biyo, Geraldine L. - Provincial 
Coordinator

gbiyo@sbcorp.gov.ph

KALINGA DTI, 2-3F Lua Annex Bldg., Poblacion, Tabuk 
City, Kalinga

Dacanay, Jeda Mae C.- P3 
Provincial Coordinator

jdacanay@sbcorp.gov.ph

MT. PROVINCE DTI-2F Walter Clapp Centrum, Loc-ong 
Poblacion, Bontoc, Mt. Province

LA UNION AJ Realty Bldg., DTI Provincial Office, 
Madayegdeg, San Fernando, La Union

Miranda, Ruel B.  - P3 Provincial 
Coordinator

rmiranda@sbcorp.gov.ph

ILOCOS NORTE
DTI-Office, Jomel Bldg., Siazon Rd., cor. 
Samonte St., Barangay 14, Laoag City, 2900 
Ilocos Norte

Mirasol, Kareen J. P3 Provincial 
Coordinator kmirasol@sbcorp.gov.ph

ILOCOS SUR DTI-Judy Chiu Bldg. Mabini St., Barangay 1, 
Poblacion, Vigan City, Ilocos Sur

Torres, Jennifer A. - P3 Provincial 
Coordinator

jtorres@sbcorp.gov.ph

PANGASINAN DTI-Dagupan 2nd Flr. Star Bldg., Arellano, 
Dagupan City

Manolito Casingal- Pangasinan 
Desk officer

mcasingal@sbcorp.gov.ph

BATANES DTI Building Sitio Sayad, National Road, 
Brgy Kaychanarianan, Basco, Batanes

Blanca, Syra B. - P3 Provincial 
Coordinator

sblanca@sbcorp.gov.ph



Province P3/SB Office Address Contact Person E-mail Address

CAGAYAN DTI-Regional Office 2, Reg. Gov’t Center 
Carig Sur, Tuguegarao City, Cagayan

Bunagan, Kim Lester T. - P3 
Provincial Coordinator

kbunagan@sbcorp.gov.ph

ISABELA DTI, NEGOSYO CENTER 4 Lanes, Santiago 
City, Isabela

James, Christian R. - P3 CI/
Monitoring Staff

cjames@sbcorp.gov.ph

ISABELA Negosyo Center- City of Ilagan. San Vicente , 
City of Ilagan, Isabela

Cortez, Cherry S.- P3 Provincial 
Coordiantor

ccortez@sbcorp.gov.ph

NUEVA VIZCAYA
DTI-GF Rosalina L. Lo Bldg., National 
Highway, Sta. Rosa Bayombong, Nueva 
Vizcaya

Pimentel, Lovely L- P3 Provincial 
Coordinator lpimentel@sbcorp.gov.ph

QUIRINO Purok 1 Cayetano Arellano St., Andres Boni-
facio, Diffun, Quirino

Gudoy, Kristel Jane - P3 Provin-
cial Coordinator kgudoy@sbcorp.gov.ph

AURORA
Negosyo Center- DTI Aurora Provincial Of-
fice, Quezon Highway, Brgy. Suclayin, Baler, 
Aurora

Asilo, Mary Ann - P3 Provincial 
Coordinator masilo@sbcorp.gov.ph

BATAAN DTI Negosyo Center Hermosa, Burgos Soli-
man St., Hermosa, Bataan 

Cruz, Kathrina Q. -P3 Provincial 
Coordinator kcruz@sbcorp.gov.ph

BULACAN DTI HTJRP Building, Mcarthur hiway, Suma-
pang matanda, Malolos Bulacan.

Roxas, Ruth Ann M. -P3 Provin-
cial Coordinator rroxas@sbcorp.gov.ph

BULACAN Municipal Hall, Sampaloc, San Rafael, Bula-
can (Negosyo Center

Sarmiento, Jamille S. - P3 Provin-
cial Coordinator jsarmiento@sbcorp.gov.ph

NUEVA ECIJA
3RD FLOOR GOVERNMENT SERVICE EX-
PRESS DTI NEGOSYO CENTER SM CABA-
NATUAN CITY

Dalangin, Grace D. - P3 Provin-
cial Coordinator gdalangin@sbcorp.gov.ph

NUEVA ECIJA OTOP Bldg- Negosyo Center, Brgy F.E. Mar-
cos, San Jose, Nueva Ecija

Manibog, Ceshazel S. - P3 Pro-
vincial Coordinator cmanibog@sbcorp.gov.ph

PAMPANGA 2/F SBC Building, Vivencio Cuyugan Rd., 
City of San Fernando, Pampanga

Hazel Anne Maniacup- Account 
Assistant hmaniacup@sbcorp.gov.ph

TARLAC 5th Floor Capitol Center Building, Macabu-
los Drive, Tarlac City

Feliciano, Rafael Benito F. - Pro-
vincial P3 Coordinator rfeliciano@sbcorp.gov.ph

ZAMBALES DTI ZAMBALES (Satellite Office) Estrada 
Bldg. RMTU Road, Zone VI, Iba , Zambales

Salamatin, Erson D. - Provincial 
P3 Coordinator esalamatin@sbcorp.gov.ph



South Luzon Group

NO PROVINCE OFFICE ADDRESS NAME OFFICE CONTACT NO./ E-MAIL

1 NCR SB Corporation Head Office, 19th Floor, 
139 Corporate Center, Valero St., Makati 
City

Novy Rose Umali 
Mc Lloyd Lamar 
Kevin Bedar

numali@sbcorp.gov.ph 
mlamar@sbcorp.gov.ph 
kbedar@sbcorp.gov.ph

2 BATANGAS C/O DTI Batangas Desk Office NACIDA 
Building B, Morada Ave. Lipa City, 
Batangas

William B. Makalintal 
Marichu De Villa

wmakalintal@sbcorp.gov.ph 
mdevilla@sbcorp.gov.ph

3 CAM NORTE DTI Camarines Norte Provincial Office 
Merchant Avenue, Central Plaza 
Complex, Brgy. Lag-on, Daet, Camarines 
Norte, Region V

Christian Arvin T. Manalo ctmanalo@sbcorp.gov.ph

4 CATANDUANES  DTI - Catanduanes Provincial Office: 
Catanduanes State University 
Compound, Calatagan, Virac, 
Catanduanes.

5 CAVITE DTI - 2nd floor Business Center Building 
III Daang Amaya 1, 4108, Tanza Cavite

Jean Camille Duran jduran@sbcorp.gov.ph

6 LAGUNA DTI Varimco Building, Brgy. Banca-Banca 
Victoria, Laguna

Rona A. Angulo 
Benson Sarabia Jr.                                                                         

rangulo@sbcorp.gov.ph        bsarabia@sbcorp.gov.ph

7 LEGASPI DTI Albay Provincial Office 
3rd Floor DBP Building. Quezon Ave. 
Ext. Brgy. Dinagaan Legazpi City 4500 
Philippines

John Michael Eubion jeubion@sbcorp.gov.ph

8 MARINDUQUE DTI-Provincial Office, JMP Realty 
Building, Pamintuan St, Isok1, Boac, 
Marinduque

Renmar R. Cesista rcesista@sbcorp.gov.ph

9 MASBATE DTI Masbate Provincial Office Capitol 
Drive, Masbate City

Renariza Tumblod-Colon rtumblod@sbcorp.gov.ph 



NO PROVINCE OFFICE ADDRESS NAME OFFICE CONTACT NO./ E-MAIL

10 NAGA Unit 204, 2nd Flr. One Magsaysay 
Corporate Center Magsaysay Avenue, 
Concepcion Pequena, Naga City

Karla D. Florendo 
Dave Andrew Clavo

kdevilla@sbcorp.gov.ph      dclavo@sbcorp.gov.ph

11 OCCIDENTAL MINDORO DTI Provincial Office Negosyo Center 
Brgy. Poblacion 7, Municipal Compd., San 
Jose, Occidental Mindoro East Calapan 
City

Noli Lucero nlucero@sbcorp.gov.ph

12 ORIENTAL MINDORO DTI Provincial Office, Uy, Bldg. Brgy. 
Lumangbayan, Calapan City, Oriental 
Mindoro

Ronnie Delgado rdelgado@sbcorp.gov.ph

13 PALAWAN DTI Provincial Office , 4th Flr. ERC Plaza, 
National Highway, Brgy. San Pedro 
Puerto Princesa City

Marcelino M. Dile                                               
Ronald Gelbaliga

mdile@sbcorp.gov.ph     rgelbaliga@sbcorp.gov.ph

14 QUEZON DTI Ground Flr. Lucena Grand Terminal 
Diversion Road, Brgy. Ilayang Dupay, 
Lucena City

Kevin T. Laroza                                            
Edward Orge 
Erika Maroon

klaroza@sbcorp.gov.ph       eorge@sbcorp.gov.ph 
emaroon@sbcorp.gov.ph

15 RIZAL DTI Rizal Provincial Office 2nd Flr. Altica 
Arcade #83 Circumferential Road, Cor., 
Sto. Nino Street, San Jose Antipolo City, 
Rizal

Francis Daniel C. Rebollado                
Rolando S. Doringo

frebollado@sbcorp.gov.ph     rdoringo@sbcorp.gov.ph

16 ROMBLON Tourism Building, Barangay Tabin-Dagat, 
Odiongan, Romblon

17 SORSOGON DTI Sorsogon Office 2nd Floor, Clemente 
Bldg. Piot, Sorsogon City

Naliza e. Dio 
Karen Frayna

ndio@sbcorp.gov.ph 
kfrayna@sbcorp.gov.ph



Visayas Group

PROVINCE OFFICE ADDRESS NAME OFFICE CONTACT NO./E-MAIL

Cebu Unit-A 6th Floor, 2QUAD Bldg., Cardinal Rosales 
Avenue, Cebu Business Park, Cebu City

Larry Ancero lancero@sbcorp.gov.ph

Cebu Unit-A 6th Floor, 2QUAD Bldg., Cardinal Rosales 
Avenue, Cebu Business Park, Cebu City

Zunel Ricote zricote@sbcorp.gov.ph

Aklan DTI-Aklan, JSM Building, 
Veterans Avenue, Kalibo Aklan

Jecyl Bantigue jbantigue@sbcorp.gov.ph

Antique 2nd Floor Business Park, Governor Villavert Street, 
San Jose, Antique

Gabriel Ebanen gebanen@sbcorp.gov.ph

Capiz DTI Provincial Office Sacred Heart of Jesus 
Avenue, Pueblo de Panay, Brgy. Lawa-an, Roxas 
City, Capiz

Mark Paul Serran mserran@sbcorp.gov.ph

Capiz Negosyo Center, Poblacion Norte, Sigma, Capiz Leomar Maza lmaza@sbcorp.gov.ph

Guimaras DTI Provincial Office 
2nd Floor Mavikss Bldg. ,New Site San Miguel, 
Jordan, Guimaras

Joyce  Gedalanga jminierva@sbcorp.gov.ph

Iloilo DTI Region 6, corner J.M Basa-Peralta St.,Iloilo 
Cityalta St.,Iloilo City

Wilfe Jimoga-on wjimogaon@sbcorp.gov.ph

Negros Occidental DTI Provincial Office,2nd Floor East 2 Corp. Center 
corner Diola Circumferencial Rd.,Brgy. Villamonte, 
Bacolod City, Negros Occidental 

Riah Molavin rmolavin@sbcorp.gov.ph

Bohol DTI Bohol Province Office 
2nd Floor,FCB Bldg, Carlos P. Garcia Ave., 
Tagbilaran City, Bohol

Maryjulove Salpocial msalpocial@sbcorp.gov.ph

Negros Oriental 2nd Floor Uymatiao Bldg., San Jose Street, 
Dumaguete City , Negros Oriental

Benedict Ortega bortega@sbcorp.gov.ph

Siquijor Negosyo Center Portside Area, 
North Poblacion, Larena, Siquijor

Jenette Largo jlargo@sbcorp.gov.ph



Biliran DTI - Provincial Office, 2nd Floor 
JAC Bldg. Caneja Street, Naval, Biliran

Jackielyn Pelayo jpelayo@sbcorp.gov.ph

E. Samar DTI-Provincial office,Wheeler’s Bldg., Baybay 
5,Brgy. Songco, Borongan City,Eastern Samar

Ma. Joy Abobo mabobo@sbcorp.gov.ph

Leyte DTI 8, Regional Office (new bldg), Pawing, Palo, 
Leyte

Antonio Elmer Garado agarado@sbcorp.gov.ph

N. Samar DTI NSPO 2nd Floor Luisa Angley Blg. Barangay 
Sampaguita, Catarman, Northern Samar

Sharniel Rongcales srongcales@sbcorp.gov.ph

So. Leyte Negosyo Center Sogod, LGU Sogod, Southern 
Leyte

Athur-lito Inot ainot@sbcorp.gov.ph

Samar DTI Provincial Office 
Del Rosario Extension Poblacion 1 
Catbalogan City, Samar

John Sandro Cabiltes jcabiltes@sbcorp.gov.ph


